

LUND UNIVERSITY

Fibromodulin and Dystrophin in Atherosclerosis: Novel roles for extracellular matrix in plaque development

Shami, Annelie

2014

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA):

Shami, A. (2014). Fibromodulin and Dystrophin in Atherosclerosis: Novel roles for extracellular matrix in plaque development. Department of Experimental Medical Science, Lund Univeristy.

Total number of authors: 1

General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

or research.

- You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
 You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

PO Box 117 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00

Fibromodulin and Dystrophin in Atherosclerosis

Novel roles for extracellular matrix in plaque development

Annelie Shami



DOCTORAL DISSERTATION by due permission of the Faculty of Medicine, Lund University, Sweden.

To be defended in the lecture hall 'Segerfalkssalen" at the Biomedical Center (BMC), Sölvegatan 19, Lund on January 31st 2014, at 13:00.

Faculty opponent

Professor Andrew Newby Bristol Heart Institute, University of Bristol, Bristol Royal Infirmary,UK

Organization	Document name
LUND UNIVERSITY	DOCTORAL DISSERTATION
Department of Experimental Medical Science	Date of issue 2014-01-31
Author(s) Annelie Shami	Sponsoring organization

Title and subtitle Fibromodulin and Dystrophin in Atherosclerosis; Novel roles for ECM in plaque development

Abstract

Cardiovascular disease represents nearly half the cases of noncommunicable diseases worldwide and is the leading global cause of death. The main underlying cause is atherosclerosis, and in atherosclerotic plaque progression the structure, composition and integrity of a dynamic extracellular matrix (ECM) is one very important factor. This thesis discusses the importance of the connection between the ECM and cells for atherosclerotic lesion development. It also tests the hypothesis that changes in this connection – whether through a modified collagenous ECM, or modification in a cellular protein directly linking cells to ECM components – have a significant impact on atherosclerotic plaque structure and stability.

Fibromodulin is a small leucine-rich repeat proteoglycan of the ECM involved in the regulation of collagen fiber synthesis. In the fibrous murine atherosclerotic plaque, we found collagen fibrils synthesized in the absence of fibromodulin to be thicker and more heterogeneous, compared to fibrils generated in the control mouse. Murine plaques with an inflammatory phenotype, with a fibromodulin-deficient ECM, were also smaller with decreased lipid accumulation, whereas cell proliferation was increased. In addition, we show, for the first time, that high fibromodulin expression in the most stenotic region of a human carotid artery plaque is found in plaques from symptomatic patients, and in patients with diabetes. Fibromodulin expressed in human plaques co-localize with Oil Red O-staining and correlates with the area stained for lipids (quantified as percentage). Fibromodulin also correlates with the pro-inflammatory cytokines MIP-1β and sCD40L, as well as with VEGF and inversely with the anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10.

Dystrophin, and the dystrophin-glycoprotein complex (DGC), link the actin cytoskeleton to the basement membrane. This thesis provides novel data on dystrophin deficiency, as illustrated by the mdx mouse. The absence of dystrophin stimulates neointimal hyperplasia, but inhibits atherosclerotic lesion development driven by lipidretention. In the mdx-mouse, laminin expression is decreased in the endothelium of atherosclerotic lesions with an inflammatory phenotype, suggesting that altered endothelial cell function and an abnormal basement membrane may be a possible explanation for the attenuated plaque development.

In summary, this thesis shows that collagen structure and remodeling affects the growth, development and composition of atherosclerotic lesions, on the one hand promoting mechanical stability, and on the other hand affecting lipid accumulation and inflammation. In addition, growth of vascular lesions can be inhibited or promoted by a functional connection between cells and the ECM mediated by dystrophin and the DGC.

Key words: Atherosclerosis, Fibromodulin, Dystrophin, Carotid artery, Lipid accumulation, Restenosis, Plaque

Classification system and/or index terms (if any)

Supplementary bibliographical information

Language English

ISSN 1652-8220, Lund University, Faculty of Medicine Doctoral Dissertation Series 2014:10		ISBN 978-91-87651-33-5
Recipient's notes	Number of pages	Price
	Security classification	

I, the undersigned, being the copyright owner of the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation, hereby grant to all reference sourcespermission to publish and disseminate the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation.

Signature _____Date _____

Fibromodulin and dystrophin in atherosclerosis

Novel roles for extracellular matrix in plaque development

Annelie Shami



Copyright © Annelie Shami

Vessel Wall Biology, Dept. of Experimental Medical Science, Faculty of Medicine, Lund University

Lund University, Faculty of Medicine Doctoral Dissertation Series 2014:10 ISBN 978-91-87651-33-5 ISSN 1652-8220

Tryckt i Sverige av Media-Tryck, Lunds universitet Lund 2013



For my family

"What I find fantastic is the notion that there are answers beyond the realm of science. The answers are there, you just have to know where to look."

Dana Scully ("Pilot", The X-files)

Table of contents

Table of contents	7
Concerning extracellular matrix	5
Introduction	5
Original papers	7
Abbreviations	9
Background	11
Atherosclerosis	11
The healthy artery	12
Theories on atherogenesis	12
Changes in arteries preceding plaque development	13
The atherosclerotic plaque	15
Plaque rupture	16
Lipids and cholesterol – are eggs the bane of our existence?	18
Cells of the atherosclerotic plaque	20
The extracellular matrix in atherosclerotic plaques	22
The mouse as a model for atherosclerosis	28
ApoE-deficient mice	29
Other mouse models	30
Mouse models and plaque rupture	31
Limitations	31
A broader look at extracellular matrix	32
Collagen	32
Basement membranes	36
"The puppet master" – the ECM controls cell behavior	39
SLRPs	40
Fibromodulin	41
The general characteristics of fibromodulin	41
Collagen binding and fibrillogenesis	43
Other effects of fibromodulin	46
Fibromodulin and pathologies	47
Dystrophin: Connecting the cell to the extracellular matrix	49

The dystrophin-glycoprotein complex Mice deficient in DGC components Dystrophin in blood vessels	51 52 53
Main methods	55
Smooth muscle cell isolation and ECM production in vitro	55
Injury-inducing casts and lesion formation	56
Murine tissues	58
Human tissues: The Carotid Plaque Imaging Project	59
Results of the present studies	61
Aims	61
Paper I	62
Paper II	63
Paper III	65
Paper IV	66
Discussion69Collagen fibril integrity and atherosclerosis69Does fibromodulin function directly or by proxy?70The influence of fibromodulin on collagen synthesis in atherogenesis71Dystrophin and contact between cells and basement membranes72Does the novel function for dystrophin in vascular lesion formationhave an impact in DMD patients?74ECM alterations through dystrophin and fibromodulin – do the results74Strengths and limitations75	
Conclusions	77
Concluding remarks and future perspectives	79
Summary in Swedish Fibromodulin och dystrofin i ateroskleros; en populärvetensk sammanfattning	81 aplig 81
Acknowledgements	87
References	89

Concerning extracellular matrix

Introduction

All stages of atherosclerotic plaque progression are governed by the structure, composition and integrity of a dynamic extracellular matrix – from the initial retention of lipids, through plaque growth and inflammation to the final disruption with development of symptoms.

In one individual, atherosclerotic plaques may be present at many different locations, in several vessels. The question is why a certain plaque suddenly ruptures. From a clinical perspective, we wonder: How are these plaques identified in the patients before rupture? From a pre-clinical perspective, we rather ask: How can we direct plaque growth to slow down, or at least stick to a more stable phenotype?

This thesis is based on the hypothesis that the future propensity of a plaque to destabilize may be determined already as its extracellular matrix is being synthesized, and with this work – composed around four papers – I do my best to explore atherosclerosis in light of the involvement of the extracellular matrix. The sections on fibromodulin focus on abnormal extracellular matrix in atherosclerosis, while the sections on dystrophin look into abnormal connections between cells and the extracellular matrix in atherosclerosis. I have sought to weave together the themes of atherosclerosis and extracellular matrix, and my hope is that this text is accessible to members of both fields.[†]

... The matrix is everywhere.

Morpheus

[†] For the full atherosclerosis/extracellular matrix experience, I recommend – as soundtrack – the album 'Go' (by Jónsi), which has been playing in the background during much of my writing.

Original papers

This thesis is based on the following original papers (I-IV):

- I. <u>Shami A</u>, Gustafsson R, Kalamajski S, Krams R, Segers D, Rauch U, Roos G, Nilsson J, Oldberg Å, Hultgårdh-Nilsson A. Fibromodulin deficiency reduces low-density lipoprotein accumulation in atherosclerotic plaques in apolipoprotein E-null mice, *Arteriosclerosis Thrombosis,* and Vascular Biology. 2013 Feb;33(2):354-61. Epub 2012 Nov 29.
- II. <u>Shami A</u>, Asciutto G, Bengtsson E, Tengryd C, Nilsson J, Hultgårdh-Nilsson A, Gonçalves I. Expression of fibromodulin in carotid atherosclerotic plaques is associated with a stable plaque phenotype. Manuscript.
- III. Rauch U, <u>Shami A</u>, Zhang F, Carmignac V, Durbeej M, Hultgårdh-Nilsson A. Increased neointimal thickening in dystrophin-deficient mdx mice, *PLoS One*.2012;7(1):e29904.
- IV. <u>Shami A</u>, Knutsson A, Murugesan V, Rauch U, Bengtsson E, Tengryd C, Durbeej M, Hultgårdh-Nilsson A. **Dystrophin deficiency reduces ather**osclerotic plaque development in ApoE-null mice. Manuscript.

Abbreviations

α-SMA	Smooth muscle α-actin
ADAM	A disintegrin and metalloproteinase domain
ADAMTs	ADAM-related metalloproteinases with a thrombospondin domain
AGEs	Advanced glycation end products
ApoB/E/C	Apolipoprotein A/E/C
CD	Cluster of differentiation
C/N-terminus	Carboxy or COOH/amino or NH4 terminus
CLL	Chronic lymphocytic leukemia
CS/DS/HS	Chondroitin/dermatan /heparan sulfate
DGC	Dystrophin-glycoprotein complex
DMD	Duchenne muscular dystrophy
EC	Endothelial cell
ECM	Extracellular matrix
ER	Endoplasmatic reticulum
FACIT	Fibril-associated collagen with interrupted triple helices
GAG	Glycosaminoglycans
HDL	High-density lipoprotein
ICAM	Intercellular cell adhesion molecule
IDL	Intermediate-density lipoprotein
IFP	Interstitial fluid pressure
IGF	Insulin-like growth factor
IL	Interleukin
LDL/oxLDL	Low-density lipoprotein/oxidized LDL

LPL	Lipoprotein lipase
LRR	Leucine-rich repeat
MCP-1	Monocyte chemoattractant protein-1
Mdx	X-chromosome-linked muscular dystrophy
MI	Myocardial infarction
MIP-1β	Macrophage inflammatory protein-1 β
MMP	Matrix metalloproteinase
NEFA	Non-esterified fatty acid
m/siRNA	Messenger/small interfering ribonucleic acid
NO/NOS	Nitrogen oxide/nitrogen oxide synthase
PDGF	Platelet-derived growth factor
PRELP	Proline/arginine-rich end leucine-rich repeat protein
RAG2	Recombination activating gene-2
sCD40L	Soluble CD40 ligand
SLRP	Small leucine-rich repeat proteoglycan
SMC	Smooth muscle cell
TIA	Transient ischemia attack
TGF-β	Tumor growth factor-β
TIMP	Tissue inhibitor of MMPs
UGC	Utrophin-glycoprotein complex
UV	Ultraviolet
VCAM	Vascular cell adhesion molecule
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factor
VLDL	Very low-density lipoprotein

Background

In this chapter I will present the background to the papers included in this thesis – the essentials of both the field of atherosclerosis and the field of extracellular matrix (ECM).

Atherosclerosis

Cardio- and cerebrovascular disease represent nearly half the cases of noncommunicable diseases worldwide and is the leading global cause of death. One underlying cause is atherosclerosis;^{1, 2} fibrotic, calcified and/or fatty plaques of the innermost layer of arteries. A multitude of risk factors that promote atherogenesis have been identified, including elevated plasma cholesterol, hypertension, diabetes, smoking, older age and genetic predisposition.³

Atherosclerotic plaques preferentially develop in blood vessel regions with low shear stress and flow stagnation or in regions with turbulent blood flow, appearing for example in vessel bifurcations.⁴ Plaques develop over decades, and their presence may go unnoticed until a disruption of the plaque leads to thrombus formation and symptoms. The nature of the symptoms depends greatly on the location of the plaque. For example, acute myocardial infarctions (MIs) commonly result from thrombosis in coronary arteries,⁵ while carotid artery atherosclerosis is most often responsible for strokes caused by emboli traveling to the brain.⁶

Symptoms of thrombi formed in association with carotid artery plaques tend to be hemispheric, such as ipsilateral visual loss (*amaurosis fugax*), or contralateral weakness or numbness of the body.⁴ Transient ischemic attacks (TIAs) may result from emboli to the brain, presenting with loss of consciousness, weakness, numbness, difficulties in forming or finding words and visual field defects, followed by complete recovery.⁶ Classification of cerebrovascular events as TIA requires that symptoms resolve within 24 hours, but patients having suffered from TIA have an increased risk of recurrent cerebrovascular events, such as stroke.^{4, 7} In symptomatic patients, especially those with greater than 70% stenosis, this risk may be lowered, by, for example, carotid endarterectomy – plaque removal by surgery.⁸

Worldwide, around 15 million people suffer strokes each year. Roughly one third do not survive, and another third are permanently disabled.⁹ As many as almost one tenth of individuals over the age of 65 may have asymptomatic carotid artery atherosclerosis with a stenosis degree of at least 50%.¹⁰

Patients suffering from diabetes experience marked increases in both the initial risk for and the severity of micro- and macrovascular complications, including development of atherosclerosis and resulting vascular events, such as stroke and MI.^{2, 11, 12} The incidence, and mortality, from all forms of cardiovascular disease is 2-8 fold higher in the presence of diabetes,¹³ and stem from, for example, generation of advanced glycation end products (AGEs), an altered lipid profile and increased oxidative stress.¹⁴

The healthy artery

The artery wall consists of three layers, each with a distinct function and, consequently, distinct components such as cells and ECM (figure 1). The layers are separated by fenestrated elastic membranes, and together they make up a vessel with the correct elasticity and compression. The elasticity is required by the vessel for strength and resilience, in order to accommodate blood flow and changes in blood pressure.¹⁵

The tunica intima is the innermost layer, directly in contact with the vessel lumen. It is composed of endothelial cells (ECs) surrounded by a basement membrane and an underlying subendothelial ECM, consisting of laminin, fibronectin, collagen type IV and VIII, and hyaluronan.¹⁶ Hyaluronan is needed for the ECM to be able to endure compression, and collagen types IV and VIII form networks used as permeability barriers and anchoring sites for substrates in basement membranes.¹⁵

Layers of smooth muscle cells (SMCs) make up the middle layer, the tunica media. Like ECs, SMCs are also surrounded by a basement membrane and an ECM, though in this case consisting of collagen types I, III, V and XVIII, fibronectin, proteoglycans, and elastic elements.¹⁶ Collagen types I and III provide tensile strength,¹⁵ and it is through the contractile abilities of the SMCs that blood pressure and flow is controlled.¹⁶

The adventitia is the outermost layer, and consists of collagens types I and III, fibroblasts and vasa vasora, the latter providing nourishment to the vessel wall.¹⁶



Figure 1: Cross-section of a healthy artery wall.

Theories on atherogenesis

The response-to-retention model of atherogenesis was presented in 1995 by Tabas and Williams.¹⁷ The model concludes that the central initiating event (and pathogenic process) in atherosclerosis plaque development is subendothelial retention of apolipoprotein B (ApoB)-containing lipoproteins. Lipoproteins bind to proteogly-cans of the ECM in regions of the arterial wall that are lesion-prone, but still healthy in the sense that they are lesion-free. Retained lipoproteins are susceptible to oxidation; they become modified and are taken up by foam cells.¹⁸ A chronic and maladaptive macrophage- and T cell-dominated inflammatory response induces changes in SMC phenotype, which further contributes to atherosclerotic plaque growth. The hypothesis that retention of lipoproteins, rather than changes in influx or efflux, is the major factor in atherosclerosis, has been tested by, for example, the use of labeled lipoproteins.¹⁹

Competing hypotheses include the response-to-injury hypothesis by Ross and Glomset, which has its basis in endothelial denudation, injury and/or activation, $^{20-22}$



Figure 2:

Lesion progression from diffuse intimal thickening to atherosclerotic plaque.

and, the lipid oxidation hypothesis, that – as the name implies – proposes that the oxidation of lipids is the key process in atherosclerosis development.^{23, 24}

Though the topic of this thesis is atherosclerosis, most aspects of this body of work are infused with, and based on, concepts of matrix biology. The development of atherosclerosis as described in this thesis will mainly follow the response-to-retention hypothesis, as I have found this theory to be superior in illustrating the key position the ECM plays in atherogenesis.

Changes in arteries preceding plaque development

Diffuse intimal thickenings appear from an early age – sometimes as early as during fetal development – and increase with age (figure 2). They are present in arteries that are considered to be atherosclerosis-prone,²⁵ and, initially, the thickened intima consists mainly of SMCs, elastin and proteoglycans.²⁶ Nakashima et al. examined coronary arteries from autopsied subjects and found that the earliest stage of human coronary atherosclerosis is a fatty streak that develops through extracellular deposition of ApoB-containing lipids in the outer layer of areas characterized by this type of diffuse intimal thickening.²⁶ The initial accumulation of 14

lipids takes place in the deep layer of the thickened intima²⁷ before foam cells are involved, ^{28, 29} and the resulting fatty streak can be defined as a lesion that contains lipid deposits, but remains non raised.³⁰ As lipids continue to accumulate, the lesion expands into a so called pathologic intimal thickening, which is a pre atheromatous lesion with a pool of extracellular lipids, covered by a layer of SMCs and lipid-laden macrophages.²⁷





The atherosclerotic plaque

As plaque growth progresses past the fatty streak, the typical atherosclerotic plaque consists of cells, connective tissue elements, lipids and debris (figure 3).³¹ A core region with foam cells, extracellular lipids and, in advanced plaques, regions of necrosis is surrounded by a fibrous cap of collagen-rich ECM and ECM-producing SMCs. The most vulnerable regions are the shoulder regions, where inflammatory and immune cells primarily infiltrate the lesion, and through which

the plaque grows.³² The major cause of cardio- and cerebrovascular events, such as MI and stroke, is the formation of a thrombus – most often caused by plaque rupture³³ or $erosion^{27, 34}$.

As lipids bound to ECM proteoglycans³⁵ are being subsequently oxidized, an inflammatory response is initiated in the vessel wall. Plaque growth is promoted as the endothelium is activated by released phospholipids. ^{35, 36} Expression of adhesion molecules, such as vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 (VCAM-1)³⁷, intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1)^{38, 39}, and selectins E and P,⁴⁰ as well as inflammatory genes are increased in the activated endothelium,⁴¹ attracting monocytes and lymphocytes to the lesion. Attached cells become stimulated by chemokines released from the underlying intima to migrate.⁴²⁻⁴⁴ Macrophage colonystimulating factor, whose expression is promoted by low-density lipoprotein (LDL) oxidation, ⁴⁵ induces monocyte differentiation into macrophages.⁴⁶ Macrophage differentiation is associated with up-regulation of pattern recognition receptors, including scavenger receptors and toll-like receptors.^{47, 48}

Infiltrated macrophages take up modified lipids, such as oxidized LDL (oxLDL).⁴⁹ Lipids build up within macrophages, which develop into foam cells and accumulate within the lesion.¹⁸ Together with ECs, foam cells produce cytokines and growth factors that activate the vascular SMCs in the tunica media of the vessel wall. A phenotypic switch is induced in activated medial SMCs that dedifferentiate from their specialized, contractile state to gain the abilities to migrate into the intima, proliferate and synthesize massive amounts of ECM components.^{50, 51}

In advanced atherosclerosis, neovascularisation often occurs within the plaques. Angiogenesis – endothelial proliferation and sprouting – usually originates in vasa vasorum in the adventitia, and growths through media, into the base of plaque. New vessels are fragile, leaky, and express adhesion molecules, such as VCAM-1, all features that promote intra-plaque hemorrhage and facilitate extravasation of plasma proteins and inflammatory cells.^{52, 53} Association of intra-plaque hemorrhage with risk of future neurological events in carotid artery plaques has been reported.⁵⁴

Plaque rupture

The fibrous cap in advanced atherosclerotic plaques is in danger of disruption, an event that exposes components of the plaque core to the blood,⁵⁵ resulting in a coagulation cascade and thrombus formation. Thrombi are commonly formed by plaque rupture, but can also be the result of erosion or even the presence of calcified nodules (figure 4).



Figure 4: Different modes of plaque disruption.

Plaque rupture occurs in so called vulnerable plaques, characterized by a thin fibrous cap covering a large necrotic core and a heavy infiltration of macrophages and T-lymphocytes.^{27, 56} The fibrous cap consists of mainly type I collagen and few SMCs.^{56, 57} Digestion of fibrillar collagen by matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) is considered the main contributor to fibrous cap thinning, and for example MMP-1, -8 and -13 are found in association with cleaved collagen.^{58, 59}

In contrast to plaque rupture, erosion results in a thrombus associated with a thick fibrous cap, and a matrix rich in proteoglycans and SMCs, but containing fewer inflammatory cells, less calcification and no endothelial lining.^{27, 34, 56, 60} At the site of erosion, there have been both reports of lower numbers of SMCs³⁴ and of SMC clusters.⁶⁰ Eroded plaque tissue is associated with thrombi rich in versican, hyaluronan and type III collagen.⁵⁷ In a study on sudden coronary death, eroded, compared to ruptured, plaques occurred more often in younger individuals (<50 years) and in women, and they were also associated with smoking, especially in premenopausal women. Erosion was also linked to a lower degree of stenosis and total plaque burden.^{27, 60}

Calcified nodules occur in heavily calcified arteries, and cause thrombi by breaking through the fibrous cap from within.²⁷ There is usually no collagen or endothelium overlying the nodules, which frequently are surrounded by fibrin.^{27, 56}

Interestingly, an autopsy study found that the total number of affected vessels was highest in patients dying with stable plaques and healed MIs.⁶¹ The number of affected vessels was intermediate in patients dying from plaque rupture and lowest in patients dying from plaque erosion.



Figure 5:

Chylomicron and very low-density lipoprotein (VLDL), intermediate-density lipoprotein (IDL) and low-density lipoprotein (LDL).

A thrombus or ruptured plaque is not always fatal, and does not even always result in symptoms – or symptoms severe enough to be reported. It is possible for a disrupted plaque to stay unnoticed, and not cause clinical symptoms, while healing through formation of a "secondary cap" overlying the, old ruptured, one.^{56, 62} A study of death due to coronary causes showed that among control subjects, having died from non-cardiac causes, 4% displayed acute coronary thrombosis, and 9% exhibited plaque rupture without thrombus.⁶² The majority of patients with acute coronary syndrome have also been found to have one or more plaque ruptures in addition to the culprit lesion, often in another artery.⁶³

Lipids and cholesterol - are eggs the bane of our existence?

Nikolaj Anitschkow discovered already in 1913 that rabbits fed a cholesterol-rich diet developed atherosclerosis,^{64, 65} but lipoproteins were not isolated until 1950, by Gofman et al.⁶⁶

Elevated plasma cholesterol drives atherosclerosis development, even though other risk factors are absent,^{3, 67} as evidenced by patients with familial hypercholesterolemia who, even when no other risk factor of cardiovascular disease is present, 18

suffer from accelerated atherosclerosis development.⁶⁸ In addition, serum triglyceride levels,⁶⁹ reflecting very low density lipoprotein (VLDL) levels, is also a risk factor, as is the level of chylomicron remnants⁷⁰. The common denominator of all these lipid forms is ApoB.⁶⁸

As cholesterol and triglycerides are both hydrophobic molecules, they are insoluble in plasma. In order to be carried with the circulation, they are transported in lipoproteins (figure 5); representing a hydrophobic core that is covered by a hydrophilic coat with apolipoproteins, phospholipids and free cholesterol.⁷¹ Every LDL particle thus carries one ApoB particle, wrapped around its surface. The human form exists in two isoforms: The full-size ApoB100 and the truncated ApoB48. ApoB100 is synthesized in the liver and is, therefore, also a part of the liver-derived VLDLs and intermediate density lipoproteins (IDLs). ApoB48 – representing the first 48% of the N-terminal amino acids due to messenger ribonucleic acid (mRNA) editing⁷² – is only present on intestine-derived lipoproteins. This form is, therefore, in humans, only found on chylomicrons and their remnants. However, in mice, it is also found on VLDL, IDL and LDL.⁷³

Chylomicrons transport dietary fat from the intestine. In the circulation, chylomicron particles are hydrolyzed, enabling fatty acids to enter tissues, such as muscle and adipose tissue. Resulting from lipolysis are high-density lipoprotein (HDL) particles formed by phsopholipids and chylomicron proteins, and chylomicron remnants that are taken up by LDL receptors and LDL receptor-related proteins in the liver.⁷⁴ HDLs recruit excess free cholesterol from peripheral tissues before returning to the liver,⁷⁵ where the cholesterol is excreted with the bile salts.⁷⁶

In the liver, triglycerides and cholesterol esters are arranged into VLDLs that are released into the circulation to deliver lipids to other tissues. As these particles undergo lipolysis, their triglyceride levels go down, and they become IDLs (30% triglycerides remaining), that are either taken up by tissues or further lipolized to LDL (10% triglycerides remaining). In humans, the only major apolipoprotein remaining in LDL particles is ApoB100. LDL is taken up by the LDL receptor, but the kinetics of LDL uptake in this manner is slow, and, as a consequence, LDL has a longer half life in circulation compared to the other types of lipoprotein particles.⁷⁴

Lipoproteins pass through the endothelium and enter the vessel wall. With sizes at around 15-25 nm and 25-35 nm, respectively, both LDL and IDL are well under the size limit of 70 nm for transcytotic vesicles.^{68, 77} Additional means of lipoprotein transport across the endothelium include endocytosis⁷⁷ and passage through leaky junctions associated with dying or dividing cells.⁷⁸ Moreover, an increase in the rate of unidirectional LDL transport across EC monolayers as a result of monocyte migration has been reported.⁷⁹

Oxidation of LDL promotes its uptake by macrophages.^{80, 81} An initial mild oxidation of lipids is followed by oxidation of ApoB, rendering it recognizable to scavenger receptors.⁸² In the lysosomes, oxLDL is hydrolyzed to free cholesterol and free fatty acids. Excess cholesterol can either be exported from the cell, or be reesterified and accumulate in the cytosol as the lipid droplets that are so characteristic for foam cells.⁸³

The lipid-rich core of atherosclerotic plaques is avascular, soft, hypocellular and poor in collagen. Lipids originate both from dead foam cells and, perhaps even more importantly, from retention through extracellular trapping and enzymatic processing, leading to aggregation, fusion and matrix binding of LDL particles.⁸⁴ Lipids are also derived from the membranes of red blood cells, present in the plaque as a result of intra-plaque hemorrhage.⁸⁵

Statins lower circulating lipid levels and can also exhibit pleiotropic effects. In carotid artery plaques anti-inflammatory properties, decreased levels of MMP-2 and cell death, as well as increases in tissue inhibitor of MMP-1 (TIMP-1) and collagen content, have been found, suggesting that statins contribute to plaque stabilization.⁸⁶ In addition, statins have been reported to inhibit antigen-dependent T-cell activation,⁸⁷ enhance endothelial nitrogen oxide (NO) availability⁸⁸ and reduce platelet activity⁸⁹. Moreover, statins have also been found to potentially stabilize plaques by dissolving cholesterol crystals.⁹⁰

Finally, regarding the consumption of eggs[‡], the vast majority of the cholesterol in the blood stream (~80%) originates from endogenous synthesis, and not from the diet.⁷¹ It also seems that the increase in plasma LDL resulting from dietary LDL is accompanied by an equal increase in HDL⁹¹ – a lipoprotein mainly considered atheroprotective.⁹² In addition, there are numerous epidemiological studies that failed to find any association between egg consumption and coronary heart disease (in non-diabetic individuals).^{93, 94}

Cells of the atherosclerotic plaque

Though, somewhat controversially, some studies have suggested that a portion of plaque SMCs originate in the bone marrow, travelling with the blood to athero-

[‡] And, of course, other – less archetypal – cholesterol-rich foods...

sclerotic lesions,⁹⁵ the prevailing view still seems to be that SMCs primarily reach the neointima through migration from the media.⁹⁶⁻⁹⁸ Macrophages secrete platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF) B-chain, a strong mitogen, throughout plaque development⁹⁹ and the specific localization of SMCs to the fibrous cap area may be due to cell sorting through cell surface cadherins and an endothelial-medial gradient of, for example, PDGF-BB, insulin-like growth factor 1 (IGF-1) and fibrin degradation products.^{100, 101}

The endothelium is initially, though activated and dysfunctional, intact. Denuded (de-endothelialized) regions appear mainly in advanced plaques.¹⁰² Endothelial NO synthase (NOS) synthesizes the vasodilator NO, suggested to be atheroprotective. In contrast, the inducible NOS of macrophages, with a higher capacity and powerful oxidative properties, is thought to be potentially proatherogenic.³

Key chemoattractants of monocytes are oxLDL and monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 (MCP-1), expressed by ECs, SMCs, and the macrophages themselves. There is a 20-fold up-regulation of its receptor on stimulated monocytes/macrophages. Once monocytes have differentiated to macrophages in the intima, they internalize lipoproteins through scavenger receptors, of which scavenger receptor type 1 and cluster of differentiation(CD)-36 have proved to be of great importance. The native LDL receptor responds to increased cellular cholesterol accumulation with down-regulation – however, a similar regulatory mechanism is lacking in scavenger receptors, resulting in the continuous lipid uptake that eventually leads to foam cell formation. The presence of macrophages promotes a vulnerable, thrombogenic plaque phenotype in several ways; in addition to making up the majority of the plaques' foam cells (with some contribution from SMC foam cells), they also promote and produce matrix-degrading enzymes, inflammatory cytokines and tissue factor.³

T-cells are often found in advanced atherosclerotic lesions.¹⁰³ Plaques contain mainly CD4+ cells reactive to, for example, oxidized LDL as antigen.¹⁰⁴ In addition, smaller populations of natural killer T cells, also recognizing lipid antigens,¹⁰⁵ and CD8+ T cells that may recognize viral antigens¹⁰⁶ also infiltrate plaques. T cells activate and stimulate macrophages and vascular cells, for example through interferon- γ , tumor necrosis factor, and interleukin(IL)-1, to produce additional inflammatory and cytotoxic molecules.^{107, 108} T cell activity in the plaque is inhibited by atheroprotective TGF- β^{109} and IL-10,¹¹⁰

Antibody-producing B cells are present, but not numerous, in lesions, and are considered to be atheroprotective.¹¹¹ More substantial numbers, may, however, be present in the surrounding adventitia.¹¹² However, though lymphocytes clearly have a role to play in existing plaques, it has been demonstrated through ApoE/ recombination activating gene-2 (RAG2) double-deficient mice that even a complete lack of lymphocytes does not prevent atherosclerosis from developing.¹¹³ Activated mast cells may be present in both plaque and adventitia, especially associated with vulnerable and rupture-prone lesions.^{114, 115} Neutrophils are rare in less advanced lesions, but have been reported in connection with plaque rupture and erosion¹¹⁶.

In more advanced plaques macrophages/foam cells, ECs and SMCs die through apoptosis, as well as necrosis, with many detrimental effects. Besides destabilizing the plaque core and fibrous cap,¹¹⁷ cell death contributes to tissue factor activity and, therefore, the thrombogenicity of the plaque¹¹⁸.

The extracellular matrix in atherosclerotic plaques

"What is the matrix? Control." §

In the ECM of atherosclerotic plaques, expression of basement membrane components, such as laminins^{119, 120} and heparan sulfate,¹²¹ is altered, and there is an increase in collagen types I and III, elastin, fibronectin and chondroitin and dermatan sulfate-containing proteoglycans.^{16, 121, 122}

Stability of atherosclerotic lesions is greatly dependent on ECM.^{123, 124} The principal initiating factor in plaque formation is binding of LDL to vascular wall proteoglycans,¹²⁵ and the subsequent vascular retention of LDL can be reduced in an altered ECM, such as in ApoE-deficient mice with ECM lacking fibromodulin (as we show in Paper I) or in mice with perlecan lacking heparan sulfate-side chains.¹²⁶

The fibrous cap is formed and maintained mainly through synthesis of ECM components by SMCs, and provides structural stability.¹²⁷ Degradation of the fibrous cap ECM leaves the plaque in danger of rupturing.^{128, 129}

The ECM also carries out many regulatory functions, on cells as well as on enzymes and lipids. Fibrillar collagen¹³⁰⁻¹³² and laminins^{133, 134} promote the more differentiated state of SMCs, limiting proliferation, spreading and migration. A similar effect is observed in macrophages, with fibrillar collagen inhibiting MMP-9 production and LDL-uptake.^{135, 136} Adhesion to collagen type I was also found to increase macrophage phagocytic activity,¹³⁷ and to stimulate uptake of acetylated

[§] Morpheus, again. (The Matrix)

 LDL^{136} . In fact, when comparing gene expression in monocytes/macrophages cultured on collagen or in suspension, 896 differentially expressed gene fragments were found – of those, 316 were induced specifically by adhesion to collagen (and not seen with fibronectin or laminin).¹³⁸

ECM remodeling and MMPs

Remodeling of the artery wall can be expansive and outwards (preserving the lumen) or constrictive (narrowing the lumen).³ A correlation has been reported between plaque size, expansive remodeling and a sizeable lipid-rich core, but no association was found between these features and plaque inflammation.¹³⁹ Increased collagen turnover and SMC migration, but not overall collagen fiber content, during flow-induced arterial remodeling in rabbits was reported by Sluijter et al.¹⁴⁰

The metalloproteinases have a central role in the enzymatic ECM proteolysis that takes place during remodeling. There are three classes of metalloproteinases: MMPs, the ADAM family (a disintegrin and metalloproteinase domain) and the ADAMTS family of ADAM-related metalloproteinases with a thrombospondin domain. Of the two latter families, several members have been detected in the vessel wall, but not much is known about their role in atherosclerosis.¹⁴

Required for remodeling, MMPs contribute to progression of lesions by digestion of the fibrillar collagens of the plaque ECM. MMP activity is, in turn, regulated by the TIMPs. Collagenases MMP-1, -2, -8, -13 and -14 degrade fibrillar collagens,¹⁴¹ and MMP1, -8 and -13 also cleave fibrillar collagen monomers. Collagen fragments denature into gelatin, which can be further degraded by MMP2 and -9.¹⁶ In outwards remodeling, degradation of elastin, particularly by MMP-9 and -12, seems to have a significant role.¹⁴¹

Though MMPs have been extensively studied in transgenic mice as well as in human plaque tissue, there is variability in the results regarding the role of MMPs in plaque stability. MMP-2 and -9 have been deemed pro-atherogenic since in ApoEmice deletions result in decreased plaque sizes, and in the case of MMP2 also in decreased accumulation of SMCs and macrophages.¹⁴²⁻¹⁴⁴ However, regarding MMP9, the opposite was found in another study, reporting increased plaque size and macrophage content in MMP9-null mice.¹⁴⁵ No effects on plaque size were found with deletion of MMP13, though increased collagen content and fibril size and alignment in the fibrous cap was reported.¹⁴⁶ Plaques in ApoE-mice were smaller with a more fibrous phenotype after inhibition, but not deletion, of MMP12.^{143, 147}

Increased collagen content, without effect on plaque size, was found in mice with a mutated collagenase cleavage site.¹⁴⁸ Thus, atheroprotective roles have also been

suggested for MMPs; Deletion of MMP3 resulted in larger plaques, with more fibrillar collagen.¹⁴⁹ However, neointima formation after carotid ligation was decreased in MMP3-null mice in another study, suggesting a role for MMP3 in restenosis development.¹⁵⁰ Interestingly, atherosclerosis was reduced when human MMP-1 was expressed in ApoE-deficient mice on a western diet – suggesting that neointimal remodeling by MMP-1 may actually be beneficial.¹⁵¹

In human carotid plaques, increased expression of MMP-1, -2, -3 and -9 have been described,¹⁴ and expression is mainly found in the shoulder regions, colocalizing with macrophages.^{152, 153} They have been linked to plaque instability; MMP-1 occurred within intraplaque hemorrhage,¹⁵⁴ and MMP-2 and -9 were expressed with IL-6 and -8 in carotid artery lesions.¹⁵⁵ Higher levels of MMP-8 and -9 have also been reported in unstable plaques and in symptomatic patients following stroke.¹⁵⁷ MMP-7 and -12 were found along the perimeter of the lipid core and near, but

not associated with, cells of the fibrous cap.¹⁵⁸ A high MMP-12 expression in carotid artery plaques was associated with adverse clinical outcome after carotid endarterectomy.¹⁵⁹

ECM calcification

Plaque calcification commonly occurs in plaques from individuals of both genders and prevalence increases with age.¹⁶⁰ However, the degree of plaque calcification in women compared to men has a 10 year delay, with equalization not until the eighth decade.¹⁶¹ At one point in time, plaque calcification was considered so prevalent that it was deemed the only feature of atherosclerosis worthy of mention, at least according to whomever coined the expression 'åderförkalkning'^{**}. Yet, it is not merely a passive and degenerative development; vascular calcification, just as calcification in bone tissue, is an actively controlled process.¹⁶²

Under physiological conditions, the concentration of calcium and phosphate ions in both serum and tissue fluid is sufficient for biomineralization. However, hydroxyapatite formation is tightly regulated,¹⁶³ and initiation requires presence of crystallization nucleators and absence of mineralization inhibitors. Calcium deposits, lipids and several enzymes, many of which required to inhibit spontaneous calcium phosphate precipitation and nucleation, are contained in extracellular ma-

^{**} Swedish. Directly translated simply as "vessel calcification" – the, rather oversimplified, way atherosclerosis was generally referred to in Sweden, in the olden days (and, sometimes, still).

trix vesicles.¹⁶⁴⁻¹⁶⁷ Nucleators are later, and with the proper stimulus, formed through calcium-phosphate-lipid complexes within the vesicle membranes.¹⁶⁴

Matrix vesicles have been identified in the tunica intima of arteries,¹⁶⁸ and macromolecular matrix proteins involved in biomineralization is expressed in calcified vessels.¹⁶⁹⁻¹⁷¹ Accumulation of calcium is promoted during atherogenesis by for example pro-inflammatory cytokines, tumor growth factor- β (TGF- β) and modified LDL.¹⁷²⁻¹⁷⁵ Hydroxyapatite crystals are propagated along ECM fibers with the periodicity of negative charges on collagen,¹⁷⁶ and ECM composition is important in regulating this process.¹⁶

Calcification is driven by cells, and, though their origins are still unknown, in atherosclerotic lesions cells have been identified that produce mineralized matrix and undergo osteoblastic differentiation: pericytes in microvessels, pericyte-like, calcifying vascular cells in the aortic intima, SMCs in the media, and myofibroblasts in the adventitia.^{170, 177-179} Unidentified cell colonies with osteoblastic or chondrogenic phenotype have been explanted from bovine aortic media.¹⁷⁰ Exposure to collagen type I *in vitro* has been shown to enhance calcification by these cells¹⁸⁰ and involvement of collagen type I has been suggested in commitment of intimal cells to the chondrogenic lineage¹⁸¹.

Calcium content is often viewed as a common component of plaques with a stable phenotype: calcified plaques are less likely to cause symptoms in patients,¹⁸²⁻¹⁸⁴ and calcification is inversely correlated to macrophage infiltration.¹⁸³ However, calcium content is also associated with stenosis severity,¹⁸⁵⁻¹⁸⁷ and an estimate of total plaque burden, as composite calcium scores are predictive of future cardio-vascular events.¹⁸⁸ Therefore, while a particular plaque, proving to be rich in calcium, might be considered more stable at a certain point in time than a plaque containing a large lipid pool,^{185, 189} it may also indicate a large general plaque burden in this patient.

Finally, the location of calcium deposits in the plaque also determines their contribution to plaque stability. For example, increased peak stress has been reported in connection with calcification in a thin fibrous cap, compared to calcification in the lipid core.¹⁹⁰ This can be illustrated by the part played by calcified nodules in plaque rupture.²⁷ Calcium deposits in the plaque core, on the other hand, may provide mechanical stability.^{163, 191}

Elastin

Elastin is insoluble, amorphous, and hydrophobic. In the vessel wall, elastin is organized in a network of extensively cross-linked and covalently bound polymers of tropoelastin molecules. Elastic lamellae are regularly arranged around the vessel lumen as concentric cylinders, providing elasticity, tensile strength and stability.¹⁹²

Elastin is a highly stable molecule that undergoes little turnover. During atherosclerotic plaque progression, elastic fibers are modified due to strong inflammatory presence. Elastase activity is increased within the plaque,^{193, 194} and calcium and lipids are deposited, promoting proteolytic degradation. As a result of the slow turnover, damage to elastin stays virtually unrepaired,¹⁹⁵ and, though increased elastogenesis has been reported in plaques¹⁹³ it is ineffective and results in immature cross-linked elastin.¹⁹⁶

Elastases are found in the serine-, cysteine- and metallopeptidase (MMP-2, -7, 9 and -12) families, and are expressed by different cell types during plaque development, such as SMCs and macrophages.^{194, 197}

The peptides generated through elastin degradation are known as elastokines, and have a biologically active role during plaque generation. Elastokines belong to the matrikines, a family encompassing several matrix fragments with cytokine-like activities,¹⁹⁸ and levels are increased in blood from atherosclerotic patients.¹⁹⁹ Elastokines interacts with cells through the elastin receptor complex, located in the plasma membranes,¹⁹⁸ and may, for example, promote additional elastolytic activity. They also attract monocytes through chemotaxis,²⁰⁰ regulate inflammatory response of monocytes,²⁰¹ promote differentiation of fibroblasts to cells of an osteo-blast-like phenotype,²⁰² and stimulate neoangiogenesis^{203, 204}.

Arterial proteoglycans

Proteoglycans are implicated in atherosclerosis development. They consist of a core protein with covalently bound long-chain carbohydrates – glycosaminoglycans (GAGs). GAGs are repeating disaccharide units carrying negatively charged sulfate and carboxy groups. They can be divided into different categories: chondroitin sulfate (CS), dermatan sulfate (DS), heparan sulfate (HS), heparin, keratan sulfate, and hyaloronan. In the extracellular space of arteries, versican (large, CS-containing), biglycan and decorin (contain CS and CS/DS, respectively) are found. Perlecan is another large HS-containing protein that resides in subendo-thelial matrix. Syndecans and glypicans (HS-containing) are pericellular, existing in SMC and EC plasma membranes.⁶⁸ The human intima is rich in versican,²⁰⁵ while in mouse lesions, perlecan is more abundant.²⁰⁶

Arterial proteoglycans are produced by SMCs, ECs and macrophages, and expression patterns are altered in atherosclerosis.⁶⁸ Proteoglycan synthesis is regulated by several factors, including other ECM components, TGF- β 1, PDGF, oxLDL, and non-esterified fatty acids.²⁰⁷⁻²⁰⁹ The effects of some factors, such as TGF- β 1 and PDGF are additive.²⁰⁷

Lipoprotein retention in the arterial wall

Compared with the LDL receptor, cell surface proteoglycans bind LDL with lower affinity, but instead possess a higher capacity for binding, for example, small dense LDL.^{210, 211} Ionic binding connects positively charged amino acid groups on ApoB to negatively charged groups on GAGs.²¹² A key site for proteoglycan binding is the, so called, site B, located in the C-terminal half of ApoB100. Positively charged arginine and lysine residues in this region have been found critical for binding CS/DS proteoglycans.²¹³ The site's main importance is in the initiation phase of early atherosclerosis development, and the size of lesions in transgenic mice with non-functional site B is initially reduced. However, lesion growth eventually "catches up" to the that which is generated in mice with a functional site B.³⁵ The finding that ApoB48 is the major ApoB-form in the atheroprone ApoEnull mice²¹⁴ and that ApoB48 and ApoB100 are equally atherogenic, despite site B not being present in ApoB48, indicated existence of one or more additional proteoglycan binding sites.²¹⁵ As it turns out, another proteoglycan binding site is located in the N-terminus of ApoB, though it is masked by the C-terminus in LDLs containing apoB100.²¹⁶ Since the GAG-binding ability of LDL is increased after treatment with phospholipase A2²¹⁷, additional sites, such as site A, located in close proximity to site B, are also proposed to be functional in modified LDL.²¹⁸

As atherosclerotic lesions progress, the content and size of proteoglycans are modified;^{205, 219} the presence of oxLDL (and other products from LDL oxidation) both increase the length of GAG chains and their affinity for native LDL.²²⁰ Studies have both showed decreased²²¹ and increased – especially by mildly oxidized LDL²²² – binding to proteoglycans by oxLDL.

Infiltrated macrophages further increase LDL retention by secretion of bridging molecules, such as lipoprotein lipase (LPL),²²³ an enzyme shown to increase lipoprotein binding to cells as well as matrix components.^{224, 225} LPL is normally bound to proteoglycans, but also possesses binding sites for lipoproteins. It has been observed in atherosclerotic lesions, and functions through its lipolytic activity, in addition to serving as a bridge between ApoB-containing lipoproteins and proteoglycans.^{225, 226} LPL is also produced by SMCs.²²⁷ Furthermore, hepatic²²⁸ and endothelial²²⁹ lipases have been identified, and all forms may be involved in lipid retention in atherosclerosis.

ECM components other than proteoglycans are also involved in lipoprotein retention. LDL has been found to interact with elastin.²³⁰ Collagen types I and III bind native and oxLDL,²³¹ a process that may be aided by associated small leucin-rich proteoglycans (SLRPs)²³². It has also been hypothesized that LDL-binding sites of collagen and fibronectin are masked by overlying HS proteoglycans, and that loss of HS by heparanase digestion may expose these sites.²³³

Atherosclerotic ECM in diabetes

In the presence of diabetes, production of advanced glycation end products (AG-Es) is promoted by chronically elevated glucose levels in plasma. The AGEs are proteins, lipids and nucleic acids that have undergone irreversible cross-linking with sugars, which can aggravate vascular injuries such as atherosclerosis.²³⁴ In the ECM, AGEs preferentially form on proteins with a low turnover rate. Presence of AGEs alters properties of ECM components, such as collagen and elastin.^{235, 236} Increased stiffness in vessels is for example caused by AGE cross-linking of collagen type I and elastin, which increases the area of the ECM.^{235, 237} In collagen type IV, AGEs can disrupt binding involving the non-collagenous domains, resulting in disruption of self-assembly and overall basement membrane structure.²³⁸ In addition, AGEs can alter cellular properties through modification of intracellular proteins and through interaction with the AGE receptor.²³⁹ Resulting pro-atherogenic events include chemotaxis of monocytes, increased expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines and adhesion molecules by the endothelium, and transition of the endothelium from an anticoagulant to a procoagulant state.^{239, 240}

One reason behind increased atherosclerosis in insulin resistance and diabetes is changes in circulating lipoproteins and chronic high levels of albumin-bound nonesterified fatty acids (NEFA).²⁴¹ Accelerated intimal thickening associated with insulin resistance and diabetes,²⁴² include excessive ECM production. Exposure of NEFAs to human arterial SMCs *in vitro* was found to upregulate mRNA for the proteoglycans versican, syndecan and decorin, and increase the length of GAG-chains. The resulting ECM bound LDL with higher affinity.²⁰⁸ In addition, upregulation of mRNA for enzymes required for GAG synthesis increased chondroitin sulfate:heparan sulfate ratio and the negative charge of the proteoglycans – effects that all are blunted in the presence of insulin.²⁴³

The mouse as a model for atherosclerosis

Animal models are a very useful, often invaluable, aid in order to explore mechanisms behind human disease and then to test possible cures and treatments. As the bulk of the work behind this thesis has its basis in the world of rodents, I would like to devote a section to briefly describe the development, along with some advantages and limitations, of mice as a model for human atherosclerosis. As the ApoE-knock out is our mouse of choice, the main focus will be on this model.

The first report of experimental atherosclerosis was by Ignatowski in 1908.²⁴⁴ It described a thickening of the intima with formation of large, clear cells in the aortas of rabbits fed a diet rich in animal proteins. Through the years, many different

species have been used in atherosclerosis research: monkeys, rabbits, dogs, swine, guinea pigs, and hamsters – today, the mouse is the most widespread. There are many advantages to the mouse model, compared to other species previously used and, in some aspects, even to human studies, considering the great ability to control the environment and diet in studies involving mice, not to mention the myriad of genetic experiments that science, ethics and common sense prohibits in humans. In comparison to other candidate animals, mice have a shorter generational time (~9 weeks), smaller size, a more cost-effective maintenance, and faster progression of disease. The mouse genome is also completely mapped,²⁴⁵ making genetic manipulation – insertion/deletion/mutation of specific gene/s/ – common available.

Mice do not spontaneously develop atherosclerosis; in fact, they are highly resistant to atherosclerosis. The one exception seems to be the C57Bl/6 strain.²⁴⁶ While humans carry approximately 75% of plasma cholesterol on LDL, mice carry cholesterol mostly on HDL, which is associated with an atheroprotective profile, and as a result, mice on a regular chow diet do not develop atherosclerosis.²⁴⁶

Dietary manipulation was the earliest strategy to induce atherosclerotic lesions in mice. Standard chow for lab mice is a low-fat diet with only 5-6% fat (w/w) and 0.02-0.03% cholesterol. The atherogenic diet was first introduced in the 1960s²⁴⁶ and consisted of 30% fat, 5% cholesterol and 2% cholic acid. The diet did result in vascular lesions forming in C57Bl/6 mice, though with limited resemblance to the human condition. As the atherogenic diet is very toxic, it was later modified by Paigen to a new diet regimen containing 15% fat, 1.25% cholesterol, 0.5% cholic acid.²⁴⁷ Lesions then develop, though small (even after several months), and mainly restricted to the aortic root. Lesions induced by the Paigen diet do not advance beyond the early fatty streak stage and SMC involvement is scarce. In addition, the diet is still unphysiological and inflammatory.^{246, 248}

A diet more physiological than the Paigen diet has since been developed^{246, 249} – referred to as a western-type diet, as it was similar to an average American diet, consisting of 21% fat, 0.15% cholesterol, and no cholic acid. Today, this is the most commonly used atherogenic diet, and the one used by us in Papers I and IV (sometimes also referred to as a "fatty diet".)

ApoE-deficient mice

In 1992 the first transgenic mouse model for atherosclerosis was presented,^{249, 250} a mouse in which ApoE had been inactivated. ApoE is a 34 kDa glycoprotein. It is a high affinity ligand to the LDL- and chylomicron receptors and facilitates lipid removal and uptake of chylomicrons and ApoE-containing particles in the liver.²¹⁴
Development is normal in ApoE-deficient mice, but clearance of chylomicrons and VLDL is defective, resulting in lipoprotein particles being kept in circulation, and, thus, accumulation of atherogenic lipid remnants and hyperlipidemia.^{246, 251} Plasma cholesterol and triglyceride levels are increased, while HDL levels are decreased, and cholesterol transport shifts from HDL to LDL.^{246, 249} Plasma cholesterol increase 5 to 8-fold on chow, and 15 to 18-fold on a western diet. While ApoE-deficient mice spontaneously develop atherosclerosis on a standard chow diet, plaque progression is quicker and more severe in mice on a western-type diet.²⁵²

Lesion progression is similar to larger animal models, as well as humans²⁵², with the same types of cells involved^{252, 253} and preferential lesion development at vascular branch points. There is an early monocyte adhesion to the endothelium (5-6 weeks), followed by formation of fatty streaks with foam cells and migrating SMCs (6-10 weeks). These lesions progress to more advanced plaques, often containing a necrotic core surrounded by collagen-and elastin-containing ECM, a fibrous cap-like structure, and even calcified foci in older mice.^{246, 252, 254} In addition, lesions contain oxidation-specific epitopes, and antibodies against these oxidized LDL-epitopes are present in plasma.²⁵⁵

Other mouse models

The LDL receptor-deficient mouse – as the name implies – has an induced disruption of the LDL-receptor gene, resulting in defective uptake of LDL and IDLs. Lipoprotein abnormalities are milder than in the ApoE-mice, with a modest plasma cholesterol increase (~2-fold on chow). The LDL receptor-mouse is, however, very responsive to a fatty diet, upon which a 15-fold increase in blood cholesterol is reached.²⁵⁶ Large, complex lesions are developed in the aortic root and throughout the aorta as a response to a western-type diet.²⁵⁷

The ApoE/LDL receptor-deficient mouse was the first double knock-out atherosclerosis model. A severe hypercholesterolemia and hyperlipidemia results in atherosclerotic lesion development even without a fatty diet.^{258, 259}

A transgenic mouse model expressing human ApoB produces both full length ApoB-100 and the truncated version, ApoB48, in the liver. LDL is only mildly increased, but there is a distinct LDL peak (in contrast to the normally found HDL peak).^{260, 261} and lesions are developed in response to a western-type diet.²⁶²

There are a number of variants of the ApoB transgenic mouse model, such as mice expressing exclusively ApoB48 or -100, on an ApoE-deficient background. The cholesterol level of ApoB^{100/100}/ApoE^{-/-} is much less than either control ApoE^{-/-} or ApoB^{48/48}/ApoE^{-/-}, while atherosclerosis is worsened on an LDL receptor-deficient background (even with a regular chow diet).^{215, 263}

Mouse models and plaque rupture

Among mouse models, it is rare to find a model able to replicate the morphology of the more unstable/vulnerable plaques (in danger of rupture), exhibiting, for example, the intra-plaque hemorrhage and thinning of the fibrous cap that appear in humans. Lack of thrombus formation may be explained by the differing vessel morphology and shear pressure in mice and humans; with the decreased vessel diameter in mice, the surface tension increases exponentially.²⁴⁶ The Holy Grail of sorts is a mouse model actually exhibiting natural plaque rupture and thrombus formation, and a number of models that include some of these features have been proposed.

In some models plaque rupture is achieved mechanically, for example using blunt forceps to cause disruption of lesions in the abdominal aorta,²⁶⁴ or through inserting a microsurgical needle in the luminal surface.²⁶⁵ In perivascular collar-induced atherogenesis in ApoE-deficient mice, plaque disruption was reported when the mice were challenged with lipopolysaccharides, stress, or both.²⁶⁶

Intraplaque hemorrhage and spontaneous plaque rupture is also described in brachiocephalic arteries of older, chow-fed ApoE mice, 24-60 weeks of age,²⁶⁷ and there is a similar report of ApoE-deficient mice fed a western-type diet for 14 months.²⁶⁸ Finally, Calara et al., reported intraplaque hemorrhage in both older ApoE- and LDL receptor-deficient mice fed a cholesterol enriched diet.²⁶⁹

Limitations

Though there are many advantages using mice as model organisms in atherosclerosis research, there are also limitations that are important to keep in mind when planning experiments and interpreting results. For example, the small size and short generational time of mice – often the very reason this species is chosen in the first place – present a substantial difference compared to humans. In addition, the smaller size may pose a problem in performing certain surgical manipulations, though, judging from experience from our own, and other labs, the possibilities available through microsurgery should not be underestimated. One does, however, often curse the diminutive size of murine atherosclerotic lesions, which limits the pool of analysis methods that are possible, often excluding, for example, the use of Western blots and primary culture of plaque cells.

One substantial difference is the one between mouse and human LDL. Mouse LDL contain ApoE, while human LDL do not, and as a result, in humans, direct binding of ApoB-100 to proteoglycans is more important than the use of bridging

molecules, an issue addressed by the transgenic mouse expressing human ApoB-100. $^{\rm 35,\,74}$

Plaque morphology and characteristics in mice are somewhat different from those of human plaques; the primary cause for plaque development in mice may be inflammation, which is not necessarily the case in humans. There is also a difference in lipid profiles, as cholesterol in mice is mainly carried on HDL, rather than LDL as in humans. Histologically, foam cell accumulation, reminiscent of a fatty streak do appear in mice, but is not preceded by intimal hyperplasia as in atherosclerosis-prone arteries in humans.²⁴⁶ The human normal arterial intima contains a population of mesenchymal cells – most probably SMCs – which expands throughout life, and do not always develop into atherosclerotic lesions. The only exceptions among the animal models are swine²⁷⁰ and primates,²⁷¹ in which neointimal thickening occurs.

Lipid retention is reported to be a common feature of atherosclerotic lesion development in mice and humans. However, the principal proteoglycan in this process in mice is perlecan, while versican is more prominently featured in the human process.²⁰⁶

Finally, even with congenic strains, there is a prominent variability in lesion area between mice, and even more so when mice are put on fatty diets.²⁷² However, this may mainly be problematic for data interpretation, as human lesions also vary greatly in composition and size.

A broader look at extracellular matrix

The purpose of this thesis is to further explore the function and significance of ECM in atherosclerosis. By either altering the ECM, or disrupting proper cell contacts with a proper ECM, we have identified some clues about processes important for plaque development and phenotype. We worked with two proteins – one important for proper synthesis of the ECM component collagen, and one important in the connection between SMCs and the basement membrane. I will dedicate the following chapter to delving further into the finer points of ECM structure.

Collagen

Collagen is the most abundant protein of the ECM, as well as the body (of mammals) as a whole; it represents around a third of all proteins. So far 28 different kinds of collagens have been identified, with type I being the most common.²⁷³ Collagen often exists as fibrils and both form the shape of tissues and give strength. Collagen fibrils are millimeters in length, with a range in diameter from only a few to several hundred nanometers. Fibril bundles are organized into lager fibers that in turn are gathered into even larger, higher-order structures in tissues. The arrangement of fibril bundles and fibers depends on the tissue, and can be represented by parallel bundles, such as in tendons and ligaments, orthogonal lattices, such as in the cornea, or concentric waves, as is found in bone.²⁷⁴

Collagens can be divided into two categories: Fibrillar and non-fibrillar collagens. The fibrillar collagens, types I, II, III, V, XI, XXIV and XXVII function as a scaffold, providing structural and mechanical support to tissues and acting as substrate for cellular and ECM molecule attachment.²⁷⁵ The nonfibrillar collagens – 'Fibril-associated collagen with interrupted triple helices', the FACIT collagens – aid in the association between fibrillar collagens and other ECM components.²⁷⁶ Among the non-fibril forming collagens, there are also network forming collagens, such as collagen type IV in basement membranes, as well as transmembrane collagens, endostatin-producing collagens and beaded-filament-forming collagens.²⁷⁵

In many tissues, including tendon, bone and skin, the major collagen is type I, while type II is the major collagen in cartilage. Often is more than one type of collagen found within the fibrils; in for example skin, types I and II collagen can both be found.²⁷⁴

Collagen fibers are trimeric molecules, with each chain consisting of repeats of Gly-X-Y triplets, where X and Y may represent any amino acid residue, but often turn out to be proline and hydroxyproline, respectively. Each chain is a left-handed helix that intertwines with two others to make up a right-handed triple-helix – whether it is homo- or heterotrimeric depends on the collagen type.²⁷⁷ In fibrillar collagen, the triple-helical domain is flanked by globular domains without the Gly-X-Y repeat structure – one at each terminus. It is not until after these regions have been removed through proteolytical cleavage that triple-helices are able to assemble into higher-order fibers.²⁷⁴



Figure 6: Collagen fibrillogenesis.

Collagen synthesis and assembly

As collagen mRNAs is translated, it is translocated into the lumen of the rough endoplasmatic reticulum (ER), where the procollagen monomers undergo many posttranslational modifications.

Prolyl-4-hydroxyase converts proline to hydroxyproline.²⁷⁸ Ascorbic acid is needed as cofactor, and in its absence most procollagen cannot leave the ER, resulting in halted synthesis of collagen fibrils^{††}.²⁷⁴ The hydroxylation stabilizes the structure of the triple-helix and increases the denaturation temperature.²⁷⁹ Hydroxyproline coordinates the network of water molecules within the collagen triple-helix to form water bridges within and between collagen chains.^{280, 281} Some hydroxylysine residues are further modified through glycosylation, with addition of galactose or glucosylgalactose,²⁸² by the enzymes hydroxylysyl galactosyltransferase

 $^{^{\}dagger\dagger}$ Which is what happens in people suffering from scurvy, vitamin C deficiency – but I digress...

and galactosylhydroxylysyl glucosyltransferase,²⁸³ which also contributes to the stabilization of the triple-helical structure.²⁸⁴

The folding of three polypeptide chains into a triple-helix (figure 6) begins at a small triple-helical nucleation point at the C-terminus and propagates towards the N-terminus, in a process that can be likened to the closing of a zipper.²⁸⁵ The nucleation point is formed by intra- and interchain disulfide bonds catalyzed by protein disulfide isomerase, a subunit of prolyl-4-hydroxylase.²⁸⁶ Folding and trimerization of procollagen of fibrillar collagens take place in the ER lumen, with the aid of many molecular chaperones and enzymes.²⁸⁷ Triple-helices are then transported to the Golgi apparatus, where lateral aggregation of procollagen trimers into bundles is promoted by decreasing volume of the Golgi cisternae.²⁸⁸

N- and C-propeptides are removed by procollagen N- and C-proteinases.²⁸⁹ N-proteinases are members of ADAMTS family^{290, 291} and C-proteinase is a member of the tolloid family of zinc metalloproteinases²⁹². The C-propeptides are important for association between monomeric procollagen chains,²⁹³ and they help determine chain selectivity²⁹⁴. Removal of the C-propeptide decreases critical concentration for collagen assembly, and, thus, triggers self-assembly of collagen into fibrils.²⁹⁵ This process is likened by Prockop to the process of crystallization: it occurs spontaneously, but requires critical concentration of monomer in solution, it is driven by large entropy changes from the loss of water from surface of monomer, and fiber formation has both a lag period and propagation phase.²⁹⁶

Procollagen is secreted by fibroblasts and other collagen-producing cells. The plasma membrane becomes highly convoluted during early collagen deposition; cross-sections show fibrils embedded in narrow channels surrounded by cell membrane.²⁹⁷ The growth of fibrils in the ECM proceeds through accumulation and lateral (side-by-side) and linear (end-to-end) fusion,²⁹⁸ with increases in fibril size and formation of crosslinks largely determining the strength of the resulting ECM.²⁷⁴ The enzyme lysyl oxidase induces stabilizing intra- and interchain covalent crosslinks²⁹⁹ through activation of lysine and hydroxylysine residues.³⁰⁰

Maturation of higher-order fibers continues by specific patterns of alignment. A banding pattern of 4.4 segments, with collagen molecules (each ~300 nm) quarter-staggered results in both overlap and a gap region, referred to as D-periodicity of 67 nm. Continued assembly with increased length and thickness, is controlled by tissue-specific factors to ensure correct conformation for future function.³⁰¹

The process of collagen modification through glycation increases with age, and the crosslinks acquired through several AGEs contribute to the increasing stiffness of collagen that occurs with advancing age.²⁷³

Regulation by, and interaction with, fibril-associated molecules

SLRPs are located on the surface of fibrils, and regulate fibrillogenesis through, for example, stabilization and control of fibril sizes.³⁰²⁻³⁰⁵ I will go into further detail on these proteins later in the section.

Collagen type I interacts with collagen type III during fibrillogenesis in tendons, and the interaction is thought to modulate the size of collagen type I.^{288, 306}

The FACIT collagen family, includes for example collagens type IX, XII, and XIV, in which multiple collagenous domains are separated by non-collagenous segments.²⁷⁴ The FACIT collagens may promote tissue integrity and plasticity,²⁷⁴ with differing specificities. Type IX collagen is associated with the surface of type II collagen.^{307, 308} Type XII and XIV are associated with the surface of type I fibrils,³⁰⁹ and are thought to stabilize fibril structure³¹⁰ and limit fibril diameter³¹¹, respectively. They also interact with other collagen-associated molecules, such as SLRPs,²⁷⁶ perlecan³¹² and N-proteinase³¹³.

Basement membranes

Basolateral to cell monolayers are basement membranes made up of 50-100 nm layers of specialized ECM,^{16, 119} containing four primary components: laminins, collagen type IV, nidogen and perlecan. These sheet-like, cell-adherent membranes are vital for tissue organization and differentiation, and, underlying epithelia as well as vascular endothelia, they can surround individual cells or functional units. Attachment to cells seems to be mainly through laminins to cell surface sulfated glycolipids and transmembrane receptors.³¹⁴

Basement membranes mediate specialized attachments between tissues. They also separate cell monolayers from underlying connective tissue, provide structural support for cells and influences and modifies cellular behavior via outside-in signaling.³¹⁴

Self-assembly drives basement membrane formation. Collagen type IV suprastructure and laminin polymers make up the basic framework, with nidogen and perlecan bridging the networks, increasing their stability and influencing structural integrity (figure 7).³¹⁵ Cell surfaces, on which basement membranes form, are suggested to provide a nucleation surface for laminin, with critical, and likely tissue-specific, surface molecules marking the appropriate surfaces.³¹⁴ Dystroglycan, appearing later in this chapter, has been suggested to be one such anchoring molecule.³¹⁶



Figure 7:

The primary components of basement membranes (schematic view).

Basement membranes are coupled to the cells through integrins and dystroglycan of the plasma membranes. These proteins participate in basement membrane regulatory function as both signaling receptors and as direct links to the cytoskeleton.³¹⁴

Basement membrane remodeling after damage includes *de novo* deposition of proteins, self-assembly and network formation. During this process cell behavior is influenced by the altered basement membrane composition as well as by exposed cryptic binding sites which promote tissue repair processes, such as immune cell recruitment and fibroblast activation.³¹⁷⁻³²⁰

Laminin

Laminin is the most abundant non-collagenous protein in the basement membrane.³¹⁵ It exists as α - β - γ heterotrimers; a middle chain (α) with two arms (β and γ) usually depicted as a cross-like formation. In all, there are eleven different laminin chains – α 1-5, β 1-3, γ 1-3. The monomer grouping is based on sequence identity and protein domain organization. Expression of isotypes varies depending on cell type.³¹⁴

The N-terminal region of each subunit ("the arms and top part of the cross") usually begins with a globular domain, followed by a rod-like region of epidermal growth factor repeats as well as two additional globular domains.³¹⁴ Ionic interac-

tions in the Golgi apparatus favor $\beta\gamma$ dimer formation. The heterotrimer is then stabilized and secreted upon incorporation of the α -chain.³²¹ Laminin next self-assembles into a network through globular domain VI of each chain.³²² Laminin trimers bind to each other through the N-terminal globular domain at the end of each arm.^{323, 324}

Laminin seems to be essential for organization of basement membrane assembly. Purified laminin can alone assemble sheet-like ECM on cell surfaces *in vitro*³²³ and basement membranes fail to form in a given tissue after tissue-specific elimination of laminin expression, while progressing normally in non-mutated tissues.^{325, 326} In contrast, the main effects of type IV collagen, nidogens and per-lecan may be to enhance membrane stability.

Type IV Collagen

Type IV collagen makes up around 50% of basement membranes. It provides structural integrity through collagenous domains of repetitive Gly-X-Y. Flexibility is brought by short sequence interruptions, and, being a nonfibrillar collagen, collagen type IV also contains globular and rod like, non-collagenous (NC) domains.

Collagen type IV protomers form in the Golgi apparatus, and, after secretion, six protomers interact to self-assemble into a hexamer.^{327, 328} N-terminals of different collagen type IV chains spontaneously interact to form a multimeric complex. This self-assembled collagen type IV network is stabilized by covalent crosslinks involving disulfide and lysyl oxidase,³²⁹⁻³³¹ as well as through lateral associations between parallel collagenous filaments.³³² The network can extend indefinitely through C-terminal globular domains,³³³ and is thought to provide protection against mechanical stress.³¹⁴

Nidogen

Nidogens (or entactins) are glycoproteins, constituting 2-3% of basement membranes.³³⁴ The core protein is made up of three globular domains with intervening rod-like segments,³³⁵ and is thought to stabilize and tether the laminin/collagen type IV networks; the third globular domain binds strongly to laminins³³⁶ while the second binds to collagen type IV, perlecan and fibulins³³⁷.

Nidogens do not self-assemble, instead they are secreted as single molecules that integrate and bind to the laminin polymer and type IV collagen suprastructure.³³⁸

Perlecan

The perlecan of basement membranes is a large heparan sulfate proteoglycan,³³⁹ assembling in a way similar to nidogen.³¹⁵ It binds numerous basement membrane components, including nidogen, integrin $\alpha 2\beta 1$ and α -dystroglycan. Through its N-terminal HS-chains it binds laminins and collagen type IV, and through this region perlecan may also bind/sequester growth factors.³¹⁴

Heterogeneity

Basement membrane composition is diverse, tissue specific and dynamic –there are 15 possible laminin heterotrimers and 6 possible collagen protomers, as well as additional splice variants. Differentially regulated genes drive tissue-specific upand down-regulation and posttranslational modifications modulate function and binding affinities to other basement membrane components.³¹⁵

Basement membrane specificity is also derived from additional components, including agrin, fibulin, type XV and XVIII collagens and osteonectin,³¹⁴ allowing it to perform highly specialized functions in different tissues.

"The puppet master" – the ECM controls cell behavior

Like chocolate chips in a cookie, cells are surrounded by the ECM (though, of course, in a slightly more organized manner). The ECM affects and controls cell behavior – different components have different effects, and even differing states of one particular component may result in different manners of cell regulation. For example, SMC proliferation is inhibited by components of a "normal, healthy" ECM/basement membrane, such as heparin³⁴⁰ and heparan sulfate proteoglycans, including syndecan and perlecan in basement membrane, as well as laminin.^{133, 134, 341}

Collagen exerts differential effects on cells depending on its fibrillar structure. Monomeric collagen type I has been shown to stimulates both SMC proliferation¹³⁰ and migration¹³⁰⁻¹³² *in vitro*, while the polymeric (fibrillar) form had inhibitory effects. Specifically, fibrillar collagen was found to up-regulate cyclin-dependent kinase-2 inhibitors through regulatory effects in early integrin signaling.¹³⁰

The monomeric/polymeric state of type I collagen affects macrophages as well as SMCs. Seeding on fibrillar type I collagen inhibited spreading and synthesis of MMP-9, whereas the monomeric form promoted it.¹³⁵ In addition, both phagocytic activity¹³⁷ and LDL-uptake¹³⁶ have been reportedly influenced by type I collagen.

SLRPs

The SLRPs are a structurally and functionally related group of proteins. They are involved in ECM organization and affect cell behavior, such as adhesion, often through interactions with collagen.^{342, 343} Kalamajski and Oldberg³⁴² suggest that the SLRPs may regulate intermolecular cross linking of collagen, either by inferring a specific cross-linking pattern or providing sterical hindrance, thus selecting the collagen lysine residues available for lysyl oxidase.

The SLRPs belong to the leucin-rich repeat (LRR) superfamily, but with a protein core mass averaging at around 40 kDa, they are – as the name implies – smaller than other LRR family members, such as versican and aggrecan with masses greater than 200 kDa.³⁴⁴ Five different classes have been determined by sequence identity: class I includes biglycan, decorin and asporin, class II includes fibromodulin, lumican, keratocan, proline/arginine-rich end leucine-rich repeat protein (PRELP) and osteoadherin, class III includes epiphycan, osteoglycin and opticin, class IV includes chondroadherin, and class V includes podocan.³⁴⁵ Since they are found in clusters on different chromosomes, they appear to have arisen from several duplication events.³⁴⁴

The structure of the LRR-protein ribonuclease inhibitor has been visualized through X-ray crystallography, and the final shape of the core protein, made up of alternating α -helices and β -sheets stabilized by hydrogen bonds, can be likened to the bent shape of a horseshoe.³⁴⁶ Extrapolating from this structure, a similar configuration was suggested for the SLRPs, with the inner curvature able to accommodate a single collagen triple helix.³⁴⁷ However, it has later been reported that the decorin core protein is less curved than the ribonuclease inhibitor. The variation, at least in part, is due to the shorter LRRs in decorin (21 or 24 amino acids in comparison to 28/29 in the ribonuclease inhibitor), and the inter-repeat angles suggest more of a "banana"-like shape for proteins with relatively short LRRs.³⁴³

The SLRPs share one common, 20-29 amino acid long, LRR domain consisting of 10-11 internal tandem repeats. The motif LxxLxLxxNxL is included, where x represents any amino acid and L (leucine) may be substituted by other hydrophobic amino acid residues, such as isoleucine or valine.³⁴³

The N-terminal domains are the least conserved, but all contain four cysteine residues that form intrachain disulfide bonds³⁴⁸, unique for the SLRPs and also appearing in the C-terminus.³⁴⁸ The core protein is often modified by carbohydrates, for instance by GAG chains in decorin and biglycan, and tyrosine-sulfate residues in fibromodulin and lumican. Polyanionic properties are derived from these negatively charged residues,³⁰³ and the core protein and the glycosylation state together determine function. For example, SLPRs may accumulate growth factors within the ECM through interaction with GAG chains.³⁴⁹



Figure 8: The structure of fibromodulin.

Fibromodulin

The general characteristics of fibromodulin

Fibromodulin (figure 8) is a 59-kDa SLRP. It was initially purified from bovine articular cartilage, and is present in all cartilage, representing 0.1-0.3% of the wet weight. Fibromodulin also appears in variable amounts in other connective tissues, such as tendon, ligaments and sclera.³⁵⁰ In mature tissues fibromodulin is mainly expressed in tissues exposed to tensile stress, such as tendons and cartilage.^{350, 351} The molecular weight of fibromodulin is found to be, at least in part, dependent on tissue – it has been reported as 59 kDa in cartilage³⁵⁰, 40 kDa in dental tissue and 52 kDa in alveolar bone³⁵².

In terms of amino acid composition, 14% of all residues are represented by leucine. Oldberg et al. determined the primary structure of fibromodulin from bovine tracheal chondrocyte mRNA – and found an overall 90% sequence homology to human fibromodulin.^{351, 353} A 93% homology exists between bovine and murine fibromodulin.³⁰³ Similar to other SLPRs in size and general structure with cysteine residues in conserved positions, fibromodulin is made up of 375 amino acids, with a predicted molecular weight of 42.2 kDa. The weight was originally found to be 59 kDa through analysis by sodium dodecyl sulfate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis, SDS-PAGE – this discrepancy can explained by anomalies in electrophoretic behavior due to carbohydrate substitution. Around 10-11 repeats of ~23 residues make up 60% of the core protein, the region located in the middle of the protein, flanked by non-repeat domains.³⁵¹

Fibromodulin has 9 potential sites for O-sulfation of tyrosine residues in the N-terminus of the bovine form, and 11 sites in the human form.³⁵⁴ Presence of tyrosine sulfate residues is confirmed in chondrocytes, sclera, tendon, fibroblasts and a fibroblast cell line. Only the N-terminus can carry sulfate substituents, which, adjacent to an acidic residue, can be modified by tyrosylprotein sulfotransferase.³⁵⁵

The N-terminal tyrosine sulfate domain is highly anionic, and has been found to bind the heparin-binding PRELP, basic fibroblast growth factor-2, MMP13, chondroadherin, IL-10 and the NC4 domain of collagen type IX, though neither fibronectin nor antithrombin III. The interaction involves the sulfations and it has been suggested that tyrosine sulfate residues sequester enzymes, growth factors and cytokines to specific structures in the tissue, and interact with for example PRELP and chondroadherin bound to a neighboring collagen fibril.³⁵⁶

Fibromodulin contain Asn-X-Ser/Thr sequences; potential sites for N-glycosylation, through which they are substituted with keratan sulfate chains.³⁵¹ Four sites seem to serve as acceptors for keratan sulfate,^{355, 357} and substitutions are found in fibroblasts in sclera and tendon³⁵⁵, but not skeletal tissue (at least of ro-dent origin).³⁵⁸ Keratan sulfate chains are attached to the core protein via N-glycosidic linkage to asparagine.³⁵¹ Plaas et al. found keratan sulfate present at four out of five potential consensus sites for N-glycosylation in the LRR domain.³⁵⁷ Differing keratan sulfate capping structures have been reported,³⁵⁹ suggesting that cartilage may contain discrete populations of fibromodulin that may in turn have different roles in tissue.

Lumican³⁶⁰ is a close homologue to fibromodulin with ~50% identity.³⁶¹ Lumican appear as a keratan sulfate proteoglycan primarily in the cornea, and exists as a classical glycoprotein in skin and cartilage.³⁶² Thus, glycosylation of lumican appears to be tissue-specific, developmentally regulated³⁶³ and dependent on age³⁶⁴. Keratan sulfate is not required for binding to collagen,³⁶⁵ and, in cartilage, the size of the keratan sulfate decrease with age.³⁶⁴

Mice deficient in fibromodulin (and other SLRPs)

Fibromodulin-deficient mice have no obvious phenotype. They are viable, fertile, and have normal body weight and life-span. Structure of the heart, liver, lung, kidney, skin, and cartilage is normal, but tendons and ligaments are weakened.³⁶⁶ Fibromodulin-deficient mice are predisposed to ectopic tendon ossification and develop osteoarthritis.³⁶⁶⁻³⁶⁸ Morphological changes in collagen fibers provided

information on fibromodulin's role in collagen fibrillogenesis – which is more closely discussed in following sections. 366

Lumican-deficient mice have opaque corneas, which progress with age, and fragile skin.³⁶⁹ Collagen fibers are irregular, thicker, and loosely packed, especially in the cornea.^{369, 370}

Double knockout mice lacking both fibromodulin and lumican are viable and fertile, but have a reduced body weight, bowed legs, gait abnormalities.^{371, 372} and a thinner sclera.³⁷³

Biglycan³⁷⁴ and decorin^{375, 376} are CS/DS proteoglycans: biglycan usually carries two sulfations, while decorin only carries one.³⁴⁴ Biglycan is involved in regulation of skeletal growth, and knockout mice grow more slowly and develop osteoporosis.³⁷⁷. Collagen fibril diameter in tendons and patella is decreased, while an increase is found in bone and skin dermis.^{368, 378} Biglycan also binds α dystroglycan³⁷⁹ and α - and γ -sarcoglycan³⁸⁰ (of the dystrophin glycoprotein complex in the sarcolemma), and mild muscular dystrophy is present in mice with biglycan deficiency³⁸¹. In decorin-deficient mice,³⁸² similar defects in collagen fibrils are evident as seen with biglycan-deficiency, with the additional tissuespecific variation in range, size, orientation and distribution profiles.^{378, 382, 383} These mice also have fragile skin with reduced tensile strength, similar to the human condition Ehlers-Danlos syndrome.³⁸²

Biglycan/decorin double knockout mice have a more severe phenotype in bone and collagen fibril ultrastructure. They are not fertile, and are born by heterozy-gous parents in lower than expected Mendelian frequencies.³⁷⁸

Collagen binding and fibrillogenesis

Collagen binding

Fibromodulin interacts with collagen type I and II and delays fibrillogenesis, even in small concentrations (<5% w/w).³⁸⁴ Fibromodulin binds to collagen through the core protein, through which it also binds collagen type XII.²⁷⁶ Hedbom et al. has reported that fibromodulin does not bind denatured collagen.³⁰⁴

A collagen-binding site is located in the C-terminus of the LRR domain, specifically in the β -sheet-loop region of LRR 11, mediated by glutamic acid-353 and lysine-355, which are both essential for collagen binding. An additional, weaker, collagen-binding site is found in LRRs 5–7, possibly mediated through glutamic acid-251.³⁸⁵ Lumican binds collagen through aspartic acid-213 in LRR 7, located to the β -sheet loop region of the LRR domain³⁸⁵ and in a similar region as the

decorin collagen-binding site³⁸⁶. Fibromodulin competes with lumican for collagen binding through the low affinity collagen-binding site in LRR 5-7, but not through the high affinity site in LRR 11.³⁸⁷

Fibromodulin is thought to replace collagen-bound lumican during the process of fibril growth, possibly through an increase in the ratio of fibromodulin/lumican synthesis.³⁰³ This suggests a potential role for the SLRPs in the cross-linking of collagen fibrils – both fibromodulin and lumican may regulate the initial cross-linking, but only fibromodulin is capable of further cross-linking as fibrillogenesis progresses, possibly by connecting two collagen units through simultaneous binding, utilizing both binding sites.³⁸⁷

A third collagen binding site was recently reported, as the negatively charged Nterminus also was found to interact with collagen type I. Simultaneous binding to two collagen molecules can only be achieved by full-length fibromodulin, and not by a truncated protein missing the N-terminal region. This region was also found to accelerate collagen fibril formation *in vitro*, and promote a more organized fibril structure.³⁸⁸

Immunoreactivity, visualized by electron microscopy, can be seen close to, or at, the surface of collagen fibrils in cartilage. Fibromodulin presence is lowest close to cells, and highest in the interterritorial matrix. Distribution along fibrils is highly variable, likely an effect of functions such as the regulation of fibrillogenesis. Fibromodulin preferentially binds to the gap region of assembled collagen fibrils, and dose-dependent effect of fibromodulin levels on collagen fibril mean diameter has been found.³⁰²

Collagen fibrillogenesis

Collagen fibrils in the fibromodulin-deficient tendon are abnormal. Fibrils are less organized, with unevenly distributed cells and a reduction in endotendon tissue. There is a 25-55% reduction in fiber bundles, and fibrils are irregularly shaped, on average thinner, and contain a higher proportion of thin fibrils compared to the wild type. 10-20% of collagen bundles are abnormal in the heterozygote.³⁶⁶

In tails and the Achilles tendon, fibromodulin is present in the collagen bundles of tendons, with a weaker presence in dermis. Lumican appear preferentially in the dermis and peritendon tissue. There is an increased staining of lumican in fibro-modulin-deficient mice, and staining also shows increased expression in the collagen fiber bundles. On a protein level, decorin expression remains unchanged, but lumican expression is increased 2-fold in tails and 3 to 5-fold in tendon. mRNA expression is, however, decreased, perhaps due to negative feedback derived from the dramatic increase in protein levels.³⁶⁶ A similar increase in fibromodulin levels is not present in lumican-deficient mice.³⁷²

Fibromodulin's role in collagen fibrillogenesis is thought to be in the regulation and stabilization of the initial assembly of collagen monomers into short, small-diameter intermediates and the beginning of fibril growth. Fibromodulin also regulates growth of intermediate fibrils into mature large diameter fibrils.³⁷¹

While lumican expression peaks ~8 days postnatally, followed by a dramatic decrease, fibromodulin peaks at 14 days postnatally, followed by a slow and slight decrease until 1month postnatally, and then ending in a dramatic decrease. Expression peaks suggests that lumican may be active during early fibrillogenesis, whereas fibromodulin functions through all stages, but is more relevant in the later stages.³⁷¹

Ezura et al³⁷¹ compared collagen fibrils in lumican-, fibromodulin- and lumican/fibromodulin-deficient tendons. The primary alterations in collagen appeared to be of four categories:

- Irregular fibril profiles present in all three genotypes by the age of 3 months – very mild in lumican deficiency, intermediate in fibromodulin deficiency and very severe in double-deficient mice.
- □ A shift to increased diameters of fibril intermediates during early development was present in all genotypes. The premature generation of heterogeneous population in the double-deficient tendons may be explained by either an additive effect of lacking both lumican and fibromodulin, or a premature entry into the growth phase during the initial fibril assembly due to absence of a regulatory block.
- □ A large number of small-diameter (64 nm) fibrils were found in later stages of development in double-deficient mice, indicating a defect in entering and progressing through the fibril growth phase.
- ⋊ A shift towards smaller fibrils 10 days postnatally. In lumican-deficient mice, fibril size returns to a wild type-like phenotype after 1-3 months, but the shift remained in fibromodulin- and double-deficient mice, The defect in transition through later growth stages during maturation of fibrils, again indicating that mainly fibromodulin is required for regulation of the later stages.

As a result, the following model of collagen fibril growth is hypothesized: Regulation takes place through changing expression patterns of lumican and fibromodulin, with lumican decreasing to barely detectable levels as fibromodulin increases. The stage-specific function likely stems from differential expression and synthesis patterns. The initial step in fibrillogenesis – assembly of monomeres into intermediates – and stabilization of the resulting intermediates (~64 nm) in order to mediate fibril growth is regulated by both lumican and fibromodulin, while the later stages are regulated solely by fibromodulin.³⁷¹

Other effects of fibromodulin

Calcification

Fibromodulin has a role in mineralization and calcification; it is expressed in mouse chondroblasts and osteoblasts during fetal bone development³⁸⁹ as well as in adult bone³⁹⁰. In calcified tendinopathy in rat, fibromodulin was found in chondrocyte-like cells both in uncalcified matrix and calcified deposits.³⁹¹ Finally, increased fibromodulin expression was found during mineralization *in vitro*³⁹² as well as in tooth maturation.³⁹³ and dentin mineralization. Enamel formation has been shown to be delayed in fibromodulin deficient mice.³⁹⁴

Hormonal control

Collagen remodeling, and fibromodulin expression, occur in a hormone-dependent manner. In ovariectomized mice, Markiewicz et al³⁹⁵ observed a reduced expression of fibromodulin mRNA. Whereas no qualitative difference was seen in collagen fibrils, there was an increase in freshly synthesized fibers, suggesting a role for estrogen in regulating organization and stability of collagen fibrils.

Direct regulation of fibromodulin by estrogen and progesterone has also been reported. During the menstrual cycle, fibromodulin expression in the myometrium is higher in the secretory, progesterone-dominated phase than in the proliferative, estrogen-dominated phase.³⁹⁶ The role of fibromodulin may be in myometrium remodeling, as, in mice, fibromodulin mRNA expression was higher in diestrous (progesterone dominance) than estrous (estrogen dominance). Estrogen appear to negatively regulate fibromodulin expression, since ovariectomy resulted in an increase in fibromodulin mRNA compared to estrous, while estrogen-treatment lead to a reduction of fibromodulin mRNA.³⁹⁷

Other interactions

Fibromodulin was recently reported to enhance angiogenesis (*in vivo, in ovo* chick embryo). Fibromodulin also accelerated cell adhesion, spreading, actin stress fiber formation, and tube-like structure network establishment in human umbilical vein endothelial cells *in vitro*.³⁹⁸ Moreover, fibromodulin expression has been found, by mass spectrometry, in carotid and thoracic artery intimal hyperplasia, though it was present in similar amounts in the atherosclerosis-prone carotid artery, and in the atherosclerotic-resistant thoracic artery.³⁹⁹.

Fibromodulin binds TGF- β (1, 2 and 3) through a conserved region of the core protein. Slight differences between the TGF- β binding properties of decorin, bi-glycan and fibromodulin may indicate differing regulation of TGF- β sequestering and/or activities.⁴⁰⁰ Fibromodulin is reportedly regulated by TGF- β in granulation tissue (through expression by fibroblasts)⁴⁰¹ and in intervertebral disc during development.⁴⁰²

Collagen-bound fibromodulin is cleaved by MMP-13. The cleavage site is located in the N-terminus, and the N-terminal fragment is lost upon cleavage, while the larger fragment is retained in cartilage – and presumably still bound to collagen fibrils.⁴⁰³ This cleavage of fibromodulin has been suggested by Monfort et al. to represent an early critical event in cartilage degradation in for example osteoarthritis.⁴⁰⁴ Fibromodulin is also suggested to actually protect collagen from collagenase degradation by MMP1 and -13.⁴⁰⁵

A role for fibromodulin in promoting pluripotency in stem cells⁴⁰⁶ and helping to maintain/organize the endogenous stem cell niche in tendon⁴⁰⁷ has also been proposed.

Fibromodulin expression is induced by reactive oxygen species in the liver,⁴⁰⁸ and by ultraviolet (UV) radiation *in vitro*; UVC^{409} as well as UVA and UVB^{410} irradiation.

Fibromodulin and pathologies

Wound healing

Fibromodulin affects ECM structure and remodeling in the process of wound healing⁴¹¹. In fibromodulin-deficient mice, the area of fibrosis is increased. The resulting scars are larger with disordered collagen fibers that are irregular in size and shape. Fibromodulin is also downregulated in, for example, hypertrophic scarring⁴¹²

Fibromodulin and cancer

Several studies have shown fibromodulin to have an active role in the progression of cancer. Its expression is enhanced in metastatic melanoma (along with bi-glycan)⁴¹³, and Mikaelsson et al⁴¹⁴ found fibromodulin to be the most overexpressed gene in B-cell chronic lymphocytic leukemia (B-CLL). The ectopic expression is speculated to facilitate the interaction between B-CLL cells and the microenvironment; an interaction often essential for cancer cell survival. Spontaneous expansion of CD8+ T cells recognizing fibromodulin peptides in these pa-

tients was reported by Mayr et al., proposing fibromodulin to be a novel tumorassociated antigen.⁴¹⁵ In addition, Choudhury et al. later found that apoptosis in CLL cells, but not B cells, from healthy donors, was increased upon introduction of small interfering RNA (siRNA) to fibromodulin *in vitro*.⁴¹⁶

In patients with colorectal cancer fibromodulin has been detected in the desmoplastic stroma surrounding the tumor. ECM of this kind is of high density and is induced through contact between colorectal cancer cells and surrounding fibroblasts, exhibiting unorganized collagen fibers and proteoglycans.⁴¹⁷ This is corroborated by a study by Oldberg et al.⁴¹⁸ in which fibromodulin-deficient mice were found to exhibit thinner and fewer collagen fiber bundles in tumor stroma, as well as a decreased density of the collagen scaffold. The accompanying lowering of the interstitial fluid pressure (IFP) may be of importance in the delivery of anticancer drugs, which can be restricted by the high IFP normally found in tumor stroma.

Other pathologies

Fibromodulin expression is upregulated in osteoarthritis,⁴¹⁹ and fibromodulin cleavage in the breakdown of rheumatoid or osteoarthritic cartilage may precede the major collagen destruction in this tissue.^{403, 420}

Fibromodulin has also been found to promote liver fibrosis: higher fibromodulin levels were found in livers from patients suffering from cirrhosis. Fibromodulin was bound to collagen type I, but did not protect collagen fibers from degradation by MMP13. Over-expression of fibromodulin resulted in an increased expression of collagen type I and smooth muscle α -actin (α -SMA) in hepatic stellate cells and addition of recombinant fibromodulin promoted proliferation, migration, chemotaxis of these cells.⁴⁰⁸ An increased fibromodulin expression is also found in bleomycin-induced lung fibrosis in rat.⁴²¹

Enhanced fibromodulin expression is associated with both normal $aging^{422}$ and progeria⁴²³. In addition, structural changes in fibromodulin associated with aging are found in articular cartilage.³⁶⁴

Fibromodulin is directly associated with induction of inflammation, and has been shown to bind complement cascade component C1q, complement inhibitor factor H and complement inhibitor C4b-binding protein.^{424.426} The simultaneous binding to complement inhibitors was found to regulate the ability of fibromodulin to activate the classical and alternative pathways of the complement system.⁴²⁴

The majority of studies focuses on the expression of fibromodulin – increased or decreased, present or absent – with only a few studies delineating effects of mutations. Nevertheless, point mutations in the LRR domain is reportedly linked with

high myopia.⁴²⁷ Fibromodulin also seems to be involved in fibrillogenesis in postnatal development of the limbus – the transition between corneal and scleral stromas – during early corneal development. Its pattern overlaps with lumican, suggesting a cooperation. Fibromodulin expression may in this case be triggered by a change in mechanical stress⁴²⁸ – perhaps somewhat reflective of what happens with fibromodulin in the atherosclerotic plaques of Papers I and II of this thesis.

Dystrophin: Connecting the cell to the extracellular matrix

Cells have several ways in which they bind to, associate with and communicate with the ECM. While the previous section explored the architecture of the extracellular environment itself, this section addresses one of these connections: dystrophin and the dystrophin-glycoprotein complex (DGC; figure 9). Dystrophin – or rather, the lack of dystrophin – has previously been (and still is) thoroughly investigated as it is an essential element in Duchenne muscular dystrophy (DMD).

Dystrophin is located at the cytoplasmic face of the sarcolemma,⁴²⁹⁻⁴³¹ and is thought to function as a stabilization against mechanical forces during muscle contraction and stretch. This conclusion is drawn from several observations in DMD patients and dystrophin-deficient mice, showing that sarcolemmal fragility⁴³²⁻⁴³⁴, muscle weakness ^{435, 436} and necrosis ⁴³⁷ are all exacerbated by mechanical stress,^{434, 438, 439} but improved by muscle immobilization,^{440, 441} and corrected in dystrophin-deficient mice by transgenic expression of full-length dystrophin.⁴³⁶

The dystrophin gene is located to the X-chromosome, and DMD is caused, through recessive inheritance, by a defective copy of this gene.⁴⁴² Dystrophin is, thus, absent in muscle tissue in DMD-afflicted humans^{429-431, 443} as well as in mice with the mdx mutation⁴⁴², a commonly used animal model for DMD. DMD affects one in 3500 male births.⁴⁴⁴ Progressive muscle wasting, with clinical onset at 3-5 years of age, shortens life expectancy to 20-30 years due to respiratory failure.⁴⁴⁵ Becker muscular dystrophy is the same disease in a milder form, resulting from different mutations in the dystrophin gene, leading to low-level expression of a truncated dystrophin protein.^{446, 447}

The dystrophin protein is made up of four major domains. At the N-terminal a pair of calponin homology modules form an actin binding domain.⁴⁴⁸ It is followed by 24 triple helical spectrin-like repeats interspersed with four putative hinge do





mains – this is the largest domain,⁴⁴⁸ and it gives dystrophin its elongated, flexible rod shape. Next is a cysteine-rich domain consisting of four modules: two EF hand-like motifs,⁴⁴⁹ a WW domain⁴⁵⁰ and a putative zinc finger ZZ domain,⁴⁵¹ which together is essential for the binding of dystrophin to β -dystroglycan of the DGC^{452, 453}. The final domain is the C-terminal, with which it associates with the DGC.

The 79 exons^{455, 456} of the dystrophin gene translates into a 427 kDa protein in skeletal muscle.^{442, 449} Through differential promoter usage of four internal promoters it may also appear as several short isoforms; Dp260, Dp140, Dp116, Dp71 (based on protein weights).⁴⁵⁷ Dp260 is primarily found in the other plexiform layer of the retina.⁴⁵⁸Dp116 and Dp140 are mainly expressed in peripheral⁴⁵⁹ and central nervous system and kidney⁴⁶⁰, respectively. Dp71is ubiquitously expressed in many tissues,^{461, 462} such as cardiac muscle,⁴⁶³ retinal blood vessels,⁴⁵⁷, liver, testis, lung, kidney – but it is not found in skeletal muscle.⁴⁶⁴

Utrophin⁴⁶⁵ is a close homologue to dystrophin, and the two proteins are suggested to stem from an ancient gene duplication event.⁴⁶⁶ Like dystrophin, it contains an N-terminal actin-binding domain, a central spectrin-like repeat region, and a C-terminal domain that binds the DGC.⁴⁶⁷ Utrophin is expressed throughout the sar-50

colemma in fetal and regenerating muscle, but is down-regulated at birth, and later restricted to myotendinous and neuromuscular junctions in normal adult muscle.⁴⁶⁸ It is, however, expressed in nearly all non-muscle tissues, such as large and small arteries and veins,⁴⁶⁹ pulmonary endothelial cells ⁴⁷⁰, the nervous system,⁴⁷¹ plate-lets,⁴⁷² heart, liver, testis and kidney.⁴⁶² Compared to dystrophin, utrophin has a different mode of binding to actin filaments and β -dystroglycan⁴⁷³ and the two proteins do not compete for binding sites. Dystrophin binds actin filaments through two separate low-affinity sites and utrophin through one contiguous actin-binding domain.⁴⁷⁴ The stronger, more extensive lateral association with actin filaments carried out by utrophin⁴⁷⁵ is suggested to allow for a less elastic response of the actin-utrophin-sarcolemma linkage to muscle stretches, compared to a linkage involving dystrophin.

The dystrophin-glycoprotein complex

Dystrophin is a part of, and interacts with, the DGC; a large, hetero-oligomeric complex of membrane-associated and cytosolic proteins. Included in the DGC are also the dystroglycans (α , β), sarcoglycans (α , β , γ , δ), sarcospan, the syntrophins,^{454, 476-478} and the dystrobrevins⁴⁷⁹. The DGC binds both actin and laminin, providing a link between the actin cytoskeleton and the basement membrane of the ECM.⁴⁸⁰ The function of this connection is thought to protect skeletal muscle fibers from contraction-induced damage.^{439, 480, 481}

The glycoproteins α - and β -dystroglycan are encoded by a single transcript, and the resulting propertides are proteolytically processed into two non-covalently associated units – one extracellular unit (156 kDa), and one (43 kDa) single-pass transmembrane unit.⁴⁸¹ As stated in a previous section, β -dystroglycan binds to dystrophin (and utrophin)⁴⁸² through the cysteine-rich C-terminal domain.⁴⁸³ This binding anchors the DGC to the sarcolemma, where it participates in interactions with several ECM components. Its function depends on glycosylation sites, which are regulated in a tissue-specific manner.⁴⁸⁴ Dystroglycans are broadly expressed in both developing⁴⁸⁵ and adult tissues, including non-muscle tissues.⁴⁸⁶.

The sarcoglycans, α - (50 kDa⁴⁸⁷), β - (43 kDa⁴⁸⁸), γ - δ -(both 35 kDa^{489, 490}), are single pass transmembrane proteins. Together, they compose a stable tetrameric complex, suggested to strengthen the interaction of β -dystroglycan with α -dystroglycan and dystrophin. They stem from related, but distinct, genes, and mutations in one gene results in loss of entire complex. The smaller sarcospan (25 kDa)⁴⁹¹ is stably associated with the sarcoglycan complex.

The dystrobrevins and syntrophins – 88 and 59 kDa respectively^{479, 492, 493} – are cytoplasmic proteins, binding to each other and the C-terminal of dystrophin.⁴⁹³ α -dystrobrevin also interacts with the sarcoglycan complex.⁴⁹⁴

Many binding partners to the DGC have been described. Laminin is an extracellular ligand for α -dystroglycan,^{480, 481} High affinity binding has also been described between agrins, neurexins and perlecan to α -dystroglycan, the different associations dependent on oligosaccharide modifications.^{495, 496} Biglycan binds the core protein of α -dystroglycan via its CS chains.^{495, 496} Binding often takes place in order to couple DGC with other structural elements of muscle; such as synemin⁴⁹⁷, syncoilin^{498, 499}, myospryn⁵⁰⁰, γ -filamin⁵⁰¹, and cytokeratins 8 and 19⁵⁰².

Utrophin can interact with the DGC in a manner similar to dystrophin, forming the utrophin-glycoprotein complex (UGC).⁵⁰³ A particular UGC exists in ECs, which may have a role in mechanotransduction through association with endothelial NOS in caveolar domains.⁵⁰⁴ In SMCs, an UGC and DGC have been described to interact with caveolin-1 in caveolae,^{505, 506} but the UGC has also been shown to localize to non-caveolae lipid raft domains.⁵⁰⁵

Mice deficient in DGC components

Muscular dystrophy is evident in mice deficient in dystroglycan.^{507, 508} Loss of any of the sarcoglycans result in limb-girdle muscular dystrophy in humans, appearing as progressive muscular dystrophy in mice.⁵⁰⁹

A progressive, though mild, myopathy has been reported in mice deficient in α -dystrobrevin,⁵¹⁰ whereas none is seen in mice deficient in syntrophin, suggesting a function as modular adaptors (or scaffolds) to anchor, and regulate surface expression of ion channels and signaling molecules to the DGC.^{511 512} Neither humans, nor mice, exhibit any myopathy as a result of mutations in sarcospan.⁵¹³

The mdx mouse

The dystrophin-deficient mdx (X-chromosome-linked muscular dystrophy) mouse – explored in Papers III and IV of this thesis – has slightly reduced viability and fertility, and the creatinine kinase plasma level is elevated.⁵¹⁴ The loss of dystrophin is due to a point mutation – a substitution – in exon 23⁵¹⁵, causing a premature stop codon that terminates translation of the polypeptide chain.⁵¹⁶ With the exception of rare revertant myofibers, there is no detectable dystrophin expression found in the skeletal muscle of mdx mice.⁴⁴² On the other hand, expression of the short, C-terminal isoform Dp71 is unaffected.^{457, 517} Mdx mice develop muscular dystrophy, though, in most skeletal muscles, with the exception of the diaphragm,

in a form that is milder than DMD^{518} in that the initial dystrophic muscle regenerate to some extent.⁵¹⁹

Dp71 mRNA does not contain the region of dystrophin mRNA containing the unfortunate stop codon that causes the mdx mutation. Thus, it contains the C-terminal, the cysteine-rich domains, and seven additional N-terminal amino acids – with some possible modifications produced by alternative splicing in the C-terminal domain. Lacking in Dp71 are the spectrin-like repeats along with the actin-binding N-terminal domain. Dp71 is expressed in brain, liver, and smooth muscle of the stomach, both in wild type and mdx mice – however, Dp71 is undetectable in both wild type and mdx skeletal muscle.⁴⁶¹

The rest of the DGC components – the dystroglycans, sarcoglycans, syntrophin and dystrobrevins – are reportedly downregulated in the mdx mouse ^{503, 522}In contrast, other molecules have been found to be upregulated in mdx mice, likely due to compensatory cytoskeletal remodeling, such as γ -actin, ⁵²³ $\alpha7\beta1$ -integrin, ^{524, 525}, biglycan, ³⁷⁹ and utrophin ^{475, 526, 527}.

While the natural upregulation of utrophin in mdx muscle fails to reach an expression level sufficient to compensate for the deficiency of dystrophin,⁴⁷⁴ transgenic overexpression of utrophin ⁵²⁸ – and also α 7-integrin⁵²⁹ – do rescue the dystrophic phenotype.

Mice deficient in utrophin display no obvious morphological defects; they breed normally and have a normal lifespan.⁵²⁰ In contrast, mice lacking both dystrophin and utrophin exhibit a severe muscular deficiency phenotype, similar to DMD.^{520, 521}

Dystrophin in blood vessels

Dystrophin is normally expressed in the tunica media of blood vessels, but is absent from vessels in mdx mice.⁵³⁰⁻⁵³² Expression has been described in both large arteries and large veins, but only in small arteries – the common denominator being that all are vessels with contractile properties, suggesting active involvement by dystrophin in the mechanical resistance of muscle membranes.⁴⁶⁹ In the carotid artery, dystrophin is expressed by both vascular SMCs as well as ECs.⁵³³ The DGC of vascular SMCs has a specific profile of proteins, containing dystrophin, α and β -dystroglycan, ϵ -, β -, δ -, and γ - or ζ -sarcoglycan and sarcospan.^{534, 535} Integrity of the cytoskeleton is preserved in mdx SMCs *in vitro*, but cell contractile ability differs, with contractions being less stable over time.⁵²⁷

Biomechanical properties are altered in mdx arteries – vessels are distended less, and there is greater circumferential and axial stiffness.⁵³⁶ Loufrani et al. has inves-

tigated the role of dystrophin in vascular function,⁵³³ using the mdx mouse, and found changes in the vessel wall; wall-to-lumen ratio was larger, and compliance and distensibility was less – in contrast, wall thickness and diameter was similar in wild type and mdx mice. In most respects, vascular reactivity, including blood pressure, was normal in the mdx mouse. However, flow (shear stress)-induced dilation is strongly reduced in the carotid and mesenteric arteries, representing compliance and resistance arteries, respectively. Since pressure (tensile stress)induced tone is unaffected, the defect specifically concerns mechanotransduction of shear stress at the surface of ECs, and not pressure exerted on the whole vessel wall. Thus, endothelium-dependent vasorelaxation induced by flow (shear stress) is strongly attenuated in the mdx mouse.⁵³³ Tronc et al. found flow-induced NO to be the main determinant of vascular remodeling in large compliance arteries, such as the carotid artery.⁵³⁷ Therefore, the decreased ability of ECs to produce NO in response to shear stress (and thus, achieve vessel dilation) suggests a lesser ability to adapt to increased blood flow in tissue, such as skeletal muscle, where a metabolic need requires higher blood flow supply. 533, 538

Both vascular and dystrophic phenotypes were improved in transgenic mdx mice that expressed dystrophin in smooth muscle only. Vasoconstriction induced by norepinephrine increased with smooth muscle dystrophin-expression – dystrophin-expression in SMCs may therefore facilitate autocrine regulation of NO, a hypothesis strengthened by the presence of neuronal NOS protein in the aorta of both wild type and transgenic mdx with SMC-dystrophin expression, but not in the original mdx mouse.⁵³²

Main methods

Smooth muscle cell isolation and ECM production in vitro

Similarl to when SMCs dedifferentiates from a contractile to a synthetic phenotype during the development of atherosclerotic and restenotic lesions, a phenotypic modulation takes place as SMCs are isolated and cultured *in vitro*. Reduction in expression levels of contractile proteins such as α -SMA is accompanied by an increase in proliferation and synthesis of ECM components. In addition, production of their own mitogens is taking place in these synthetic SMCs.⁵³⁹

In preparation of the *in vitro* experiments in papers I and III, we isolated vascular SMCs from mouse aortas. Entire aortas – from the aortic arch to the aortic bifurcation (into iliac arteries) were dissected out. After removal, the aortas were thoroughly cleaned from the surrounding adventitia to avoid contamination of SMC culture with fibroblasts. Only the medial and intimal layers of the vessel then remained, and as endothelial cells require specialized cell culture medium (and supplements), they do not survive the isolation process which includes plating with Ham's F-12 medium. This leaves the SMCs as the only viable cell type left at the end of the isolation procedure. To ensure continued good health, F-12 medium was supplemented with 10% serum, as well as with antibiotics. Ascorbic acid, used as a co-factor in hydroxylation of lysine and proline during collagen synthesis^{540, 541}, was added in excess every two to three days.

Isolated SMCs from wild type and fibromodulin-null mice were left to grow for several days. By extracting the cells with Triton X-100 and NH_4OH ,¹²⁶ we were able to use the underlying intact ECM for experiments. We assessed the effects of collagen structure on lipid uptake and cytokine production by seeding macrophages on ECM synthesized by wild type and fibromodulin-deficient SMCs, and add-ing oxLDL.



Figure 10: The non-occlusive cuff injury, with resulting lesion visualized by a Masson's trichrome stain.

Injury-inducing casts and lesion formation

In paper III, we wanted to study neointima formation, and especially the role of SMCs in this process. To generate neointimal lesions in mice a non-occlusive plastic cuff was placed around the right common carotid artery (the left being used as uninjured control) for three weeks (figure 10). The resulting neointima is rich in SMCs and ECM, but there is no deposition of lipids,^{542, 543} and the inflammatory component varies with different experimental timepoints.⁵⁴⁴ Involvement of T and B cells in neointima formation have been shown previously using this model. Neo-intima formation was increased in immune-deficient Rag-1 knock-out mice, while reconstitution with B cells from wild type mice reduced neointima formation in these mice compared to unreconstituted mice.⁵⁴⁵ Additionally, presentation of lipid antigens through the Cd1d-natural killer T cell pathway has been proposed to modulate vascular repair responses, as neointima formation was reduced in mice lacking Cd1d.⁵⁴⁶ In contrast, though carotid artery injury resulted in mobilization of regulatory and Th1 T cells, neointima formation to CD4+ or CD8+ T cells.⁵⁴⁴

For experiments that included the non-occlusive cuff, we used 4-5 month old wild type and mdx mice that were not bred on an atherosclerosis-prone background such as apoE- and LDL receptor deficiency, and the mice were given regular chow.



Figure 11:

The shear stress-modifying constrictive cast, with resulting lesions visualized by a Masson's trichrome stain.

In papers I and IV, we wished to study neointima formation in the context of atherosclerosis development. To induce development of lesions resembling the inflammatory and lipid-rich plaques found in the human disease, we used a cast model that modified shear, rather than mechanical, stress (figure 11).⁵⁴⁷

Shear stress is a parallel frictional drag force on the endothelium, which affects endothelial gene expression through activation of shear-stress response promoter elements. Blood flow rate, vessel radius and fluid viscosity together determine the size of the force, which is expressed as dynes/cm². Normal shear stress plays a role in vascular function through anti-inflammatory, antithrombotic, anticoagulative, profibrinolytic and anti-hypertrophic effects, but the modified shear stress that appears with disturbed blood flow is involved in the formation of atherosclerotic lesions.⁵⁴⁸ Plaques have been reported to preferentially develop under conditions of low shear stress, appearing, for instance, in the inner curvature of coronary arteries, and through oscillatory shear stress, occurring near bifurcations.⁵⁴⁹ A decrease in shear stress is associated with reduced vasodilation and endothelial repair accompanied by an increase in reactive oxygen species, leukocyte adhesion and permeability of lipoproteins.⁵⁴⁸

We induced shear stress-modification *in vivo* through the use of a perivascular constrictive, tapered cast. The cast was placed around the right common carotid artery. As was also the case using the non-occlusive cuff, the placement around the straight part of the artery, where lesions are not prone to form spontaneously, allowed us to induce alterations in a controlled manner. Stenosis is stimulated by the cast; shear stress is lowered upstream from the cast, increased within the cast, and oscillatory downstream from the cast.⁵⁴⁷ Cheng et al. found atherosclerotic lesions of a vulnerable phenotype to form in areas with low shear stress, while more stable lesions formed in areas with oscillatory shear stress.⁵⁴⁷

In preparation for the experiments involving this cast, mice were started on a Western diet (21% fat, 0.15% cholesterol) at 16 weeks of age. Cast placement took place two weeks later, and carotid arteries (injured arteries, as well as uninjured control arteries) were recovered after an additional 12 weeks – along with heart, descending aorta and blood, which were also saved for experiments.

Murine tissues

Carotid arteries were either snap-frozen or placed in Histochoice for fixation before paraffin-embedding. Hearts and descending aorta were fixed with Histochoice; hearts were later frozen, while aortas were used for flat preparations and Oil Red O-staining of lipids. Plasma was frozen.

Histology

Serial sections of frozen and paraffin-embedded carotid plaques were 8 and 5 μ m thick, respectively. Plaque composition was analyzed by histological and immunohistochemical methods as well as through immunofluorescence. The size of the carotid plaques formed by either cast model is only around one 10th of a mm³ at best, which is too small to quantify through Western blot, and, at least in our hands, too small to homogenize in order to perform enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay, ELISA. Analyses based on histology have therefore proved to be the most efficient and accurate way to study plaque components.

The content of different plaque components was quantified using sections collected in close proximity to the cast. Quantification of size is represented by a mean value of several sections that were collected at the most stenotic region of the plaque, $15 \mu m$ apart.

Collagen (or rather ECM, with collagen being the most abundant component) and lipids were identified through histological staining. Masson's trichrome and Sirius red were used in staining for collagen, and Oil Red O was used to stain for lipids.

Other plaque components were visualized using immunohistochemistry and immunofluorescence, depending on which antibody was used and which method produced stainings of the best quality. The choice to use frozen or paraffinembedded tissue was also made on similar premises, and either type of treatment of tissues presents with advantages as well as limitations. The main point of contention is that antibodies often seem to function better on frozen tissue, for example requiring less antigen epitope retrieval for successful staining, while tissue is more completely preserved through dehydration and subsequent paraffinembedding, resulting in more complete and better looking sections (whereas frozen section frequently give a rather squashed appearance). In only a few instances is the choice made for us, such as with Oil Red O-staining which must be performed on frozen sections, as the alcohol used for dehydration is a solvent for lipids.



Figure 12: A frozen human carotid plaque, cut into sections.

Human tissues: The Carotid Plaque Imaging Project

Analysis of human plaque tissue was possible due to the Carotid Plaque Imaging Project, CPIP; a biobank for blood and plaque tissue collected from patients undergoing carotid endarterectomies performed at the Vascular Department of Skåne University Hospital in Malmö.

Patients included in Paper II had undergone operation in 2004 to 2011, and was enrolled after giving informed consent. On the day before surgery, blood samples were taken, and patients underwent ultrasound examination of carotid arteries. Additionally, the patients were assessed by a neurologist. The patients were operated when having experienced neurological symptoms and carotid artery stenosis degree of >70%. Patients without neurological symptoms were operated when having a stenosis degree >80%.^{550, 551} Absence of symptoms were defined as patients with no *amaurosis fugax*, transient ischemic attacks or strokes in the 6 months preceding surgery.

Information was gathered concerning medical treatments and clinical risk factors. Later analysis of postoperative cardiovascular events was performed through the Swedish national health register of hospitalizations,⁵⁵² with clarifications gained through telephone interviews and reviews of medical charts as needed.

Plaque tissue was immediately snap-frozen in liquid nitrogen at the operation room, directly after removal from the patient (figure 12). Plaques were weighed and photographed. One portion (one millimeter thick) from the most stenotic region of the plaques was saved for histological analyses and a similar, adjacent, portion was saved for RNA analysis. The remainder of the plaques was homogenized⁵⁵³ for analysis of plaque proteins, lipids and other components.

Plaque tissue used for histological studies was treated and analyzed in a similar way as the frozen murine plaque tissue used for this purpose. Cytokine assessment was performed on plaque homogenate supernatants.

Results of the present studies

"The most exciting phrase to hear in science, the one that heralds new discoveries, is not 'Eureka!' (I found it!) but 'That's funny ...'"

Isaac Asimov

Aims

The studies presented in this thesis address the role of the ECM in vascular lesion development through the following questions:

- □ Is fibromodulin expressed in atherosclerotic plaques, and if so is it associated with a more or less stable plaque phenotype?
- □ Is dystrophin expressed in neointimal hyperplasia and/or atherosclerotic plaques?
- □ Is the ECM of vascular lesions altered as a result of fibromodulin or dystrophin deficiency?
- ◻ Does fibromodulin or dystrophin deficiency affect plaque formation and/or composition?
- □ Is fibromodulin a possible biomarker? As measured in human carotid plaques, may it be of use to predict total plaque burden and/or future events?

Paper I

In Paper I, we tested the hypothesis that fibromodulin affects the development of atherosclerotic plaques – possibly through its role in the regulation of collagen fiber structure. To achieve this, we compared fibromodulin-deficient apoE mice with apoE mice with normal expression of fibromodulin (referred to as ApoE-versus ApoE/fibromodulin-deficient mice).

Previous studies show effects on collagen structure in fibromodulin-deficient mice, such as altered collagen fibril thickness. Therefore, we had a special focus on effects on plaque stability. For example, a finding of thinner collagen fibrils – similar as in fibromodulin-deficient tumor stroma,⁴¹⁸ a type of pathological tissue with many similarities to plaque tissue – might indicate that fibromodulin deficiency has a destabilizing effect in the atherosclerotic plaque. Interestingly, what we found instead was that fibromodulin deficiency in atherosclerotic plaque tissue results in collagen fibrils that are thicker than those in plaques from control mice. In addition, the total plaque burden, as assessed by flat preparation and Oil Red Ostaining of whole aortas, was smaller in fibromodulin-deficient apoE-mice.

The main part of this study was an investigation of plaques induced in the common carotid artery through the shear stress-modifying cast. We found the more inflammatory low shear stress plaques to be smaller in fibromodulin-deficient mice. Plaque sizes were similar in the more fibrous oscillatory shear stress regions of arteries from ApoE- and ApoE/fibromodulin-deficient mice. This was somewhat surprising, as low shear stress plaques actually contain less collagen than plaques from the oscillatory shear stress region. Though, on the other hand, lower collagen content is not necessarily synonymous with lower collagen synthesis – if collagen breakdown is increased, a higher degree of remodeling (with accompanying fibromodulin expression) may actually be taking place in plaques in the inflammatory low shear stress region.

In addition, we found evidence for decreased lipid accumulation in the vessel wall of fibromodulin-deficient mice. Lipid content was decreased in both low shear stress plaques in the carotid artery and in lesions in the aortic root. Additionally, in low shear stress plaques, the total amount of macrophages – the primary cell in which lipids accumulate – was also lower. To test the hypothesis that the fibro-modulin-deficient ECM can affect lipid accumulation, we compared lipid uptake in a macrophage cell line grown on wild type and fibromodulin-deficient ECM *in vitro* and found decreased accumulation of oxLDL in macrophages grown on fibromodulin-deficient ECM. In this *in vitro* model, we also analyzed whether the altered ECM had an impact on cytokine production and found increased levels of

IL-6 and -10 in macrophages cultured on fibromodulin-deficient ECM in the presence of oxLDL.

In this study, we also showed that the altered – fibromodulin-deficient – ECM affects cell proliferation and collagen turnover in plaques. The rate of proliferation was more than doubled in carotid plaques from fibromodulin-deficient mice – both from low and oscillatory regions. As the rate of apoptosis was unchanged, this also resulted in an increased cell density in these plaques. When we analyzed tissue turnover through quantitative real-time PCR, we found an increase in mRNA expression of procollagen chain $1\alpha^2$ in low shear stress lesions in apoE/fibromodulin-deficient mice – a similar increase was found in oscillatory shear stress lesions. Expression of lysyl oxidase, the main collagen cross-linking enzyme,⁵⁵⁴, and urokinase plasminogen activator receptor-associated protein, in internalizing receptor that binds degraded collagen fragments⁵⁵⁵, was also increased in plaques from low and oscillatory shear stress regions of fibromodulin-deficient mice, respectively.

With paper I, we provide evidence that collagen fiber structure affects plaque development. While collagen provides mechanical stability, this study shows that collagen may also promote lipid-accumulation, and that this ability is dependent on actions of fibromodulin during collagen fibrillogenesis. Finally, this study also confirms that collagen fibril integrity can modulate cell proliferation.

Paper II

The results on plaque material from mice in Paper I encouraged us to follow up this study with an investigation on human carotid plaques, obtained from patients undergoing endarterectomy. In Paper II we analyzed expression of fibromodulin in plaques from patients either having suffered a previous cerebrovascular event, namely stroke, transient ischemic attack or *amaurosis fugax* (symptomatic patients) or not (asymptomatic patients). We also explored the association of fibromodulin expression with plaque composition.

After immunohistochemical staining of 152 plaques with an antibody recognizing fibromodulin, we found fibromodulin expression of varying intensity in all plaques. Most often we found expression in the fibrous cap and shoulder regions of the plaque, and it was particularly strong at sites with inflammation. In contrast, we only rarely found fibromodulin expression in the outermost regions of the plaque; these regions represent the interface between the plaque and the underlying media. In most plaques, fibromodulin colocalized with lipids, and, though to a lesser degree, with macrophages.

Fibromodulin expression was higher in plaques from patients with symptoms compared to asymptomatic patients. Among the symptomatics, we found an inverse correlation between fibromodulin expression and the time between clinical events to surgery – that is, fibromodulin content was higher, the closer to the clinical event surgery took place.

Next, we compared fibromodulin expression among patients with and without diabetes. We found a higher fibromodulin content in plaques from patients who suffered from diabetes than in plaques from non-diabetics, and within the diabetic patient group fibromodulin content was, again, higher in plaques from symptomatic patients. In fact, when comparing plaques from symptomatics and asymptomatics within the *non*-diabetic patient group, there was no difference in fibromodulin expression.

We found fibromodulin expression to be associated with an inflammatory plaque phenotype. Fibromodulin content correlated with lipid content, as well as with decreased smooth muscle cell content – measured histologically and immuno-histochemically, respectively. We also compared the expression of fibromodulin with that of cytokines measured in plaque homogenate, and found correlations between the content of fibromodulin and the pro-inflammatory cytokines macrophage inflammatory protein-1 β (MIP-1 β) and soluble CD40 ligand (sCD40L), as well as with vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF). There was also a negative correlation between fibromodulin expression and levels of the anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10 in the plaque.

Finally, we assessed the incidence of post-operative cardiovascular events occurring in the, on average, three years following endarterectomy. For this purpose, fibromodulin expression was divided into tertiles, and we found a trend – though non-significant – among the patients in the highest tertile, in comparison with patients in the two lower tertiles, towards an increased risk of developing postoperative cardiovascular events.

Paper II confirms the association between fibromodulin, collagen and plaque structure, especially in terms of lipid accumulation; while absence of fibromodulin, in Paper I, resulted in a more stable plaque phenotype, we found an association between a high expression of fibromodulin in human plaques with a more vulnerable plaque phenotype.

Paper III

Dystrophin, via the DGC, connects the cytoskeleton with the extracellular environment – this is achieved through binding components of the basement membrane. Loss of this connection in skeletal muscle results in muscular dystrophy, with progressive muscle wasting and a severely shortened life span due to respiratory failure.⁴⁴⁵ Dystrophin and the DGC is also present in SMCs of the arterial wall, and is a useful tool to explore if and how a connection between cells and the basement membrane figures into neointima formation and atherosclerotic plaque development.

Paper III, the first of the two papers on dystrophin, focused on neointima formation as a response to vessel wall injury. The carotid periadventitial cuff injury model was used, in which neointimal lesions are mechanically induced and, at the timepoint used, consist almost solely of SMCs and ECM. In human terms, it closely resembles the type of neointimal hyperplasia that develops as a result of restenosis.

The results demonstrate that the size of the neointima was larger in carotid arteries from mdx mice, compared to wild type mice, as was the intima/media ratio. Lesions from mdx mice also exhibited an increased proliferation rate, whereas no difference could be detected *in vitro* in primary SMCs from wild type and mdx mice. However, an increase in migratory capacity was found in SMCs from mdx mice *in vitro*. We also compared expression of dystrophin mRNA in primary SMCs of contractile and synthetic phenotypes, and found a dramatic reduction of dystrophin expression after the phenotypic switch; mRNA expression of dystroglycan and β -sarcoglycan followed a similar pattern. Permanent adaptive molecular changes during the development of mdx smooth muscle may thus compensate for the lack of dystrophin, which may facilitate proliferation and migration *in vivo*, but not proliferation *in vitro*. In addition, the increase in proliferation in mdx lesions *in vivo* may stem from a more general loss of dystrophin and, thus, altered stimuli from cell types other than SMCs, not present *in vitro*.

We also assessed expression of other DGC components and binding partners in uninjured carotid arteries, as well as in lesions, through immunofluorescence. In the tunica media of uninjured vessels, laminin $\alpha 2$ chain coincided with α -SMA, and was present as basement membrane-like structures, surrounding each SMC, with expression similar in wild type and mdx mice. Presence of β -sarcoglycan was also similar in the media of wild type and mdx mice, while dystroglycan was consistently observed only in the media from wild type mice.
Expression of laminin $\alpha 2$ chain present in injured arteries and in the media was similar in wild type and mdx mice. However, while laminin $\alpha 2$ chain was found lining the luminal border of the neointima in wild type mice, positive immunore-activity was found throughout the neointima in the mdx mice. Only weak and inconsistent immunoreactivity for β -sarcoglycan and dystroglycan was seen in the media and neointima in mice of both genotypes.

In Paper III we provide novel evidence that the connection between cells and the ECM, mediated by dystrophin, plays a role in neointima development induced by vascular injury.

Paper IV

In paper IV we set out to assess whether dystrophin and the link between cytoskeleton and ECM have a role in the development of atherosclerotic lesions, and, if so, whether this occurs in a manner that is similar to the effects delineated in Paper III (that is, larger neointimal lesions in mdx mouse). In order to achieve lesions that more closely resemble human atherosclerotic lesions we cross-bred mice with the mdx mutations and atherosclerosis-prone apoE mice to generate mice doubledeficient in dystrophin and apoE. Mice was given a fatty diet and, as in Paper I, a shear stress-modifying periadventitial cast was placed around the common carotid artery in order to induce plaques with differing phenotypes.

In apoE/mdx mice there was a decrease in total plaque burden, as assessed through Oil Red O-stained flat preparations of aortas. There was also an overall decrease in the size of low shear stress-plaques in these mice, as well as in total macrophage and collagen content. In addition, the expression of two markers associated with a differentiated phenotype in SMCs $-\alpha$ -SMA and myosin heavy chain – was increased in the low shear stress plaques in apoE/mdx mice.

Comparing cytokine content in plasma, we also found that several inflammatory cytokines, as well as the atheroprotective IL-13, to be down-regulated in the ap-oE/mdx mouse.

As dystrophin connects the cytoskeleton with the basement membrane, we next investigated how the loss of this connection affects basement membrane synthesis and/or assembly in an atherosclerotic plaque. In order to analyze the plaque content of laminins we performed immunofluorescent staining using an antibody that recognized several laminin chains (α 1, β 1 and γ 1), that together represent the vast majority of the laminin isoforms. Plaques from the low, but not oscillatory, shear stress regions in apoE/mdx contained less laminin compared to plaques from mice expressing dystrophin. In both genotypes, positive immunoreactivity was found in

the media and in the plaque regions corresponding to the endothelial basement membrane and the area directly underneath, where it appeared to surround both SMCs and foam cells.

We also explored expression patterns of additional key components in the cytokeleton-basement membrane connection; β -dystroglycan is a member of the DGC and utrophin is a homologue to dystrophin. The laminin $\alpha 2$ chain binds to cells via the DGC, and integrin $\alpha 7$ is an alternative receptor for laminin, found to be upregulated in mdx mice.

We found immunoreactivity for laminin $\alpha 2$ chain and β -dystroglycan to be weaker in plaques, and media connecting to plaques, from the apoE/mdx mouse – especially in the low shear stress region. Immunoreactivity for utrophin was stronger in plaques from both low and oscillatory shear stress regions in apoE/mdx mice, whereas expression of integrin $\alpha 7$ appeared to be similar in plaques from both genotypes.

With Paper IV we show, for the first time, that dystrophin and the DGC are involved in atherosclerotic plaque development, and that the absence of dystrophin result in plaques of reduced size and with altered basement membranes.

Discussion

Collagen fibril integrity and atherosclerosis

In Paper I, we report that abnormal collagen synthesis – due to lack of fibromodulin, possibly resulting in faulty crosslinking – alters plaque development. The study is followed up by Paper II, where we confirm the connection between fibromodulin and plaque phenotype and clinical events in humans.

An ever present question in researching atherogenesis is how we might push existing plaques towards more stable phenotypes. Paper I, with its main finding of attenuated plaque growth coupled to decreased lipid accumulation could perhaps be a step in this direction – though attempting to directly replicate the results in humans through gene therapy to block fibromodulin-expression might not be the most convenient – or safe – therapy. The key interest and value from an atherosclerosis point of view may instead lie in assessing all the effects of our knock outmouse (together and separately), and consider how beneficial effects may be achieved – and how adversary effects may be avoided – using a different, and more accessible therapeutic strategy. Such a strategy might be as straightforward as blocking fibromodulin through medicines, or it might involve another drug target (or even gene therapy target), completely.

Considering the collective results from Paper I, alteration of collagen, being such a basic building block, has many diverse effects in the plaque. Our main focus has been on how cell behavior is affected, but if we further explored the overall ECM composition of the fibromodulin-deficient plaques, we would probably be very likely to find differences here as well. Potential alterations in expression levels, or localization, of other ECM components may represent a "middle man" of sorts, that, could participate in implementing the changes brought about by the abnormal collagen fibrils, perhaps through specific cell contact or by further altering binding among ECM components.

Intuitively, the tendency towards increased cell and collagen turnover in fibromodulin-deficient plaques seems reasonable, as a response to an environment where something is amiss. As a consequence, in striving to rectify the situation, cells react by trying to heal a perceived wound with increased proliferation and increased synthesis of collagen (and perhaps other ECM components, as of yet unmeasured). This would also explain the increased collagen degradation, as the collagen produced may constantly be perceived as faulty.

Does fibromodulin function directly or by proxy?

In Paper I, we found that retention of lipids in vascular ECM was reduced, and macrophages grown *in vitro* on an ECM lacking fibromodulin had reduced capacity to take up oxLDL. This effect can be interpreted either as fibromodulin having a direct, anti-atherogenic role in lipid retention, or as the absence of fibromodulin being secondary to the effect inferred by the altered collagen matrix.

Though we have seen evidence that fibromodulin is expressed in the plaque and by SMCs *in vitro*, we do not know whether fibromodulin remains bound to collagen after synthesis is complete. In addition, we have yet to elucidate whether fibromodulin is capable of directly binding LDL, and while this potential binding may contribute to the overall lipid-binding in a plaque, it is not clear whether fibromodulin is present in a quantity large enough to make a contribution so significant that loss of fibromodulin results in effects as marked as those we report in Paper I.

If indeed the main effect of fibromodulin in atherosclerotic plaques is in ensuring correct collagen synthesis, the effects of fibromodulin deficiency seen in the mouse study most likely have a basis in the resulting abnormal collagen fibers. In the human carotid artery plaques included in Paper II, fibromodulin could therefore be seen as an essential component in the process of an ongoing collagen synthesis and/or remodeling. This may also be reflected by the high fibromodulin expression in plaques from diabetic patients, found in Paper II. Altered ECM remodeling in diabetes has been previously reported by other studies,⁵⁵⁶⁻⁵⁵⁸ and the enhanced fibromodulin expression may indicate an increase in collagen synthesis, possible as a compensatory response to signals generated by the abnormal ECM-remodeling. However, I in no way want to exclude the possibility that fibromodulin also has direct effects – in atherogenesis as well as in other healthy and/or pathological states.

While it is still not known whether fibromodulin (or the other SLRPs) remains associated with collagen fibers after fibrillogenesis is completed, or if it is mainly induced as part of remodeling response, functions outside of fibrillogenesis have been identified: fibromodulin is cleaved by MMP13 with the larger fragment remaining bound to collagen, with a possible function as a shield from cleavage.⁴⁰³ Fibromodulin also binds additional ECM components, such as collagen XII, PRELP and heparin³⁵⁶ which may imply roles both in further cross-linking and maintaining of ECM stability, as well as in sequestering of growth factors and other bioactive molecules.

In addition, fibromodulin is known to bind and activate the classical and alternative pathways of the complement system,⁴²⁴ an ability that has been speculated to have an impact on the inflammatory response in joints⁴²⁵ and may possibly affect inflammation in atherosclerotic plaques, as well. This is corroborated with our, still unpublished, finding, of a higher expression of the complement cascade component C3b in low shear stress-plaques of in ApoE/Fibromodulin-deficient mice.

The influence of fibromodulin on collagen synthesis in atherogenesis

The atherosclerotic plaque is an environment that is not only highly inflammatory, but also rich in lipids – perhaps the largest difference in comparison with tendon collagen synthesis, as well as other relevant pathological conditions, such as osteoarthritis. The presence of lipids is also a major difference in comparing collagen fibrils in the atherosclerotic plaque and tumor stroma, perhaps the pathological system most closely resembling the plaque among the conditions studied so far. Both plaques and tumors represent a somewhat closed off environment built through enhanced ECM-deposition and mutinous cell behavior. There is inflammation and a failure for the development to be halted by immune cells. As growth advances, neoangiogenesis commences in both structures to provide oxygen and nutrients.

So why is it, that dysfunctional cross-linking due to lack of fibromodulin results in thinner fibrils in the experimental carcinoma, and thicker fibrils in the atherosclerotic plaque? A comparison of the type of inflammation present in both instances may provide some clues – it may be that cytokine and chemokine profiles and the overall presence of inflammatory and immune cells have a regulatory or limiting/stimulating effect on fibromodulin during collagen fibrillogenesis.

Differing effects of immune response could also influence the collagen producing ability of plaque cells. Perhaps it is not the overall speed of collagen production, but the production speed of each cell, that may possibly be of relevance – total collagen production would be similar in a large number of cells with constant, but quite slow, collagen production and a smaller number of very active cells sporadically synthesizing collagen, but the latter scenario may be quicker or less synchronized in terms of each new collagen fibrils. This could possibly affect availability of sites for cross-linking and abnormal fusion of fibrils. In addition, there could be a feedback loop in effect; altered collagen may influence cytokine and chemokine secretion by macrophages. The resulting cytokine profile in turn affects collagen-production in SMCs and macrophages themselves, furthering and enhancing the initial effects of the altered collagen.

The difference between plaques and tumors that stands out is, again, the presence of modified lipids in the atherosclerotic plaque, which provide an additional stimulant for collagen-producing cells. In the atherosclerotic model, the presence of lipids seems to be vital for detecting functional differences induced by the abnormal collagen. Consequently, when applying the non-constrictive cuff model of paper III to fibromodulin-deficient mice, neither a difference in plaque size, nor in cell proliferation or density could be established *in vivo* (unpublished data).

So, is the effect on lipid accumulation due to the effect on cell behavior in the plaque, or in the binding of oxLDL to the ECM – or perhaps both? Results from our *in vitro* experiments conducted with macrophages cultured on wild type or fibromodulin-deficient ECM (Paper I) implies a principal effect on the uptake by cells, but unfortunately we have so far been unable to establish a functional model for measuring lipid-binding to fibromodulin-null ECM. An interesting speculation is that an LDL-binding site may be lost or weakened in altered fibrils. Collagen is not normally considered a major LDL binding partner in lipid retention – but its significance could increase if an abnormal structure results in an alternate manner of binding to associated proteoglycans which hides previously active LDL-binding regions. If so, the question becomes: Is there a collagen site that is rendered unavailable or altered in the absence of fibromodulin? Can this site be blocked *in vitro* or *in vivo*? May the site be selectively blocked in plaques, and would this replicate the effect on lipid accumulation observed in ApoE/fibromodulin-deficient mice?

Dystrophin and contact between cells and basement membranes

In Papers III and IV, we further explored ECM influence and cell behavior in atherosclerotic lesion formation by cutting a route of communication between cells and the basement membrane that is dependent on dystrophin and the DGC. In Paper III, we found that dystrophin deficiency resulted in increased neointimal hyperplasia, while, as reported in Paper IV, the development of plaques of a vulnerable phenotype (low shear stress plaques) was attenuated in the absence of dystrophin. However, exactly how the lost connection with laminin via the DGC delays plaque development is not yet clear.

The endothelial basement membrane plays a significant role for EC function, and one hypothesis is that a functional DGC is required for proper connections between ECs and laminin. This may also help explain the different effects on lesion formation demonstrated by the two studies. In the non-occlusive cuff model the endothelium is still dysfunctional, but as there is no fatty diet or atherogenic mutation in effect, and there are less lipids and inflammatory cells circulating with the blood stream, and therefore the non-activated endothelium may not be a significant contributor in the resulting neointimal hyperplasia. Rather, it is likely an effect – enhanced proliferatory or migratory stimuli – on the SMCs that drive lesion formation. In contrast, ECs have a key role in the development of atherosclerotic plaques, for example through upregulation of adhesion molecules and its involvement in lipid transport across the endothelium. If proper function of these two processes is disturbed in dystrophin-deficient artery, the result could be both a reduction in lipids entering the plaque and a less prominent upregulation of adhesion molecules on the endothelium, leading to less monocyte/leukocyte infiltration from circulation, which in turn would affect SMCs through reduced stimulus for phenotypic modulation.

In Paper IV, we found reduced laminin content in plaques of a vulnerable phenotype (low shear stress plaques). Laminin normally promotes a more differentiated SMC phenotype, and reduced laminin content in the basement membrane may result in SMCs that are more prone to undergo a phenotypic switch – this might contribute to the increased neointimal hyperplasia and proliferation seen in Paper III. Additionally, this effect seemed to be present also in atherosclerotic plaques, though not in the case of proliferation. However, cell density was increased in the atherosclerotic plaques, which may be caused by increased migration by medial SMCs. Such an increase might lead to a shift in the ratio of SMCs and macrophages in atherosclerotic plaques, and, in fact, we did see an increase in the relative content of SMCs in these plaques (though the differentiated phenotype suggests that a lower degree of stimuli may be present once the SMCs reached the plaque).

Additionally, in Paper IV, we found that the cytokine profile, measured in plasma, was altered in that cytokine secretion of several pro-inflammatory, and atheroprotective, cytokine was decreased, suggesting and systemic effect in ApoE/mdx macrophages resulting in less efficient cytokine production or secretion. If this is the case, inflammatory cells in this mouse may be less able to respond to inflammatory stimuli. Increased inflammation of the arteries due to fatty diet is one reason behind plaque development in ApoE-null mice, and a reduction in inflammatory response may contribute to the smaller plaques. Exploration of additional organ systems, such as assessing the populations of inflammatory cells in the spleen, is necessary to verify and further analyze this effect.

Interestingly, the somewhat unexpected result of increased lesion size after mechanical injury, and decreased lesion size caused by lipid-retention is mirrored in mice deficient in caveolin-1,⁵⁵⁹⁻⁵⁶¹ a key structural protein in caveolae in endothelial cells and SMCs. Caveolae are specialized microdomains, present as invaginations in plasma membranes of terminally differentiated cells,⁵⁶² involved in vesicular and cholesterol trafficking and signal transduction, and, in the endothelium, involvement of caveolae has been demonstrated in the uptake and transcytosis of oxLDL. Signaling complexes assemble through the aid of scaffold formed by caveolin proteins, and SMC caveolae are reportedly enriched in dystrophin.⁵⁶³⁻⁵⁶⁵ A hypothesis derived from this similarity is that one effect of dystrophindeficiency is that cells may not be able to form caveolae in a normal way, in turn resulting in reduced lipid influx in the endothelium and increased migratory capacity in SMCs.

Does the novel function for dystrophin in vascular lesion formation have an impact in DMD patients?

Considering the dystrophin model from a clinical perspective, the results may not benefit patients suffering from DMD as they, with the aid of current therapies, do not reach an age where they are likely to experience cardiovascular events caused by atherosclerotic plaque disruption. In contrast, patients inflicted by Becker muscular dystrophies frequently have an almost normal lifespan, and might thus be candidates for surgical interventions such as angioplasty and stenting, mimicked by our non-occlusive carotid artery cuff-model, or experience clinical symptoms due to plaque-related thrombus formation. In light of the increased neointimal hyperplasia delineated in Paper III, these patients may be more prone to developing restenosis post-surgery, and – following more extensive verification of our results – might even benefit from monitoring of carotid artery plaque burden, and use of prophylactic drug therapy (possibly in a similar lipid-lowering regime as is routinely given to diabetics) to avoid future vascular events.

Despite indications from Paper IV that plaque burden is decreased with dystrophin deficiency, it is unclear what the effect might be on plaque stability, since there was no indication that the relative lipid retention or collagen content were altered. Also, we do not know whether the decreased integrity of the endothelial basement membrane could be detrimental to plaque stability. Therefore, there is a risk that, while lipid-rich atherosclerotic plaques may be smaller in patients with Becker muscular dystrophy, they may also be less stable – and size is not the only factor affecting whether plaques are prone to rupture.

ECM alterations through dystrophin and fibromodulin – do the results overlap?

Aside from potential effects through the protein itself, the fibromodulin model mainly showed effects on collagen type I, located in the ECM outside of the basement membrane. In contrast, the results from the dystrophin model seem to be concentrated on the basement membrane. Do the effects ever converge? Are certain effects propagated from the basement membrane to the plaque ECM, and/or

vice versa? Surprisingly, the answer seems to be 'no'. Despite carrying out very similar analyses in both mouse models, the only similarity is a decreased total plaque burden in descending aortas of both models (on an ApoE-null background). Intimal hyperplasia was increased in mdx mice, but not fibromodulin-null mice (unpublished data). Focusing on the results obtained by the shear stress-modifying cast, lipid accumulation was decreased in low shear stress-plaques in fibromodulin-deficient, but not dystrophin-deficient, mice. Increased content of differentiated SMCs was found in dystrophin-deficient, but not fibromodulin-deficient, mice. In addition, only fibromodulin-deficient mice exhibited an increased proliferation rate. While systemic inflammation was unchanged by fibromodulin deficiency, a decrease in plasma cytokines was found in dystrophin-deficient mice.

Taken together, the altered collagen fibrils caused by loss of fibromodulin seems to have a very specific, localized effect on cell behavior, such as lipid uptake and proliferation in atherosclerotic lesions, while the lost connection with basement membranes, due to dystrophin-deficiency, appear to in turn have a general effect on the very integrity of basement membranes. This is very consistent with the overall phenotype of each knock out-mouse. Effects of fibromodulin and collagen remodeling, as deduced from fibromodulin-null mice, seem to be quite contained to specific tissues such as tendons in the healthy state, and induced during remodeling in tissue healing and regeneration. The much more conspicuous phenotype of the dystrophin-deficient mdx mouse – with muscular dystrophy – seemingly appears in connection with muscle cells and basement membranes with altered functions throughout the body. The different extent in the two phenotypes nicely illustrates how specialized the ECM, indeed, is, in comparison to a defect originating from within multiple cell types, which hits a much broader target.

Strengths and limitations

The studies presented have both strengths and limitations to consider. From a clinical point of view, fibromodulin and dystrophin may appear to be quite unattractive as biomarkers – from the point of view of basic science, they are valuable tools to explore features of a modified ECM in plaque development. Any potential beneficial effects from a deficiency will likely have to be duplicated using an alternate strategy in order for them to have therapeutic value.

Concerning the conclusions derived from Papers I and IV. When using ApoE-null mice one can never exclude the possibility that results may be specific to the ApoE-deficient background, and that additional or differing effects might be seen with human lipoproteins and their mode of binding to the ECM. When working with mouse models, there is always the additional question of accuracy since plaque rupture, a vital end point of the atherosclerotic process, in the vast majority of studies is completely absent. However, a strength of the mouse studies is the quite consistently large cohorts used, while, in contrast, one possible weakness of the human study in Paper IV may be the relatively small patient group available.

There is also the question of causality. Especially when comparing results obtained in mouse models and human plaque material, we do not know whether our results reflect direct functions of fibromodulin, or whether they are a reflection of a resulting ECM.

Conclusions

The four studies of this thesis conclude that:

- □ In the atherosclerotic plaque of a fibrous phenotype, collagen fibrils synthesized in the absence of fibromodulin are more heterogeneous, and, on average, thicker, compared to fibrils generated in the control mouse.
- In the atherosclerotic (murine) plaque of an inflammatory phenotype, a fibromodulin-deficient ECM results in decreased size and lipid accumulation, but increased cell proliferation.
- ➡ Higher fibromodulin expression, as measured immunohistochemically at the most stenotic region of a human carotid artery plaque, is found in plaques from patients with symptoms than in asymptomatics, and particularly in those with diabetes.
- Fibromodulin expression in human plaques co-localize with Oil Red Ostained plaque regions, and correlates with the content of lipids, the proinflammatory cytokines MIP-1β and sCD40L, and with VEGF and decreased levels of the anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10.
- Dystrophin-deficiency, as illustrated by the mdx mouse, stimulates neointimal hyperplasia, but inhibits atherosclerotic lesion development driven by lipid-retention.
- □ In atherosclerotic lesions with an inflammatory phenotype, in the mdx mouse, expression of laminins is decreased in the endothelium, suggesting that altered endothelial cell function and an abnormal basement membrane may be a possible explanation for the attenuated plaque development.

In summary, the present studies show that collagen structure and remodeling affect the growth, development and composition of atherosclerotic lesions, on the one hand promoting mechanical stability, and on the other hand promoting lipid accumulation and inflammation. In addition, growth of vascular lesions can be inhibited or promoted by a functional connection between cells and the ECM mediated by dystrophin and the DGC, depending on the underlying pathology.

Concluding remarks and future perspectives

In this thesis, I discuss the importance of the connection between ECM and cells for atherosclerotic lesion development, and show that alterations in this connection – either through a modified collagenous ECM, or modification in a cellular protein directly linking cells to ECM components – have a significant impact on atherosclerotic plaque structure and, possibly, its stability.

All four papers explore novel involvement of fibromodulin and dystrophin in development of vascular lesions. Therefore, it is not possible to make an assessment whether our results are in concordance with similar studies. However, the basic concepts, such as effects of collagen structure and cell-ECM contact, are reflected in observations by others.

Much still remains to explore further in the future. The present studies raise questions closer to the nature of basic science, rather than therapeutic potential – at least for the time being. Questions of this kind tend to be of a lesser scope, and answers not too far away. Would the reduced lipid accumulation of fibromodulinnull plaques be associated with a lower prevalence of plaque rupture – if a functional mouse model for this could be developed? Does fibromodulin itself bind LDL, or is the effect we see an effect completely secondary to collagen structure? Exactly what (if any) role do fibromodulin play in complement activation *in vivo*? How does loss of dystrophin in an ApoE-null background result in reduction of systemic inflammation – are there any clues in the cells of the spleen, and could it be related to a shift in M1/M2 response in macrophages? Is dystrophin (or utrophin) expressed in human plaques?

I think, however, that it is important to also keep the larger questions in mind: May blocking fibromodulin in atherosclerotic plaques be of therapeutic use? Does the lack of fully functional dystrophin have an impact on vascular conditions in older patients suffering from Becker muscular dystrophy?

Summary in Swedish

Fibromodulin och dystrofin i ateroskleros; en populärvetenskaplig sammanfattning

Vad är ateroskleros?

Ateroskleros – det man tidigare kallade för åderförkalkning – är grundorsaken till hjärtinfarkt, stroke och kärlkramp. Ett aterosklerosplack är en förträngning i ett blodkärl, ofta vid en förgrening där blodflödet är turbulent. Placket börjar ofta växa redan i unga år genom att fett från blodet tar sig in i kärlväggen. Detta startar en kedja av inflammatoriska reaktioner, där inflammatoriska celler rekryteras från blodet och glattmuskelceller från kärlväggen. Ett typiskt plack består av dessa celler och fett, tillsammans med stabiliserande bindväv och ofta även hårda kalkansamlingar. Placket täcks av en fibrös kapsel – ett skyddande lock av bindväv – och med tiden kan en rutten, nekrotisk kärna bildas. En tunn fibrös kapsel och mycket fett tillsammans med en stor nekrotisk kärna är kännetecken för ett sårbart plack, som riskerar att brista och orsaka en farlig blodpropp.

Vilka symtom och komplikationer blodproppar orsakar beror mycket på vilket kärl som är drabbat. Antingen sker själva blockeringen i kärlet där placket finns, eller så bryts proppen loss, färdas med blodet och fastnar i ett mindre kärl – i hjärnan orsakar denna stroke och i hjärtat en hjärtinfarkt. Största delen av arbetet i denna avhandling är fokuserat på plack i karotisartärerna, det vill säga halsartärerna som förser huvudet och hjärnan med blod. När plack brister i en halsartär för blodet med sig proppen mot hjärnan. Komplikationer leder oftast till stroke – antingen är de stora och omfattande, eller mindre, med symtom som snabbt går över. Ett exempel på en sådan mindre stroke är en så kallad TIA-attack, då symtomen går över eftersom proppen spontant löses upp.

Aterosklerosplack utvecklas ofta i flera decennier innan de brister, och symtom börjar ge sig till känna. Denna avhandling är en pusselbit av många i ett stort forskningsfält som försöker besvara spörsmålen: Vad är det som händer i placket, som får det att brista? Kan man påverka plackets stabilitet och därmed hindra att det brister?

Bindväv: Både stomme och dirigent

Fibromodulin och dystrofin – resten av titeln på denna avhandling – är gäster från ett annat forskningsfält, matrixbiologi. Matrixbiologin fokuserar på kroppens bindväv. För att få en uppfattning om bindvävens uppgifter skiftar vi nu uppmärksamheten till hur våra kroppar är uppbyggda.

Våra kroppar består av flera biljoner celler som arbetar tillsammans. De är som små maskiner som var och en (eller gruppvis) utför en syssla som behövs för att våra kroppar ska fungera. Vi har till exempel en sorts viljestyrda muskelceller som gör att ögonen följer texten när vi läser, en annan sorts muskelcell i våra blodkärl som, utan att vi märker det, hjälper till att reglera blodtrycket. Men cellerna är inte bara associerade med varandra, utan de omges också av bindväv (även kallat extracellulärt matrix) – ett nätverk av fibrer, membran och smådelar. Å ena sidan kan man se bindväven som en byggnadsställning som ger stadga och som cellerna vilar mot – lite som hur havet omger fiskar. Men bindväven är mer komplex än så, bindväven kring cellerna är faktiskt lika specialiserad som cellerna själva! Beroende på bindvävens struktur och beståndsdelar skickar den olika signaler till cellerna om hur de ska bete sig, och den kan också gömma undan eller förstärka de signaler som cellerna skickar till varandra.

Bindväven kontrollerar även att cellerna håller sig till rätt uppgift. Det finns till exempel specialiserad bindväv kring muskelcellerna i blodkärlet som ser till att de behåller sin förmåga att dra ihop sig och slappna av, beroende på om blodflödet behöver minskas eller ökas. I ett blodkärl med aterosklerosplack påverkas bindväven av fettet och inflammationen som ansamlas – vissa fibrer bryts ner och fibrer av en annan typ byggs upp, och många av smådelarna byts ut. Man kan tänka sig en klädd julgran, som byts ut mot en tall med lite glitter och kulor kvar, men också durkslag, prästkragar, pennor och kaffekokare. Precis som att kaotiskt beteende skulle utbryta bland de förvånade gästerna på den julfesten, påverkar det cellerna i blodkärlet och placket när bindväven förändras. En del av muskelcellerna i blodkärlets vägg kommer till exempel att sluta se efter blodflödet och istället krypa in i placket, börja föröka sig och förvandlas till små bindvävsmaskiner som hjälper placket att växa. Den nya plackbindväven har dessutom nya egenskaper som antingen kan förvärra eller stabilisera placket. Det är dessa nya egenskaper som bindväven får i placket, som vi är extra intresserade av; vilka nya egenskaper har positiva effekter och vilka har negativa effekter? Tänk om vi kunde styra egenskaperna till att sakta ner placktillväxten och hindra att placket går sönder och orsakar en blodpropp!

Fibromodulin och dystrofin behövs för att bindväv ska fungera korrekt

Vi har undersökt bindvävens betydelse på två olika sätt. Dels har vi siktat in oss på en av bindvävens smådelar (en av julgranskulorna) som kontrollerar produktionen av bindvävens kollagenfibrer (själva julgranen). Den här lilla bindvävskomponenten heter fibromodulin och dess uppgift är alltså att "modulera fibrerna".

Vi har också undersökt ett av sätten som cellerna har kontakt med bindväven – ett protein som sitter på insidan av cellens omgivande hölje, och binder samman cellskelettet med cellytan, som i sin tur kontaktar bindväven utanför. För att hålla oss till julfesten – liksom gästernas armmuskler gör det möjligt att sträcka ut en hand och hantera julgranen (må den nu vara normalt klädd eller smyckad med diverse hushållsgeråd), ges cellerna möjlighet att interagera med omgivningen. Proteinet heter dystrofin – namnet kommer ifrån ordet "muskeldystrofi", muskelförtvining, som syftar på den sjukdom som drabbar människor som har fel på det här proteinet.

För att sammanfatta så här långt: Bindväven reglerar om placket är stabilt eller inte. Vi har undersökt hur placktillväxt påverkas; både av produktionen av fibrerna i bindväven och beroende på cellernas kontakt med bindväven.

Mindre ateroskleros i möss som saknar fibromodulin

Vi har jämfört hur plack bildas i vanliga möss med möss som dels saknar fibromodulin och därför producerar en defekt sorts fibrer, kollagenfibrer, och dels med möss som saknar dystrofin, och därför har sämre kontakt mellan cellerna och bindväven.

I mössen jämförde vi plack som ser olika ut – en sort som innehåller väldigt mycket bindväv och liknar stabila plack hos människor, och en annan sorts plack som istället innehåller mycket inflammation och fett, och liknar de placken som riskerar att brista och orsaka symtom. I mössen som saknar fibromodulin var de inflammatoriska placken mindre än i de vanliga mössen och de innehöll också mindre fett.

En möjlig förklaring kan vara att de onormala kollagenfibrerna påverkar cellernas förmåga att ta upp fett i möss utan fibromodulin. Denna hypotes kunde vi bekräfta genom experiment i ett cellodlingssystem, där mindre fett ansamlades i inflammatoriska celler som växte på onormala kollagenfibrer.

Fibromodulin har även en roll i ateroskleros hos människor

Som nästa steg undersökte vi om fibromodulin även kan ha betydelse i plack hos människor. Vi analyserade därför plack som sparats från så kallade endarterektomier, vilket är en sorts operation där besvärliga plack i halsartären tas bort. Placken kan antingen ha orsakat symtom hos patienten, exempelvis stroke, eller så har de upptäckts på något annat sätt och varit så stora att kirurgerna valt att ta bort dem trots att de inte ännu orsakat symtom.

Vi undersökte tvärsnitt av den delen av placken som tog upp störst plats i kärlet (det vill säga, hindrade blodflödet mest). Fibromodulin uttrycktes i plack både från patienter med och utan symtom, och ofta fanns fibromodulin på samma plats som fettet i placken.

Vi upptäckte också att det fanns mer fibromodulin i placken från de patienter som hade upplevt symtom från sina plack. Dessutom jämförde vi mängden fibromodulin i plack från patienter med och utan diabetes, och fann att det fanns mer fibromodulin i plack från diabetiker. Det visade sig även att det fanns mer fibromodulin i plack med mycket fett och inflammatoriska cytokiner. Placken med mycket fibromodulin innehöll också färre glattmuskelceller som producerar den stabiliserande bindväven.

Våra resultat från mössen och de humana placken passar bra ihop: Avsaknad av fibromodulin i mössen ledde till mindre inflammatoriska plack, med mindre fettinnehåll – snällare plack – medan mycket fibromodulin i plackvävnad från människor var associerat till mer aggressiva plack, som orsakade symtom.

Fibromodulins största roll i placken tycks vara att säkra produktion av korrekta kollagenfibrer i bindväven. Man kan därför även tolka våra resultat som att mycket fibromodulin är en signal om att det pågår en hög grad av kollagenfiberproduktion i ett sådant plack. Rent intuitivt är detta logiskt; man kan tänka sig att nyproduktion av bindväv är aktiv som en reparationsmekanism efter att ett aggressivt plack brustit. Man har i andra studier sett att bindvävsproduktion hos diabetiker inte är lika effektiv som hos icke-diabetiker. Den extra höga kollagenfiber-produktionen (och fibromodulin-innehållet) vi såg i plack från diabetiker skulle därför kunna vara ett försök till att kompensera för en abnorm bindväv.

Dystrofin har olika roller i restenos och ateroskleros

När vi undersökte dystrofin och cellernas kontakt med bindväven tog vi också hjälp av musmodeller. Först utforskade vi dystrofins roll i restenos – en komplikation som kan drabba patienter vars plack opereras ut. Restenos innebär att en störning i kärlets läkningsprocess gör att kärlväggen tjocknar så mycket att det åter igen bildas en förträngning som hindrar blodflödet. Vi inducerade en liknande restenos-reaktion i halsartären hos vanliga möss och hos möss som saknar dystrofin – så kallade mdx-möss. Mdx-mössen utvecklade mer restenos jämfört med de vanliga mössen. Vi såg också att takten på celldelningen i restensosen var högre. När vi odlade celler från vanliga möss och mdx-möss, såg vi att cellerna från mdxmössen också var mer rörliga.

Normalt skickar bindväven i friska kärl signaler till cellerna i kärlväggen. Signalerna hämmar cellernas aktivitet, och de låses fast i sin normala funktion att förse kärlen med kontraktila egenskaper. Den ökade aktiviteten vi såg i mdx-mössens kärlceller skulle kunna bero på att cellerna har sämre kontakt med bindväven, och därför missar dessa hämmande signaler. Dessa resultat visar att dystrofin, vid denna typ av skada, har en skyddande roll i kärlväggen, och att risk för restenos kan vara förhöjd hos människor som lider av muskeldystrofi orsakad av defekt dystrofin.

Vi undersökte även om dystrofin har en roll i utvecklingen av inflammatoriska och stabila aterosklerosplack. För dessa experiment använde vi samma musmodell som i fibromodulinstudien. Lite överraskande visade det sig att, även om restenosskadorna var större i mdx-mössen, så var de inflammatoriska placken mindre. Avsaknad av dystrofin ledde också till att det fanns mindre av en specialiserad sorts bindväv som finns ytterst på placken, närmast blodflödet. Vi håller nu på att undersöka mekanismerna bakom detta fynd.

Restenos och aterosklerosplack bildas genom olika mekanismer – en stor skillnad är till exempel att aterosklerosplack i grunden bildas genom att fett ansamlas i kärlväggen och aktiverar inflammatoriska celler, medan restenos beror på en mekanisk störning som främjar aktivering av bindvävsproducerande glattmuskelceller. Våra resultat tyder på att den förlorade kontakten mellan cellerna och vissa bindvävskomponenter i sin tur leder till att den specialiserade bindväven som omger cellerna i kärlväggen blir bristfällig. En konsekvens av detta skulle kunna vara en felaktig aktivering av cellerna, vilket kan ha stora effekter på den efterföljande inflammationen och bindvävsproduktionen.

Pudelns kärna

Sammantaget visar studierna som ingår i denna avhandling att kollagenfibrers struktur och produktion påverkar utvecklingen och uppbyggnaden av aterosklerotiska plack. Dessutom kan utvecklingen av restenos och ateroskleros påverkas av en fungerande kontakt mellan celler och bindväv. På sikt kan resultaten från den här avhandlingen öppna upp för nya vägar att diagnostisera och behandla kardiovaskulär sjukdom.

Acknowledgements

I would like to give my sincerest thanks to:

My main supervisor, Anna Hultgårdh-Nilsson. Thank you for giving me a project and letting me run with it; I couldn't have learned what it means to be a researcher in a better way. Thank you for always encouraging me, and sometimes telling me to just go home and bake some cookies. I am so grateful for being able to answer other PhD students who, at conferences, ask "So how often do you get to see you supervisor?", with a simple "Anytime – I just pop into her office whenever something comes up".

My secondary supervisor Isabel Gonçalves – always in good spirits and bursting with energy (and chocolate). Thank you for all you support and for always making me feel welcome on my excursions to Malmö, and for helping me bring my matrix into the world of human patients.

Professor Jan Nilsson – for an awesome ability to be presented with a series of experiments and immediately seeing a story.

Anki – my roommate and co-conspirator. Thank you for being my constant partner in crime, be it in discussions on science or tassels, lab routines or lab decorations, protocols or recipes – or, oh so effective, ways to test the freshness of chemicals. May the force be with you!

The Vessel Wall Biology-lab: Uwe, Karin and Vignesh, it's great working with you, and thank you Gunnel, for everything – what would we do without you!

Everyone I've worked with in the "Isabel group" at CRC: Andreas, Mihaela, Ana, Marie, Lena, Helena and Gerd. And our new addition, Christoffer! You always make me feel at home whenever I'm there. ©

Åke Oldberg – for great discussions, and wonderful stories: What you don't know about matrix is not worth knowing! I'm also immensely grateful to Renata and Giga-Sebastian for your assistance in a variety of matrix-related endeavors.

The MDH group – especially Madeleine Durbeej-Hjalt, Kinga and Virginie who have helped me so much with the dystrophin part of this thesis, but also Johan, Catharina, Cibely, Cintia, Bruno and Zandra for Thursday cakes and for making BMC B12 a great place.

Everyone at CRC: Sara, Daniel, Xenia, Giuseppe, Pontus, Cat, Maria, – it has been wonderful working (and "conferencing") with you ! I also want to thank Eva for endless matrix help – especially this past year – and Gunilla and Harry for valuable advice, and finally Ingrid, Ragnar and Fong for all your help.

The matrix tribe at C12: Thank you Viveka, Karin, and the late Professor Dick Heinegård for excellent discussion, a lot of help and for being friendly faces as I have made my travels between B12 and the cell lab.

All my students along the way – hopefully I haven't warped your poor minds completely (or irreversibly).

Chris Carter; thanks for creating an excellent TV show - do you have any idea how supremely irritating it is to go through life with a *fictional* role model?

The Biomedicine "core facility" that has been there from the very start – Maria, Iréne, Caroline and Jenny. Thank you for all the fikas and good times and evening 'tea and cakes (and then some more cakes)' at Vildanden.

My almost-neighbors (yes, still!) Jessica and Martin (and Totte) – "we roll together, we die together".

The trusty, though slightly re-focused, book club – Sofia and Malin (and of course all the rest of you that I already mentioned). Cake over literature

Morbror Peter: Thanks for all the fish!

Mormor: För ty och emedan all skön stunds därför att... I wish you were still here to see me finally "finish school"!

My parents – who knew this would be my path even before I did. Tack för allt stöd och all uppmuntran! Thank you for travelling back and forth (and back and forth, and back and forth...) between Halmstad and Lund. Thank you for leading me to Lund in the first place through your stories and happy memories. Thank you for always being there for me. ♥

Emilie; my sister, my best friend – you are the Roy to my Åke, Anton to my Carl, Carla to my Connie, Niles to my Frasier. i carry you heart (i carry it in my heart)

References

- Laslett LJ, Alagona P, Jr., Clark BA, 3rd, Drozda JP, Jr., Saldivar F, Wilson SR, Poe C, Hart M. The worldwide environment of cardiovascular disease: Prevalence, diagnosis, therapy, and policy issues: A report from the american college of cardiology. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 2012;60:S1-49
- Roger VL, Go AS, Lloyd-Jones DM, Benjamin EJ, Berry JD, Borden WB, Bravata DM, Dai S, Ford ES, Fox CS, Fullerton HJ, Gillespie C, Hailpern SM, Heit JA, Howard VJ, Kissela BM, Kittner SJ, Lackland DT, Lichtman JH, Lisabeth LD, Makuc DM, Marcus GM, Marelli A, Matchar DB, Moy CS, Mozaffarian D, Mussolino ME, Nichol G, Paynter NP, Soliman EZ, Sorlie PD, Sotoodehnia N, Turan TN, Virani SS, Wong ND, Woo D, Turner MB. Heart disease and stroke statistics--2012 update: A report from the american heart association. *Circulation*. 2012;125:e2-e220
- 3. Falk E. Pathogenesis of atherosclerosis. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2006;47:C7-12
- 4. Mughal MM, Khan MK, DeMarco JK, Majid A, Shamoun F, Abela GS. Symptomatic and asymptomatic carotid artery plaque. *Expert review of cardiovascular therapy*. 2011;9:1315-1330
- Falk E. Plaque rupture with severe pre-existing stenosis precipitating coronary thrombosis. Characteristics of coronary atherosclerotic plaques underlying fatal occlusive thrombi. Br Heart J. 1983;50:127-134
- 6. Eliasziw M, Kennedy J, Hill MD, Buchan AM, Barnett HJ, North American Symptomatic Carotid Endarterectomy Trial G. Early risk of stroke after a transient ischemic attack in patients with internal carotid artery disease. *CMAJ : Canadian Medical Association journal = journal de l'Association medicale canadienne*. 2004;170:1105-1109
- Johnston SC, Rothwell PM, Nguyen-Huynh MN, Giles MF, Elkins JS, Bernstein AL, Sidney S. Validation and refinement of scores to predict very early stroke risk after transient ischaemic attack. *Lancet*. 2007;369:283-292
- 8. North American Symptomatic Carotid Endarterectomy Trial C. Beneficial effect of carotid endarterectomy in symptomatic patients with high-grade carotid stenosis. *N Engl J Med.* 1991;325:445-453
- 9. Writing Group M, Lloyd-Jones D, Adams RJ, Brown TM, Carnethon M, Dai S, De Simone G, Ferguson TB, Ford E, Furie K, Gillespie C, Go A, Greenlund K, Haase N, Hailpern S, Ho PM, Howard V, Kissela B, Kittner S, Lackland D, Lisabeth L, Marelli A, McDermott MM, Meigs J, Mozaffarian D, Mussolino M, Nichol G, Roger VL, Rosamond W, Sacco R, Sorlie P, Roger VL, Thom T, Wasserthiel-Smoller S, Wong ND, Wylie-Rosett J, American Heart Association Statistics C, Stroke Statistics S. Heart disease and stroke statistics--2010 update: A report from the american heart association. *Circulation*. 2010;121:e46-e215

- 10. Mineva PP, Manchev IC, Hadjiev DI. Prevalence and outcome of asymptomatic carotid stenosis: A population-based ultrasonographic study. *European journal of neurology : the official journal of the European Federation of Neurological Societies.* 2002;9:383-388
- 11. Chaturvedi N. The burden of diabetes and its complications: Trends and implications for intervention. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract*. 2007;76 Suppl 1:S3-12
- 12. Beckman JA, Creager MA, Libby P. Diabetes and atherosclerosis: Epidemiology, pathophysiology, and management. *JAMA*. 2002;287:2570-2581
- Grundy SM, Howard B, Smith S, Jr., Eckel R, Redberg R, Bonow RO. Prevention conference vi: Diabetes and cardiovascular disease: Executive summary: Conference proceeding for healthcare professionals from a special writing group of the american heart association. *Circulation*. 2002;105:2231-2239
- 14. Pelisek J, Eckstein HH, Zernecke A. Pathophysiological mechanisms of carotid plaque vulnerability: Impact on ischemic stroke. *Archivum immunologiae et therapiae experimentalis*. 2012;60:431-442
- 15. Raines EW. The extracellular matrix can regulate vascular cell migration, proliferation, and survival: Relationships to vascular disease. *Int J Exp Pathol*. 2000;81:173-182
- Adiguzel E, Ahmad PJ, Franco C, Bendeck MP. Collagens in the progression and complications of atherosclerosis. *Vasc Med.* 2009;14:73-89
- 17. Williams KJ, Tabas I. The response-to-retention hypothesis of early atherogenesis. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 1995;15:551-561
- 18. Chait A, Wight TN. Interaction of native and modified low-density lipoproteins with extracellular matrix. *Current opinion in lipidology*. 2000;11:457-463
- 19. Schwenke DC, St Clair RW. Influx, efflux, and accumulation of ldl in normal arterial areas and atherosclerotic lesions of white carneau pigeons with naturally occurring and cholesterol-aggravated aortic atherosclerosis. *Arterioscler Thromb*. 1993;13:1368-1381
- 20. Ross R, Glomset J, Harker L. Response to injury and atherogenesis. *Am J Pathol.* 1977;86:675-684
- 21. Ross R. The pathogenesis of atherosclerosis: A perspective for the 1990s. *Nature*. 1993;362:801-809
- 22. DiCorleto PE, Chisolm GM, 3rd. Participation of the endothelium in the development of the atherosclerotic plaque. *Progress in lipid research*. 1986;25:365-374
- 23. Witztum JL, Steinberg D. Role of oxidized low density lipoprotein in atherogenesis. *J Clin Invest.* 1991;88:1785-1792
- 24. Chisolm GM, 3rd. Antioxidants and atherosclerosis: A current assessment. *Clinical cardiology*. 1991;14:I25-30
- 25. Nakashima Y, Chen YX, Kinukawa N, Sueishi K. Distributions of diffuse intimal thickening in human arteries: Preferential expression in atherosclerosis-prone arteries from an early age. *Virchows Archiv : an international journal of pathology*. 2002;441:279-288
- 26. Nakashima Y, Fujii H, Sumiyoshi S, Wight TN, Sueishi K. Early human atherosclerosis: Accumulation of lipid and proteoglycans in intimal thickenings followed by macrophage infiltration. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2007;27:1159-1165
- 27. Virmani R, Kolodgie FD, Burke AP, Farb A, Schwartz SM. Lessons from sudden coronary death: A comprehensive morphological classification scheme for atherosclerotic lesions. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2000;20:1262-1275
- 28. Napoli C, D'Armiento FP, Mancini FP, Postiglione A, Witztum JL, Palumbo G, Palinski W. Fatty streak formation occurs in human fetal aortas and is greatly enhanced by maternal hypercholesterolemia. Intimal accumulation of low density lipoprotein and its oxidation

precede monocyte recruitment into early atherosclerotic lesions. J Clin Invest. 1997;100:2680-2690

- 29. Guyton JR, Klemp KF. Transitional features in human atherosclerosis. Intimal thickening, cholesterol clefts, and cell loss in human aortic fatty streaks. *Am J Pathol*. 1993;143:1444-1457
- 30. Holman RL, Mc GH, Jr., Strong JP, Geer JC. The natural history of atherosclerosis: The early aortic lesions as seen in new orleans in the middle of the of the 20th century. *Am J Pathol*. 1958;34:209-235
- 31. Stary HC, Chandler AB, Dinsmore RE, Fuster V, Glagov S, Insull W, Jr., Rosenfeld ME, Schwartz CJ, Wagner WD, Wissler RW. A definition of advanced types of atherosclerotic lesions and a histological classification of atherosclerosis. A report from the committee on vascular lesions of the council on arteriosclerosis, american heart association. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 1995;15:1512-1531
- Jonasson L, Holm J, Skalli O, Bondjers G, Hansson GK. Regional accumulations of t cells, macrophages, and smooth muscle cells in the human atherosclerotic plaque. *Arteriosclerosis*. 1986;6:131-138
- 33. Falk E, Shah PK, Fuster V. Coronary plaque disruption. Circulation. 1995;92:657-671
- 34. van der Wal AC, Becker AE, van der Loos CM, Das PK. Site of intimal rupture or erosion of thrombosed coronary atherosclerotic plaques is characterized by an inflammatory process irrespective of the dominant plaque morphology. *Circulation*. 1994;89:36-44
- Skalen K, Gustafsson M, Rydberg EK, Hulten LM, Wiklund O, Innerarity TL, Boren J. Subendothelial retention of atherogenic lipoproteins in early atherosclerosis. *Nature*. 2002;417:750-754
- 36. Leitinger N. Oxidized phospholipids as modulators of inflammation in atherosclerosis. *Current* opinion in lipidology. 2003;14:421-430
- Cybulsky MI, Gimbrone MA, Jr. Endothelial expression of a mononuclear leukocyte adhesion molecule during atherogenesis. *Science*. 1991;251:788-791
- 38. Poston RN, Haskard DO, Coucher JR, Gall NP, Johnson-Tidey RR. Expression of intercellular adhesion molecule-1 in atherosclerotic plaques. *Am J Pathol.* 1992;140:665-673
- Bourdillon MC, Poston RN, Covacho C, Chignier E, Bricca G, McGregor JL. Icam-1 deficiency reduces atherosclerotic lesions in double-knockout mice (apoe(-/-)/icam-1(-/-)) fed a fat or a chow diet. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*. 2000;20:2630-2635
- 40. Dong ZM, Chapman SM, Brown AA, Frenette PS, Hynes RO, Wagner DD. The combined role of p- and e-selectins in atherosclerosis. *J Clin Invest*. 1998;102:145-152
- 41. Dai G, Kaazempur-Mofrad MR, Natarajan S, Zhang Y, Vaughn S, Blackman BR, Kamm RD, Garcia-Cardena G, Gimbrone MA, Jr. Distinct endothelial phenotypes evoked by arterial waveforms derived from atherosclerosis-susceptible and -resistant regions of human vasculature. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2004;101:14871-14876
- 42. Gu L, Okada Y, Clinton SK, Gerard C, Sukhova GK, Libby P, Rollins BJ. Absence of monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 reduces atherosclerosis in low density lipoprotein receptor-deficient mice. *Molecular cell*. 1998;2:275-281
- 43. Lesnik P, Haskell CA, Charo IF. Decreased atherosclerosis in cx3cr1-/- mice reveals a role for fractalkine in atherogenesis. *J Clin Invest*. 2003;111:333-340
- 44. Veillard NR, Kwak B, Pelli G, Mulhaupt F, James RW, Proudfoot AE, Mach F. Antagonism of rantes receptors reduces atherosclerotic plaque formation in mice. *Circ Res.* 2004;94:253-261

- Berliner JA, Territo MC, Sevanian A, Ramin S, Kim JA, Bamshad B, Esterson M, Fogelman AM. Minimally modified low density lipoprotein stimulates monocyte endothelial interactions. *J Clin Invest*. 1990;85:1260-1266
- 46. Smith JD, Trogan E, Ginsberg M, Grigaux C, Tian J, Miyata M. Decreased atherosclerosis in mice deficient in both macrophage colony-stimulating factor (op) and apolipoprotein e. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 1995;92:8264-8268
- 47. Peiser L, Mukhopadhyay S, Gordon S. Scavenger receptors in innate immunity. *Current opinion in immunology*. 2002;14:123-128
- Janeway CA, Jr., Medzhitov R. Innate immune recognition. Annu Rev Immunol. 2002;20:197-216
- Galkina E, Ley K. Vascular adhesion molecules in atherosclerosis. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2007;27:2292-2301
- 50. Chamley-Campbell JH, Campbell GR. What controls smooth muscle phenotype? *Atherosclerosis.* 1981;40:347-357
- 51. Gabbiani G, Kocher O, Bloom WS, Vandekerckhove J, Weber K. Actin expression in smooth muscle cells of rat aortic intimal thickening, human atheromatous plaque, and cultured rat aortic media. *J Clin Invest.* 1984;73:148-152
- 52. Barger AC, Beeuwkes R, 3rd, Lainey LL, Silverman KJ. Hypothesis: Vasa vasorum and neovascularization of human coronary arteries. A possible role in the pathophysiology of atherosclerosis. *N Engl J Med.* 1984;310:175-177
- 53. Virmani R, Kolodgie FD, Burke AP, Finn AV, Gold HK, Tulenko TN, Wrenn SP, Narula J. Atherosclerotic plaque progression and vulnerability to rupture: Angiogenesis as a source of intraplaque hemorrhage. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*. 2005;25:2054-2061
- 54. Altaf N, Goode SD, Beech A, Gladman JR, Morgan PS, MacSweeney ST, Auer DP. Plaque hemorrhage is a marker of thromboembolic activity in patients with symptomatic carotid disease. *Radiology*. 2011;258:538-545
- 55. Schaar JA, Muller JE, Falk E, Virmani R, Fuster V, Serruys PW, Colombo A, Stefanadis C, Ward Casscells S, Moreno PR, Maseri A, van der Steen AF. Terminology for high-risk and vulnerable coronary artery plaques. Report of a meeting on the vulnerable plaque, june 17 and 18, 2003, santorini, greece. *European heart journal*. 2004;25:1077-1082
- 56. Sakakura K, Nakano M, Otsuka F, Ladich E, Kolodgie FD, Virmani R. Pathophysiology of atherosclerosis plaque progression. *Heart, lung & circulation.* 2013;22:399-411
- 57. Kolodgie FD, Burke AP, Farb A, Weber DK, Kutys R, Wight TN, Virmani R. Differential accumulation of proteoglycans and hyaluronan in culprit lesions: Insights into plaque erosion. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*. 2002;22:1642-1648
- Sukhova GK, Schonbeck U, Rabkin E, Schoen FJ, Poole AR, Billinghurst RC, Libby P. Evidence for increased collagenolysis by interstitial collagenases-1 and -3 in vulnerable human atheromatous plaques. *Circulation*. 1999;99:2503-2509
- Herman MP, Sukhova GK, Libby P, Gerdes N, Tang N, Horton DB, Kilbride M, Breitbart RE, Chun M, Schonbeck U. Expression of neutrophil collagenase (matrix metalloproteinase-8) in human atheroma: A novel collagenolytic pathway suggested by transcriptional profiling. *Circulation*. 2001;104:1899-1904
- 60. Farb A, Burke AP, Tang AL, Liang TY, Mannan P, Smialek J, Virmani R. Coronary plaque erosion without rupture into a lipid core. A frequent cause of coronary thrombosis in sudden coronary death. *Circulation*. 1996;93:1354-1363
- 61. Burke AP, Farb A, Malcom GT, Liang YH, Smialek J, Virmani R. Coronary risk factors and plaque morphology in men with coronary disease who died suddenly. *N Engl J Med.* 1997;336:1276-1282

- 62. Arbustini E, Grasso M, Diegoli M, Pucci A, Bramerio M, Ardissino D, Angoli L, de Servi S, Bramucci E, Mussini A, et al. Coronary atherosclerotic plaques with and without thrombus in ischemic heart syndromes: A morphologic, immunohistochemical, and biochemical study. *Am J Cardiol.* 1991;68:36B-50B
- 63. Rioufol G, Finet G, Ginon I, Andre-Fouet X, Rossi R, Vialle E, Desjoyaux E, Convert G, Huret JF, Tabib A. Multiple atherosclerotic plaque rupture in acute coronary syndrome: A three-vessel intravascular ultrasound study. *Circulation*. 2002;106:804-808
- 64. Anitschkow NC, S. Über experimentelle cholester-insteatose und ihre bedeutung für die entstehung einiger pathologischer prozesse. Zentrbl Allg Pathol Pathol Anat. 1913;24:1-9
- 65. Classics in arteriosclerosis research: On experimental cholesterin steatosis and its significance in the origin of some pathological processes by n. Anitschkow and s. Chalatow, translated by mary z. Pelias, 1913. *Arteriosclerosis*. 1983;3:178-182
- 66. Gofman JW, Jones HB, Lindgren FT, Lyon TP, Elliott HA, Strisower B. Blood lipids and human atherosclerosis. *Circulation*. 1950;2:161-178
- 67. Glass CK, Witztum JL. Atherosclerosis. The road ahead. Cell. 2001;104:503-516
- 68. Khalil MF, Wagner WD, Goldberg IJ. Molecular interactions leading to lipoprotein retention and the initiation of atherosclerosis. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2004;24:2211-2218
- 69. Austin MA. Plasma triglyceride and coronary heart disease. *Arterioscler Thromb*. 1991;11:2-14
- 70. Zilversmit DB. Atherogenesis: A postprandial phenomenon. Circulation. 1979;60:473-485
- Hegele RA. Plasma lipoproteins: Genetic influences and clinical implications. *Nature reviews*. *Genetics*. 2009;10:109-121
- Powell LM, Wallis SC, Pease RJ, Edwards YH, Knott TJ, Scott J. A novel form of tissuespecific rna processing produces apolipoprotein-b48 in intestine. *Cell*. 1987;50:831-840
- 73. Fogelstrand P, Boren J. Retention of atherogenic lipoproteins in the artery wall and its role in atherogenesis. *Nutrition, metabolism, and cardiovascular diseases : NMCD*. 2012;22:1-7
- 74. Lusis AJ, Fogelman AM, Fonarow GC. Genetic basis of atherosclerosis: Part i: New genes and pathways. *Circulation*. 2004;110:1868-1873
- 75. Rader DJ, Daugherty A. Translating molecular discoveries into new therapies for atherosclerosis. *Nature*. 2008;451:904-913
- 76. Hageman J, Herrema H, Groen AK, Kuipers F. A role of the bile salt receptor fxr in atherosclerosis. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2010;30:1519-1528
- 77. Vasile E, Simionescu M, Simionescu N. Visualization of the binding, endocytosis, and transcytosis of low-density lipoprotein in the arterial endothelium in situ. *J Cell Biol.* 1983;96:1677-1689
- 78. Tarbell JM. Mass transport in arteries and the localization of atherosclerosis. *Annual review of biomedical engineering*. 2003;5:79-118
- Territo M, Berliner JA, Fogelman AM. Effect of monocyte migration on low density lipoprotein transport across aortic endothelial cell monolayers. *J Clin Invest.* 1984;74:2279-2284
- 80. Leake DS, Rankin SM. The oxidative modification of low-density lipoproteins by macrophages. *The Biochemical journal*. 1990;270:741-748
- Yuan XM, Brunk UT, Olsson AG. Effects of iron- and hemoglobin-loaded human monocytederived macrophages on oxidation and uptake of ldl. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*. 1995;15:1345-1351
- Steinberg D. Atherogenesis in perspective: Hypercholesterolemia and inflammation as partners in crime. *Nat Med.* 2002;8:1211-1217

- 83. Li AC, Glass CK. The macrophage foam cell as a target for therapeutic intervention. *Nat Med*. 2002;8:1235-1242
- Guyton JR. Phospholipid hydrolytic enzymes in a 'cesspool' of arterial intimal lipoproteins: A mechanism for atherogenic lipid accumulation. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*. 2001;21:884-886
- 85. Kolodgie FD, Gold HK, Burke AP, Fowler DR, Kruth HS, Weber DK, Farb A, Guerrero LJ, Hayase M, Kutys R, Narula J, Finn AV, Virmani R. Intraplaque hemorrhage and progression of coronary atheroma. *N Engl J Med*. 2003;349:2316-2325
- Crisby M, Nordin-Fredriksson G, Shah PK, Yano J, Zhu J, Nilsson J. Pravastatin treatment increases collagen content and decreases lipid content, inflammation, metalloproteinases, and cell death in human carotid plaques: Implications for plaque stabilization. *Circulation*. 2001;103:926-933
- Kwak B, Mulhaupt F, Myit S, Mach F. Statins as a newly recognized type of immunomodulator. *Nat Med.* 2000;6:1399-1402
- John S, Schneider MP, Delles C, Jacobi J, Schmieder RE. Lipid-independent effects of statins on endothelial function and bioavailability of nitric oxide in hypercholesterolemic patients. *Am Heart J.* 2005;149:473
- 89. Puccetti L, Pasqui AL, Auteri A, Bruni F. Mechanisms for antiplatelet action of statins. *Current drug targets. Cardiovascular & haematological disorders.* 2005;5:121-126
- Abela GS, Vedre A, Janoudi A, Huang R, Durga S, Tamhane U. Effect of statins on cholesterol crystallization and atherosclerotic plaque stabilization. *Am J Cardiol*. 2011;107:1710-1717
- 91. Greene CM, Zern TL, Wood RJ, Shrestha S, Aggarwal D, Sharman MJ, Volek JS, Fernandez ML. Maintenance of the ldl cholesterol:Hdl cholesterol ratio in an elderly population given a dietary cholesterol challenge. *The Journal of nutrition*. 2005;135:2793-2798
- Assmann G, Nofer JR. Atheroprotective effects of high-density lipoproteins. Annual review of medicine. 2003;54:321-341
- Nakamura Y, Iso H, Kita Y, Ueshima H, Okada K, Konishi M, Inoue M, Tsugane S. Egg consumption, serum total cholesterol concentrations and coronary heart disease incidence: Japan public health center-based prospective study. *The British journal of nutrition*. 2006;96:921-928
- 94. Qureshi AI, Suri FK, Ahmed S, Nasar A, Divani AA, Kirmani JF. Regular egg consumption does not increase the risk of stroke and cardiovascular diseases. *Medical science monitor : international medical journal of experimental and clinical research*. 2007;13:CR1-8
- 95. Sata M. Circulating vascular progenitor cells contribute to vascular repair, remodeling, and lesion formation. *Trends Cardiovasc Med.* 2003;13:249-253
- 96. Bentzon JF, Weile C, Sondergaard CS, Hindkjaer J, Kassem M, Falk E. Smooth muscle cells in atherosclerosis originate from the local vessel wall and not circulating progenitor cells in apoe knockout mice. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2006;26:2696-2702
- 97. Daniel JM, Bielenberg W, Stieger P, Weinert S, Tillmanns H, Sedding DG. Time-course analysis on the differentiation of bone marrow-derived progenitor cells into smooth muscle cells during neointima formation. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2010;30:1890-1896
- Yu H, Stoneman V, Clarke M, Figg N, Xin HB, Kotlikoff M, Littlewood T, Bennett M. Bone marrow-derived smooth muscle-like cells are infrequent in advanced primary atherosclerotic plaques but promote atherosclerosis. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2011;31:1291-1299
- Ross R, Masuda J, Raines EW, Gown AM, Katsuda S, Sasahara M, Malden LT, Masuko H, Sato H. Localization of pdgf-b protein in macrophages in all phases of atherogenesis. *Science*. 1990;248:1009-1012

- Newby AC, Zaltsman AB. Fibrous cap formation or destruction--the critical importance of vascular smooth muscle cell proliferation, migration and matrix formation. *Cardiovasc Res.* 1999;41:345-360
- Stirk CM, Kochhar A, Smith EB, Thompson WD. Presence of growth-stimulating fibrin degradation products containing fragment e in human atherosclerotic plaques. *Atherosclerosis*. 1993;103:159-169
- 102. Davies MJ, Woolf N, Rowles PM, Pepper J. Morphology of the endothelium over atherosclerotic plaques in human coronary arteries. *Br Heart J*. 1988;60:459-464
- 103. Hansson GK. Cell-mediated immunity in atherosclerosis. *Current opinion in lipidology*. 1997;8:301-311
- 104. Stemme S, Faber B, Holm J, Wiklund O, Witztum JL, Hansson GK. T lymphocytes from human atherosclerotic plaques recognize oxidized low density lipoprotein. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* U S A. 1995;92:3893-3897
- Tupin E, Nicoletti A, Elhage R, Rudling M, Ljunggren HG, Hansson GK, Berne GP. Cd1ddependent activation of nkt cells aggravates atherosclerosis. J Exp Med. 2004;199:417-422
- 106. Mosorin M, Surcel HM, Laurila A, Lehtinen M, Karttunen R, Juvonen J, Paavonen J, Morrison RP, Saikku P, Juvonen T. Detection of chlamydia pneumoniae-reactive t lymphocytes in human atherosclerotic plaques of carotid artery. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2000;20:1061-1067
- 107. Frostegard J, Ulfgren AK, Nyberg P, Hedin U, Swedenborg J, Andersson U, Hansson GK. Cytokine expression in advanced human atherosclerotic plaques: Dominance of proinflammatory (th1) and macrophage-stimulating cytokines. *Atherosclerosis*. 1999;145:33-43
- 108. Hansson GK, Libby P, Schonbeck U, Yan ZQ. Innate and adaptive immunity in the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis. *Circ Res.* 2002;91:281-291
- Robertson AK, Rudling M, Zhou X, Gorelik L, Flavell RA, Hansson GK. Disruption of tgfbeta signaling in t cells accelerates atherosclerosis. *J Clin Invest.* 2003;112:1342-1350
- 110. Caligiuri G, Rudling M, Ollivier V, Jacob MP, Michel JB, Hansson GK, Nicoletti A. Interleukin-10 deficiency increases atherosclerosis, thrombosis, and low-density lipoproteins in apolipoprotein e knockout mice. *Mol Med.* 2003;9:10-17
- 111. Caligiuri G, Nicoletti A, Poirier B, Hansson GK. Protective immunity against atherosclerosis carried by b cells of hypercholesterolemic mice. *J Clin Invest*. 2002;109:745-753
- 112. Houtkamp MA, de Boer OJ, van der Loos CM, van der Wal AC, Becker AE. Adventitial infiltrates associated with advanced atherosclerotic plaques: Structural organization suggests generation of local humoral immune responses. *The Journal of pathology*. 2001;193:263-269
- Daugherty A, Pure E, Delfel-Butteiger D, Chen S, Leferovich J, Roselaar SE, Rader DJ. The effects of total lymphocyte deficiency on the extent of atherosclerosis in apolipoprotein e-/mice. J Clin Invest. 1997;100:1575-1580
- Kovanen PT, Kaartinen M, Paavonen T. Infiltrates of activated mast cells at the site of coronary atheromatous erosion or rupture in myocardial infarction. *Circulation*. 1995;92:1084-1088
- 115. Kaartinen M, van der Wal AC, van der Loos CM, Piek JJ, Koch KT, Becker AE, Kovanen PT. Mast cell infiltration in acute coronary syndromes: Implications for plaque rupture. J Am Coll Cardiol. 1998;32:606-612
- 116. Naruko T, Ueda M, Haze K, van der Wal AC, van der Loos CM, Itoh A, Komatsu R, Ikura Y, Ogami M, Shimada Y, Ehara S, Yoshiyama M, Takeuchi K, Yoshikawa J, Becker AE. Neutrophil infiltration of culprit lesions in acute coronary syndromes. *Circulation*. 2002;106:2894-2900

- 117. Geng YJ, Libby P. Progression of atheroma: A struggle between death and procreation. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*. 2002;22:1370-1380
- 118. Tedgui A, Mallat Z. Apoptosis as a determinant of atherothrombosis. *Thrombosis and haemostasis*. 2001;86:420-426
- 119. Thyberg J, Blomgren K, Roy J, Tran PK, Hedin U. Phenotypic modulation of smooth muscle cells after arterial injury is associated with changes in the distribution of laminin and fibronectin. *J Histochem Cytochem*. 1997;45:837-846
- Rauch U, Saxena A, Lorkowski S, Rauterberg J, Bjorkbacka H, Durbeej M, Hultgardh-Nilsson A. Laminin isoforms in atherosclerotic arteries from mice and man. *Histol Histopathol*. 2011;26:711-724
- 121. Wight TN. Cell biology of arterial proteoglycans. Arteriosclerosis. 1989;9:1-20
- 122. Rohwedder I, Montanez E, Beckmann K, Bengtsson E, Duner P, Nilsson J, Soehnlein O, Fassler R. Plasma fibronectin deficiency impedes atherosclerosis progression and fibrous cap formation. *EMBO molecular medicine*. 2012;4:564-576
- 123. Finn AV, Nakano M, Narula J, Kolodgie FD, Virmani R. Concept of vulnerable/unstable plaque. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2010;30:1282-1292
- 124. Davies MJ, Richardson PD, Woolf N, Katz DR, Mann J. Risk of thrombosis in human atherosclerotic plaques: Role of extracellular lipid, macrophage, and smooth muscle cell content. *Br Heart J*. 1993;69:377-381
- 125. Tabas I, Williams KJ, Boren J. Subendothelial lipoprotein retention as the initiating process in atherosclerosis: Update and therapeutic implications. *Circulation*. 2007;116:1832-1844
- 126. Tran-Lundmark K, Tran PK, Paulsson-Berne G, Friden V, Soininen R, Tryggvason K, Wight TN, Kinsella MG, Boren J, Hedin U. Heparan sulfate in perlecan promotes mouse atherosclerosis: Roles in lipid permeability, lipid retention, and smooth muscle cell proliferation. *Circ Res.* 2008;103:43-52
- 127. Doran AC, Meller N, McNamara CA. Role of smooth muscle cells in the initiation and early progression of atherosclerosis. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*. 2008;28:812-819
- 128. Hansson GK. Inflammation, atherosclerosis, and coronary artery disease. *N Engl J Med*. 2005;352:1685-1695
- 129. Libby P. Inflammation and cardiovascular disease mechanisms. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*. 2006;83:456S-460S
- 130. Koyama H, Raines EW, Bornfeldt KE, Roberts JM, Ross R. Fibrillar collagen inhibits arterial smooth muscle proliferation through regulation of cdk2 inhibitors. *Cell*. 1996;87:1069-1078
- 131. Ichii T, Koyama H, Tanaka S, Kim S, Shioi A, Okuno Y, Raines EW, Iwao H, Otani S, Nishizawa Y. Fibrillar collagen specifically regulates human vascular smooth muscle cell genes involved in cellular responses and the pericellular matrix environment. *Circ Res.* 2001;88:460-467
- 132. Li S, Lao J, Chen BP, Li YS, Zhao Y, Chu J, Chen KD, Tsou TC, Peck K, Chien S. Genomic analysis of smooth muscle cells in 3-dimensional collagen matrix. *FASEB J*. 2003;17:97-99
- Hedin U, Bottger BA, Forsberg E, Johansson S, Thyberg J. Diverse effects of fibronectin and laminin on phenotypic properties of cultured arterial smooth muscle cells. *J Cell Biol.* 1988;107:307-319
- 134. Thyberg J, Hedin U, Sjolund M, Palmberg L, Bottger BA. Regulation of differentiated properties and proliferation of arterial smooth muscle cells. *Arteriosclerosis*. 1990;10:966-990
- 135. Lepidi S, Kenagy RD, Raines EW, Chiu ES, Chait A, Ross R, Clowes AW. Mmp9 production by human monocyte-derived macrophages is decreased on polymerized type i collagen. J Vasc Surg. 2001;34:1111-1118

- 136. Wesley RB, 2nd, Meng X, Godin D, Galis ZS. Extracellular matrix modulates macrophage functions characteristic to atheroma: Collagen type i enhances acquisition of resident macrophage traits by human peripheral blood monocytes in vitro. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 1998;18:432-440
- 137. Kaplan G, Gaudernack G. In vitro differentiation of human monocytes. Differences in monocyte phenotypes induced by cultivation on glass or on collagen. *J Exp Med.* 1982;156:1101-1114
- de Fougerolles AR, Chi-Rosso G, Bajardi A, Gotwals P, Green CD, Koteliansky VE. Global expression analysis of extracellular matrix-integrin interactions in monocytes. *Immunity*. 2000;13:749-758
- 139. Vink A, Schoneveld AH, Richard W, de Kleijn DP, Falk E, Borst C, Pasterkamp G. Plaque burden, arterial remodeling and plaque vulnerability: Determined by systemic factors? *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 2001;38:718-723
- 140. Sluijter JP, Smeets MB, Velema E, Pasterkamp G, de Kleijn DP. Increase in collagen turnover but not in collagen fiber content is associated with flow-induced arterial remodeling. *Journal of vascular research*. 2004;41:546-555
- 141. Newby AC, George SJ, Ismail Y, Johnson JL, Sala-Newby GB, Thomas AC. Vulnerable atherosclerotic plaque metalloproteinases and foam cell phenotypes. *Thrombosis and haemostasis*. 2009;101:1006-1011
- 142. Kuzuya M, Nakamura K, Sasaki T, Cheng XW, Itohara S, Iguchi A. Effect of mmp-2 deficiency on atherosclerotic lesion formation in apoe-deficient mice. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2006;26:1120-1125
- 143. Luttun A, Lutgens E, Manderveld A, Maris K, Collen D, Carmeliet P, Moons L. Loss of matrix metalloproteinase-9 or matrix metalloproteinase-12 protects apolipoprotein e-deficient mice against atherosclerotic media destruction but differentially affects plaque growth. *Circulation*. 2004;109:1408-1414
- 144. Choi ET, Collins ET, Marine LA, Uberti MG, Uchida H, Leidenfrost JE, Khan MF, Boc KP, Abendschein DR, Parks WC. Matrix metalloproteinase-9 modulation by resident arterial cells is responsible for injury-induced accelerated atherosclerotic plaque development in apolipoprotein e-deficient mice. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2005;25:1020-1025
- 145. Johnson JL, George SJ, Newby AC, Jackson CL. Divergent effects of matrix metalloproteinases 3, 7, 9, and 12 on atherosclerotic plaque stability in mouse brachiocephalic arteries. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2005;102:15575-15580
- 146. Deguchi JO, Aikawa E, Libby P, Vachon JR, Inada M, Krane SM, Whittaker P, Aikawa M. Matrix metalloproteinase-13/collagenase-3 deletion promotes collagen accumulation and organization in mouse atherosclerotic plaques. *Circulation*. 2005;112:2708-2715
- 147. Johnson JL, Devel L, Czarny B, George SJ, Jackson CL, Rogakos V, Beau F, Yiotakis A, Newby AC, Dive V. A selective matrix metalloproteinase-12 inhibitor retards atherosclerotic plaque development in apolipoprotein e-knockout mice. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2011;31:528-535
- 148. Fukumoto Y, Deguchi JO, Libby P, Rabkin-Aikawa E, Sakata Y, Chin MT, Hill CC, Lawler PR, Varo N, Schoen FJ, Krane SM, Aikawa M. Genetically determined resistance to collagenase action augments interstitial collagen accumulation in atherosclerotic plaques. *Circulation*. 2004;110:1953-1959
- 149. Silence J, Lupu F, Collen D, Lijnen HR. Persistence of atherosclerotic plaque but reduced aneurysm formation in mice with stromelysin-1 (mmp-3) gene inactivation. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2001;21:1440-1445

- 150. Johnson JL, Dwivedi A, Somerville M, George SJ, Newby AC. Matrix metalloproteinase (mmp)-3 activates mmp-9 mediated vascular smooth muscle cell migration and neointima formation in mice. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2011;31:e35-44
- 151. Lemaitre V, O'Byrne TK, Borczuk AC, Okada Y, Tall AR, D'Armiento J. Apoe knockout mice expressing human matrix metalloproteinase-1 in macrophages have less advanced atherosclerosis. *J Clin Invest*. 2001;107:1227-1234
- 152. Galis ZS, Sukhova GK, Lark MW, Libby P. Increased expression of matrix metalloproteinases and matrix degrading activity in vulnerable regions of human atherosclerotic plaques. *J Clin Invest.* 1994;94:2493-2503
- 153. Dollery CM, Libby P. Atherosclerosis and proteinase activation. *Cardiovasc Res.* 2006;69:625-635
- 154. Nikkari ST, O'Brien KD, Ferguson M, Hatsukami T, Welgus HG, Alpers CE, Clowes AW. Interstitial collagenase (mmp-1) expression in human carotid atherosclerosis. *Circulation*. 1995;92:1393-1398
- 155. Formato M, Farina M, Spirito R, Maggioni M, Guarino A, Cherchi GM, Biglioli P, Edelstein C, Scanu AM. Evidence for a proinflammatory and proteolytic environment in plaques from endarterectomy segments of human carotid arteries. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2004;24:129-135
- 156. Loftus IM, Naylor AR, Goodall S, Crowther M, Jones L, Bell PR, Thompson MM. Increased matrix metalloproteinase-9 activity in unstable carotid plaques. A potential role in acute plaque disruption. *Stroke*. 2000;31:40-47
- 157. Peeters W, Moll FL, Vink A, van der Spek PJ, de Kleijn DP, de Vries JP, Verheijen JH, Newby AC, Pasterkamp G. Collagenase matrix metalloproteinase-8 expressed in atherosclerotic carotid plaques is associated with systemic cardiovascular outcome. *European heart journal*. 2011;32:2314-2325
- 158. Halpert I, Sires UI, Roby JD, Potter-Perigo S, Wight TN, Shapiro SD, Welgus HG, Wickline SA, Parks WC. Matrilysin is expressed by lipid-laden macrophages at sites of potential rupture in atherosclerotic lesions and localizes to areas of versican deposition, a proteoglycan substrate for the enzyme. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 1996;93:9748-9753
- 159. Scholtes VP, Johnson JL, Jenkins N, Sala-Newby GB, de Vries JP, de Borst GJ, de Kleijn DP, Moll FL, Pasterkamp G, Newby AC. Carotid atherosclerotic plaque matrix metalloproteinase-12-positive macrophage subpopulation predicts adverse outcome after endarterectomy. *Journal of the American Heart Association*. 2012;1:e001040
- 160. Hoffmann U, Brady TJ, Muller J. Cardiology patient page. Use of new imaging techniques to screen for coronary artery disease. *Circulation*. 2003;108:e50-53
- Burke AP, Virmani R, Galis Z, Haudenschild CC, Muller JE. 34th bethesda conference: Task force #2--what is the pathologic basis for new atherosclerosis imaging techniques? J Am Coll Cardiol. 2003;41:1874-1886
- 162. Jeziorska M, McCollum C, Wooley DE. Observations on bone formation and remodelling in advanced atherosclerotic lesions of human carotid arteries. *Virchows Archiv : an international journal of pathology*. 1998;433:559-565
- 163. Abedin M, Tintut Y, Demer LL. Vascular calcification: Mechanisms and clinical ramifications. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*. 2004;24:1161-1170
- 164. Karwowski W, Naumnik B, Szczepanski M, Mysliwiec M. The mechanism of vascular calcification a systematic review. *Medical science monitor : international medical journal of experimental and clinical research*. 2012;18:RA1-11
- Murshed M, Schinke T, McKee MD, Karsenty G. Extracellular matrix mineralization is regulated locally; different roles of two gla-containing proteins. J Cell Biol. 2004;165:625-630

- Anderson HC, Sipe JB, Hessle L, Dhanyamraju R, Atti E, Camacho NP, Millan JL. Impaired calcification around matrix vesicles of growth plate and bone in alkaline phosphatase-deficient mice. *Am J Pathol.* 2004;164:841-847
- 167. Speer MY, McKee MD, Guldberg RE, Liaw L, Yang HY, Tung E, Karsenty G, Giachelli CM. Inactivation of the osteopontin gene enhances vascular calcification of matrix gla proteindeficient mice: Evidence for osteopontin as an inducible inhibitor of vascular calcification in vivo. J Exp Med. 2002;196:1047-1055
- 168. Tanimura A, McGregor DH, Anderson HC. Matrix vesicles in atherosclerotic calcification. Proceedings of the Society for Experimental Biology and Medicine. Society for Experimental Biology and Medicine. 1983;172:173-177
- 169. Tyson KL, Reynolds JL, McNair R, Zhang Q, Weissberg PL, Shanahan CM. Osteo/chondrocytic transcription factors and their target genes exhibit distinct patterns of expression in human arterial calcification. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2003;23:489-494
- 170. Bostrom K, Watson KE, Horn S, Wortham C, Herman IM, Demer LL. Bone morphogenetic protein expression in human atherosclerotic lesions. *J Clin Invest*. 1993;91:1800-1809
- 171. Steitz SA, Speer MY, Curinga G, Yang HY, Haynes P, Aebersold R, Schinke T, Karsenty G, Giachelli CM. Smooth muscle cell phenotypic transition associated with calcification: Upregulation of cbfa1 and downregulation of smooth muscle lineage markers. *Circ Res.* 2001;89:1147-1154
- 172. Proudfoot D, Davies JD, Skepper JN, Weissberg PL, Shanahan CM. Acetylated low-density lipoprotein stimulates human vascular smooth muscle cell calcification by promoting osteoblastic differentiation and inhibiting phagocytosis. *Circulation*. 2002;106:3044-3050
- 173. Tintut Y, Patel J, Territo M, Saini T, Parhami F, Demer LL. Monocyte/macrophage regulation of vascular calcification in vitro. *Circulation*. 2002;105:650-655
- 174. Watson KE, Bostrom K, Ravindranath R, Lam T, Norton B, Demer LL. Tgf-beta 1 and 25hydroxycholesterol stimulate osteoblast-like vascular cells to calcify. *J Clin Invest*. 1994;93:2106-2113
- 175. Parhami F, Morrow AD, Balucan J, Leitinger N, Watson AD, Tintut Y, Berliner JA, Demer LL. Lipid oxidation products have opposite effects on calcifying vascular cell and bone cell differentiation. A possible explanation for the paradox of arterial calcification in osteoporotic patients. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*. 1997;17:680-687
- 176. Demer LL, Tintut Y. Vascular calcification: Pathobiology of a multifaceted disease. *Circulation*. 2008;117:2938-2948
- 177. Canfield AE, Sutton AB, Hoyland JA, Schor AM. Association of thrombospondin-1 with osteogenic differentiation of retinal pericytes in vitro. *J Cell Sci*. 1996;109 (Pt 2):343-353
- 178. Proudfoot D, Skepper JN, Shanahan CM, Weissberg PL. Calcification of human vascular cells in vitro is correlated with high levels of matrix gla protein and low levels of osteopontin expression. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 1998;18:379-388
- Cheng SL, Shao JS, Charlton-Kachigian N, Loewy AP, Towler DA. Msx2 promotes osteogenesis and suppresses adipogenic differentiation of multipotent mesenchymal progenitors. J Biol Chem. 2003;278:45969-45977
- Watson KE, Parhami F, Shin V, Demer LL. Fibronectin and collagen i matrixes promote calcification of vascular cells in vitro, whereas collagen iv matrix is inhibitory. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 1998;18:1964-1971
- 181. Gibson GJ, Schor SL, Grant ME. Effects of matrix macromolecules on chondrocyte gene expression: Synthesis of a low molecular weight collagen species by cells cultured within collagen gels. J Cell Biol. 1982;93:767-774

- 182. Nandalur KR, Baskurt E, Hagspiel KD, Phillips CD, Kramer CM. Calcified carotid atherosclerotic plaque is associated less with ischemic symptoms than is noncalcified plaque on mdct. *AJR. American journal of roentgenology*. 2005;184:295-298
- 183. Shaalan WE, Cheng H, Gewertz B, McKinsey JF, Schwartz LB, Katz D, Cao D, Desai T, Glagov S, Bassiouny HS. Degree of carotid plaque calcification in relation to symptomatic outcome and plaque inflammation. J Vasc Surg. 2004;40:262-269
- 184. Wahlgren CM, Zheng W, Shaalan W, Tang J, Bassiouny HS. Human carotid plaque calcification and vulnerability. Relationship between degree of plaque calcification, fibrous cap inflammatory gene expression and symptomatology. *Cerebrovascular diseases*. 2009;27:193-200
- 185. Kragel AH, Reddy SG, Wittes JT, Roberts WC. Morphometric analysis of the composition of atherosclerotic plaques in the four major epicardial coronary arteries in acute myocardial infarction and in sudden coronary death. *Circulation*. 1989;80:1747-1756
- 186. Burke AP, Weber DK, Kolodgie FD, Farb A, Taylor AJ, Virmani R. Pathophysiology of calcium deposition in coronary arteries. *Herz*. 2001;26:239-244
- Mautner GC, Mautner SL, Froehlich J, Feuerstein IM, Proschan MA, Roberts WC, Doppman JL. Coronary artery calcification: Assessment with electron beam ct and histomorphometric correlation. *Radiology*. 1994;192:619-623
- 188. Janowitz WR. Ct imaging of coronary artery calcium as an indicator of atherosclerotic disease: An overview. *Journal of thoracic imaging*. 2001;16:2-7
- 189. Kragel AH, Reddy SG, Wittes JT, Roberts WC. Morphometric analysis of the composition of coronary arterial plaques in isolated unstable angina pectoris with pain at rest. *Am J Cardiol*. 1990;66:562-567
- 190. Li ZY, Howarth S, Tang T, Graves M, J UK-I, Gillard JH. Does calcium deposition play a role in the stability of atheroma? Location may be the key. *Cerebrovascular diseases*. 2007;24:452-459
- 191. Huang H, Virmani R, Younis H, Burke AP, Kamm RD, Lee RT. The impact of calcification on the biomechanical stability of atherosclerotic plaques. *Circulation*. 2001;103:1051-1056
- 192. Mithieux SM, Weiss AS. Elastin. Advances in protein chemistry. 2005;70:437-461
- 193. Akima T, Nakanishi K, Suzuki K, Katayama M, Ohsuzu F, Kawai T. Soluble elastin decreases in the progress of atheroma formation in human aorta. *Circ J*. 2009;73:2154-2162
- 194. Sukhova GK, Shi GP, Simon DI, Chapman HA, Libby P. Expression of the elastolytic cathepsins s and k in human atheroma and regulation of their production in smooth muscle cells. *J Clin Invest*. 1998;102:576-583
- 195. Wagenseil JE, Mecham RP. Elastin in large artery stiffness and hypertension. *Journal of cardiovascular translational research*. 2012;5:264-273
- Krettek A, Sukhova GK, Libby P. Elastogenesis in human arterial disease: A role for macrophages in disordered elastin synthesis. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2003;23:582-587
- 197. Maurice P, Blaise S, Gayral S, Debelle L, Laffargue M, Hornebeck W, Duca L. Elastin fragmentation and atherosclerosis progression: The elastokine concept. *Trends Cardiovasc Med.* 2013;23:211-221
- 198. Duca L, Floquet N, Alix AJ, Haye B, Debelle L. Elastin as a matrikine. *Critical reviews in* oncology/hematology. 2004;49:235-244
- Baydanoff S, Nicoloff G, Alexiev C. Age-related changes in the level of circulating elastinderived peptides in serum from normal and atherosclerotic subjects. *Atherosclerosis*. 1987;66:163-168

- 200. Senior RM, Griffin GL, Mecham RP, Wrenn DS, Prasad KU, Urry DW. Val-gly-val-ala-progly, a repeating peptide in elastin, is chemotactic for fibroblasts and monocytes. *J Cell Biol*. 1984;99:870-874
- 201. Baranek T, Debret R, Antonicelli F, Lamkhioued B, Belaaouaj A, Hornebeck W, Bernard P, Guenounou M, Le Naour R. Elastin receptor (spliced galactosidase) occupancy by elastin peptides counteracts proinflammatory cytokine expression in lipopolysaccharide-stimulated human monocytes through nf-kappab down-regulation. *Journal of immunology*. 2007;179:6184-6192
- 202. Simionescu A, Simionescu DT, Vyavahare NR. Osteogenic responses in fibroblasts activated by elastin degradation products and transforming growth factor-beta1: Role of myofibroblasts in vascular calcification. *Am J Pathol.* 2007;171:116-123
- Nackman GB, Karkowski FJ, Halpern VJ, Gaetz HP, Tilson MD. Elastin degradation products induce adventitial angiogenesis in the anidjar/dobrin rat aneurysm model. *Surgery*. 1997;122:39-44
- 204. Robinet A, Fahem A, Cauchard JH, Huet E, Vincent L, Lorimier S, Antonicelli F, Soria C, Crepin M, Hornebeck W, Bellon G. Elastin-derived peptides enhance angiogenesis by promoting endothelial cell migration and tubulogenesis through upregulation of mt1-mmp. J Cell Sci. 2005;118:343-356
- 205. Evanko SP, Raines EW, Ross R, Gold LI, Wight TN. Proteoglycan distribution in lesions of atherosclerosis depends on lesion severity, structural characteristics, and the proximity of platelet-derived growth factor and transforming growth factor-beta. *Am J Pathol.* 1998;152:533-546
- 206. Kunjathoor VV, Chiu DS, O'Brien KD, LeBoeuf RC. Accumulation of biglycan and perlecan, but not versican, in lesions of murine models of atherosclerosis. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2002;22:462-468
- 207. Schonherr E, Jarvelainen HT, Sandell LJ, Wight TN. Effects of platelet-derived growth factor and transforming growth factor-beta 1 on the synthesis of a large versican-like chondroitin sulfate proteoglycan by arterial smooth muscle cells. *J Biol Chem.* 1991;266:17640-17647
- 208. Olsson U, Bondjers G, Camejo G. Fatty acids modulate the composition of extracellular matrix in cultured human arterial smooth muscle cells by altering the expression of genes for proteoglycan core proteins. *Diabetes*. 1999;48:616-622
- 209. Viola M, Bartolini B, Vigetti D, Karousou E, Moretto P, Deleonibus S, Sawamura T, Wight TN, Hascall VC, De Luca G, Passi A. Oxidized low density lipoprotein (ldl) affects hyaluronan synthesis in human aortic smooth muscle cells. *J Biol Chem.* 2013;288:29595-29603
- 210. Olsson U, Camejo G, Hurt-Camejo E, Elfsber K, Wiklund O, Bondjers G. Possible functional interactions of apolipoprotein b-100 segments that associate with cell proteoglycans and the apob/e receptor. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 1997;17:149-155
- 211. Galeano NF, Al-Haideri M, Keyserman F, Rumsey SC, Deckelbaum RJ. Small dense low density lipoprotein has increased affinity for ldl receptor-independent cell surface binding sites: A potential mechanism for increased atherogenicity. *Journal of lipid research*. 1998;39:1263-1273
- 212. Iverius PH. The interaction between human plasma lipoproteins and connective tissue glycosaminoglycans. *J Biol Chem.* 1972;247:2607-2613
- 213. Boren J, Lee I, Zhu W, Arnold K, Taylor S, Innerarity TL. Identification of the low density lipoprotein receptor-binding site in apolipoprotein b100 and the modulation of its binding activity by the carboxyl terminus in familial defective apo-b100. *J Clin Invest*. 1998;101:1084-1093
- 214. Zhang SH, Reddick RL, Piedrahita JA, Maeda N. Spontaneous hypercholesterolemia and arterial lesions in mice lacking apolipoprotein e. *Science*. 1992;258:468-471
- 215. Veniant MM, Pierotti V, Newland D, Cham CM, Sanan DA, Walzem RL, Young SG. Susceptibility to atherosclerosis in mice expressing exclusively apolipoprotein b48 or apolipoprotein b100. *J Clin Invest*. 1997;100:180-188
- 216. Flood C, Gustafsson M, Richardson PE, Harvey SC, Segrest JP, Boren J. Identification of the proteoglycan binding site in apolipoprotein b48. *J Biol Chem.* 2002;277:32228-32233
- 217. Hakala JK, Oorni K, Pentikainen MO, Hurt-Camejo E, Kovanen PT. Lipolysis of ldl by human secretory phospholipase a(2) induces particle fusion and enhances the retention of ldl to human aortic proteoglycans. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2001;21:1053-1058
- 218. Flood C, Gustafsson M, Pitas RE, Arnaboldi L, Walzem RL, Boren J. Molecular mechanism for changes in proteoglycan binding on compositional changes of the core and the surface of low-density lipoprotein-containing human apolipoprotein b100. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2004;24:564-570
- Wagner WD, Salisbury GJ, Rowe HA. A proposed structure of chondroitin 6-sulfate proteoglycan of human normal and adjacent atherosclerotic plaque. *Arteriosclerosis*. 1986;6:407-417
- 220. Chang MY, Tsoi C, Wight TN, Chait A. Lysophosphatidylcholine regulates synthesis of biglycan and the proteoglycan form of macrophage colony stimulating factor. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2003;23:809-815
- 221. Oorni K, Pentikainen MO, Annila A, Kovanen PT. Oxidation of low density lipoprotein particles decreases their ability to bind to human aortic proteoglycans. Dependence on oxidative modification of the lysine residues. *J Biol Chem.* 1997;272:21303-21311
- 222. Makoveichuk E, Lookene A, Olivecrona G. Mild oxidation of lipoproteins increases their affinity for surfaces covered by heparan sulfate and lipoprotein lipase. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* 1998;252:703-710
- 223. Gustafsson M, Levin M, Skalen K, Perman J, Friden V, Jirholt P, Olofsson SO, Fazio S, Linton MF, Semenkovich CF, Olivecrona G, Boren J. Retention of low-density lipoprotein in atherosclerotic lesions of the mouse: Evidence for a role of lipoprotein lipase. *Circ Res.* 2007;101:777-783
- 224. Pentikainen MO, Oorni K, Kovanen PT. Lipoprotein lipase (lpl) strongly links native and oxidized low density lipoprotein particles to decorin-coated collagen. Roles for both dimeric and monomeric forms of lpl. *J Biol Chem.* 2000;275:5694-5701
- 225. Babaev VR, Fazio S, Gleaves LA, Carter KJ, Semenkovich CF, Linton MF. Macrophage lipoprotein lipase promotes foam cell formation and atherosclerosis in vivo. *J Clin Invest*. 1999;103:1697-1705
- 226. Goldberg IJ. Lipoprotein lipase and lipolysis: Central roles in lipoprotein metabolism and atherogenesis. *Journal of lipid research*. 1996;37:693-707
- 227. Yla-Herttuala S, Lipton BA, Rosenfeld ME, Goldberg IJ, Steinberg D, Witztum JL. Macrophages and smooth muscle cells express lipoprotein lipase in human and rabbit atherosclerotic lesions. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 1991;88:10143-10147
- 228. Dichek HL, Brecht W, Fan J, Ji ZS, McCormick SP, Akeefe H, Conzo L, Sanan DA, Weisgraber KH, Young SG, Taylor JM, Mahley RW. Overexpression of hepatic lipase in transgenic mice decreases apolipoprotein b-containing and high density lipoproteins. Evidence that hepatic lipase acts as a ligand for lipoprotein uptake. *J Biol Chem*. 1998;273:1896-1903
- 229. Fuki IV, Blanchard N, Jin W, Marchadier DH, Millar JS, Glick JM, Rader DJ. Endogenously produced endothelial lipase enhances binding and cellular processing of plasma lipoproteins via heparan sulfate proteoglycan-mediated pathway. *J Biol Chem.* 2003;278:34331-34338

- Guyton JR, Bocan TM, Schifani TA. Quantitative ultrastructural analysis of perifibrous lipid and its association with elastin in nonatherosclerotic human aorta. *Arteriosclerosis*. 1985;5:644-652
- 231. Jimi S, Sakata N, Matunaga A, Takebayashi S. Low density lipoproteins bind more to type i and iii collagens by negative charge-dependent mechanisms than to type iv and v collagens. *Atherosclerosis.* 1994;107:109-116
- 232. Kovanen PT, Pentikainen MO. Decorin links low-density lipoproteins (ldl) to collagen: A novel mechanism for retention of ldl in the atherosclerotic plaque. *Trends Cardiovasc Med.* 1999;9:86-91
- 233. Pillarisetti S, Paka L, Obunike JC, Berglund L, Goldberg IJ. Subendothelial retention of lipoprotein (a). Evidence that reduced heparan sulfate promotes lipoprotein binding to subendothelial matrix. *J Clin Invest.* 1997;100:867-874
- 234. Brownlee M. Advanced protein glycosylation in diabetes and aging. *Annual review of medicine*. 1995;46:223-234
- 235. Goldin A, Beckman JA, Schmidt AM, Creager MA. Advanced glycation end products: Sparking the development of diabetic vascular injury. *Circulation*. 2006;114:597-605
- 236. Howard EW, Benton R, Ahern-Moore J, Tomasek JJ. Cellular contraction of collagen lattices is inhibited by nonenzymatic glycation. *Exp Cell Res.* 1996;228:132-137
- 237. Wolffenbuttel BH, Boulanger CM, Crijns FR, Huijberts MS, Poitevin P, Swennen GN, Vasan S, Egan JJ, Ulrich P, Cerami A, Levy BI. Breakers of advanced glycation end products restore large artery properties in experimental diabetes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 1998;95:4630-4634
- 238. Tsilibary EC, Charonis AS, Reger LA, Wohlhueter RM, Furcht LT. The effect of nonenzymatic glucosylation on the binding of the main noncollagenous nc1 domain to type iv collagen. *J Biol Chem.* 1988;263:4302-4308
- 239. Basta G, Schmidt AM, De Caterina R. Advanced glycation end products and vascular inflammation: Implications for accelerated atherosclerosis in diabetes. *Cardiovasc Res.* 2004;63:582-592
- 240. Morigi M, Angioletti S, Imberti B, Donadelli R, Micheletti G, Figliuzzi M, Remuzzi A, Zoja C, Remuzzi G. Leukocyte-endothelial interaction is augmented by high glucose concentrations and hyperglycemia in a nf-kb-dependent fashion. *J Clin Invest*. 1998;101:1905-1915
- 241. Lehto S, Ronnemaa T, Haffner SM, Pyorala K, Kallio V, Laakso M. Dyslipidemia and hyperglycemia predict coronary heart disease events in middle-aged patients with niddm. *Diabetes*. 1997;46:1354-1359
- 242. Bokemark L, Wikstrand J, Attvall S, Hulthe J, Wedel H, Fagerberg B. Insulin resistance and intima-media thickness in the carotid and femoral arteries of clinically healthy 58-year-old men. The atherosclerosis and insulin resistance study (air). *Journal of internal medicine*. 2001;249:59-67
- 243. Rodriguez-Lee M, Ostergren-Lunden G, Wallin B, Moses J, Bondjers G, Camejo G. Fatty acids cause alterations of human arterial smooth muscle cell proteoglycans that increase the affinity for low-density lipoprotein. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2006;26:130-135
- 244. Ignatowski A. Influence of animal food on the organism of rabbits. *S Peterb Izviest Imp Voyenno-Med. Akad.* 1908:154-173
- 245. Mouse Genome Sequencing C, Waterston RH, Lindblad-Toh K, Birney E, Rogers J, Abril JF, Agarwal P, Agarwala R, Ainscough R, Alexandersson M, An P, Antonarakis SE, Attwood J, Baertsch R, Bailey J, Barlow K, Beck S, Berry E, Birren B, Bloom T, Bork P, Botcherby M, Bray N, Brent MR, Brown DG, Brown SD, Bult C, Burton J, Butler J, Campbell RD, Carninci P, Cawley S, Chiaromonte F, Chinwalla AT, Church DM, Clamp M, Clee C, Collins FS, Cook LL, Copley RR, Coulson A, Couronne O, Cuff J, Curwen V, Cutts T, Daly M, David R,

Davies J, Delehaunty KD, Deri J, Dermitzakis ET, Dewey C, Dickens NJ, Diekhans M, Dodge S. Dubchak I. Dunn DM. Eddy SR. Elnitski L. Emes RD. Eswara P. Evras E. Felsenfeld A. Fewell GA, Flicek P, Foley K, Frankel WN, Fulton LA, Fulton RS, Furey TS, Gage D, Gibbs RA, Glusman G, Gnerre S, Goldman N, Goodstadt L, Grafham D, Graves TA, Green ED, Gregory S, Guigo R, Guyer M, Hardison RC, Haussler D, Hayashizaki Y, Hillier LW, Hinrichs A, Hlavina W, Holzer T, Hsu F, Hua A, Hubbard T, Hunt A, Jackson I, Jaffe DB, Johnson LS, Jones M, Jones TA, Joy A, Kamal M, Karlsson EK, Karolchik D, Kasprzyk A, Kawai J, Keibler E, Kells C, Kent WJ, Kirby A, Kolbe DL, Korf I, Kucherlapati RS, Kulbokas EJ, Kulp D, Landers T, Leger JP, Leonard S, Letunic I, Levine R, Li J, Li M, Lloyd C, Lucas S, Ma B, Maglott DR, Mardis ER, Matthews L, Mauceli E, Mayer JH, McCarthy M, McCombie WR, McLaren S, McLay K, McPherson JD, Meldrim J, Meredith B, Mesirov JP, Miller W, Miner TL, Mongin E, Montgomery KT, Morgan M, Mott R, Mullikin JC, Muzny DM, Nash WE, Nelson JO, Nhan MN, Nicol R, Ning Z, Nusbaum C, O'Connor MJ, Okazaki Y, Oliver K, Overton-Larty E, Pachter L, Parra G, Pepin KH, Peterson J, Pevzner P, Plumb R, Pohl CS, Poliakov A, Ponce TC, Ponting CP, Potter S, Ouail M, Reymond A, Roe BA, Roskin KM, Rubin EM, Rust AG, Santos R, Sapojnikov V, Schultz B, Schultz J, Schwartz MS, Schwartz S, Scott C, Seaman S, Searle S, Sharpe T, Sheridan A, Shownkeen R, Sims S, Singer JB, Slater G, Smit A, Smith DR, Spencer B, Stabenau A, Stange-Thomann N, Sugnet C, Suyama M, Tesler G, Thompson J, Torrents D, Trevaskis E, Tromp J, Ucla C, Ureta-Vidal A, Vinson JP, Von Niederhausern AC, Wade CM, Wall M, Weber RJ, Weiss RB, Wendl MC, West AP, Wetterstrand K, Wheeler R, Whelan S, Wierzbowski J, Willev D, Williams S, Wilson RK, Winter E, Worley KC, Wyman D, Yang S, Yang SP, Zdobnov EM, Zody MC, Lander ES. Initial sequencing and comparative analysis of the mouse genome. *Nature*. 2002;420:520-562

- 246. Jawien J, Nastalek P, Korbut R. Mouse models of experimental atherosclerosis. *Journal of physiology and pharmacology : an official journal of the Polish Physiological Society*. 2004;55:503-517
- 247. Paigen B, Morrow A, Brandon C, Mitchell D, Holmes P. Variation in susceptibility to atherosclerosis among inbred strains of mice. *Atherosclerosis*. 1985;57:65-73
- 248. Liao F, Andalibi A, deBeer FC, Fogelman AM, Lusis AJ. Genetic control of inflammatory gene induction and nf-kappa b-like transcription factor activation in response to an atherogenic diet in mice. *J Clin Invest*. 1993;91:2572-2579
- 249. Plump AS, Smith JD, Hayek T, Aalto-Setala K, Walsh A, Verstuyft JG, Rubin EM, Breslow JL. Severe hypercholesterolemia and atherosclerosis in apolipoprotein e-deficient mice created by homologous recombination in es cells. *Cell*. 1992;71:343-353
- 250. Piedrahita JA, Zhang SH, Hagaman JR, Oliver PM, Maeda N. Generation of mice carrying a mutant apolipoprotein e gene inactivated by gene targeting in embryonic stem cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 1992;89:4471-4475
- 251. Plump AS, Breslow JL. Apolipoprotein e and the apolipoprotein e-deficient mouse. *Annual review of nutrition*. 1995;15:495-518
- 252. Nakashima Y, Plump AS, Raines EW, Breslow JL, Ross R. Apoe-deficient mice develop lesions of all phases of atherosclerosis throughout the arterial tree. *Arterioscler Thromb*. 1994;14:133-140
- 253. Roselaar SE, Kakkanathu PX, Daugherty A. Lymphocyte populations in atherosclerotic lesions of apoe -/- and ldl receptor -/- mice. Decreasing density with disease progression. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 1996;16:1013-1018
- 254. Reddick RL, Zhang SH, Maeda N. Atherosclerosis in mice lacking apo e. Evaluation of lesional development and progression. *Arterioscler Thromb.* 1994;14:141-147

- 255. Palinski W, Ord VA, Plump AS, Breslow JL, Steinberg D, Witztum JL. Apoe-deficient mice are a model of lipoprotein oxidation in atherogenesis. Demonstration of oxidation-specific epitopes in lesions and high titers of autoantibodies to malondialdehyde-lysine in serum. *Arterioscler Thromb.* 1994;14:605-616
- 256. Ishibashi S, Goldstein JL, Brown MS, Herz J, Burns DK. Massive xanthomatosis and atherosclerosis in cholesterol-fed low density lipoprotein receptor-negative mice. *J Clin Invest*. 1994;93:1885-1893
- 257. Masucci-Magoulas L, Goldberg IJ, Bisgaier CL, Serajuddin H, Francone OL, Breslow JL, Tall AR. A mouse model with features of familial combined hyperlipidemia. *Science*. 1997;275:391-394
- 258. Ishibashi S, Herz J, Maeda N, Goldstein JL, Brown MS. The two-receptor model of lipoprotein clearance: Tests of the hypothesis in "knockout" mice lacking the low density lipoprotein receptor, apolipoprotein e, or both proteins. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 1994;91:4431-4435
- 259. Bonthu S, Heistad DD, Chappell DA, Lamping KG, Faraci FM. Atherosclerosis, vascular remodeling, and impairment of endothelium-dependent relaxation in genetically altered hyperlipidemic mice. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 1997;17:2333-2340
- Linton MF, Farese RV, Jr., Chiesa G, Grass DS, Chin P, Hammer RE, Hobbs HH, Young SG. Transgenic mice expressing high plasma concentrations of human apolipoprotein b100 and lipoprotein(a). J Clin Invest. 1993;92:3029-3037
- Callow MJ, Stoltzfus LJ, Lawn RM, Rubin EM. Expression of human apolipoprotein b and assembly of lipoprotein(a) in transgenic mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 1994;91:2130-2134
- 262. Purcell-Huynh DA, Farese RV, Jr., Johnson DF, Flynn LM, Pierotti V, Newland DL, Linton MF, Sanan DA, Young SG. Transgenic mice expressing high levels of human apolipoprotein b develop severe atherosclerotic lesions in response to a high-fat diet. *J Clin Invest*. 1995;95:2246-2257
- Veniant MM, Sullivan MA, Kim SK, Ambroziak P, Chu A, Wilson MD, Hellerstein MK, Rudel LL, Walzem RL, Young SG. Defining the atherogenicity of large and small lipoproteins containing apolipoprotein b100. *J Clin Invest*. 2000;106:1501-1510
- 264. Reddick RL, Zhang SH, Maeda N. Aortic atherosclerotic plaque injury in apolipoprotein e deficient mice. *Atherosclerosis*. 1998;140:297-305
- 265. Bentzon JF, Sondergaard CS, Kassem M, Falk E. Smooth muscle cells healing atherosclerotic plaque disruptions are of local, not blood, origin in apolipoprotein e knockout mice. *Circulation*. 2007;116:2053-2061
- 266. Ni M, Wang Y, Zhang M, Zhang PF, Ding SF, Liu CX, Liu XL, Zhao YX, Zhang Y. Atherosclerotic plaque disruption induced by stress and lipopolysaccharide in apolipoprotein e knockout mice. *American journal of physiology. Heart and circulatory physiology*. 2009;296:H1598-1606
- 267. Rosenfeld ME, Polinsky P, Virmani R, Kauser K, Rubanyi G, Schwartz SM. Advanced atherosclerotic lesions in the innominate artery of the apoe knockout mouse. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2000;20:2587-2592
- Johnson JL, Jackson CL. Atherosclerotic plaque rupture in the apolipoprotein e knockout mouse. *Atherosclerosis*. 2001;154:399-406
- Calara F, Silvestre M, Casanada F, Yuan N, Napoli C, Palinski W. Spontaneous plaque rupture and secondary thrombosis in apolipoprotein e-deficient and ldl receptor-deficient mice. *The Journal of pathology*. 2001;195:257-263
- Thomas WA, Kim DN. Biology of disease. Atherosclerosis as a hyperplastic and/or neoplastic process. *Lab Invest*. 1983;48:245-255

- 271. Masuda J, Ross R. Atherogenesis during low level hypercholesterolemia in the nonhuman primate. Ii. Fatty streak conversion to fibrous plaque. *Arteriosclerosis*. 1990;10:178-187
- 272. Meir KS, Leitersdorf E. Atherosclerosis in the apolipoprotein-e-deficient mouse: A decade of progress. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*. 2004;24:1006-1014
- 273. Ricard-Blum S. The collagen family. *Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in biology*. 2011;3:a004978
- 274. Canty EG, Kadler KE. Procollagen trafficking, processing and fibrillogenesis. *J Cell Sci.* 2005;118:1341-1353
- Kadler KE, Baldock C, Bella J, Boot-Handford RP. Collagens at a glance. J Cell Sci. 2007;120:1955-1958
- 276. Font B, Eichenberger D, Rosenberg LM, van der Rest M. Characterization of the interactions of type xii collagen with two small proteoglycans from fetal bovine tendon, decorin and fibromodulin. *Matrix Biol.* 1996;15:341-348
- 277. van der Rest M, Garrone R. Collagen family of proteins. FASEB J. 1991;5:2814-2823
- Kivirikko KI, Myllyharju J. Prolyl 4-hydroxylases and their protein disulfide isomerase subunit. *Matrix Biol.* 1998;16:357-368
- 279. Berg RA, Prockop DJ. The thermal transition of a non-hydroxylated form of collagen. Evidence for a role for hydroxyproline in stabilizing the triple-helix of collagen. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* 1973;52:115-120
- 280. Bella J, Eaton M, Brodsky B, Berman HM. Crystal and molecular structure of a collagen-like peptide at 1.9 a resolution. *Science*. 1994;266:75-81
- Bella J, Brodsky B, Berman HM. Hydration structure of a collagen peptide. *Structure*. 1995;3:893-906
- 282. Robins SP, Bailey AJ. Isolation and characterization of glycosyl derivatives of the reducible cross-links in collagens. *FEBS letters*. 1974;38:334-336
- Kivirikko KI, Risteli L. Biosynthesis of collagen and its alterations in pathological states. Medical biology. 1976;54:159-186
- 284. Bann JG, Peyton DH, Bachinger HP. Sweet is stable: Glycosylation stabilizes collagen. *FEBS letters*. 2000;473:237-240
- 285. Engel J, Prockop DJ. The zipper-like folding of collagen triple helices and the effects of mutations that disrupt the zipper. *Annual review of biophysics and biophysical chemistry*. 1991;20:137-152
- 286. Wilson R, Lees JF, Bulleid NJ. Protein disulfide isomerase acts as a molecular chaperone during the assembly of procollagen. *J Biol Chem.* 1998;273:9637-9643
- 287. Lamande SR, Bateman JF. Procollagen folding and assembly: The role of endoplasmic reticulum enzymes and molecular chaperones. *Seminars in cell & developmental biology*. 1999;10:455-464
- Banos CC, Thomas AH, Kuo CK. Collagen fibrillogenesis in tendon development: Current models and regulation of fibril assembly. *Birth Defects Res C Embryo Today*. 2008;84:228-244
- Leung MK, Fessler LI, Greenberg DB, Fessler JH. Separate amino and carboxyl procollagen peptidases in chick embryo tendon. J Biol Chem. 1979;254:224-232
- 290. Colige A, Li SW, Sieron AL, Nusgens BV, Prockop DJ, Lapiere CM. Cdna cloning and expression of bovine procollagen i n-proteinase: A new member of the superfamily of zincmetalloproteinases with binding sites for cells and other matrix components. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 1997;94:2374-2379

- 291. Colige A, Vandenberghe I, Thiry M, Lambert CA, Van Beeumen J, Li SW, Prockop DJ, Lapiere CM, Nusgens BV. Cloning and characterization of adamts-14, a novel adamts displaying high homology with adamts-2 and adamts-3. *J Biol Chem*. 2002;277:5756-5766
- Kessler E, Takahara K, Biniaminov L, Brusel M, Greenspan DS. Bone morphogenetic protein-1: The type i procollagen c-proteinase. *Science*. 1996;271:360-362
- 293. Bulleid NJ, Dalley JA, Lees JF. The c-propeptide domain of procollagen can be replaced with a transmembrane domain without affecting trimer formation or collagen triple helix folding during biosynthesis. *EMBO J.* 1997;16:6694-6701
- 294. Lees JF, Tasab M, Bulleid NJ. Identification of the molecular recognition sequence which determines the type-specific assembly of procollagen. *EMBO J.* 1997;16:908-916
- 295. Kadler KE, Hojima Y, Prockop DJ. Assembly of collagen fibrils de novo by cleavage of the type i pc-collagen with procollagen c-proteinase. Assay of critical concentration demonstrates that collagen self-assembly is a classical example of an entropy-driven process. *J Biol Chem.* 1987;262:15696-15701
- 296. Prockop DJ. What holds us together? Why do some of us fall apart? What can we do about it? Matrix Biol. 1998;16:519-528
- 297. Birk DE, Trelstad RL. Extracellular compartments in tendon morphogenesis: Collagen fibril, bundle, and macroaggregate formation. *J Cell Biol*. 1986;103:231-240
- 298. Birk DE, Nurminskaya MV, Zycband EI. Collagen fibrillogenesis in situ: Fibril segments undergo post-depositional modifications resulting in linear and lateral growth during matrix development. *Dev Dyn.* 1995;202:229-243
- 299. Pinnell SR, Martin GR. The cross-linking of collagen and elastin: Enzymatic conversion of lysine in peptide linkage to alpha-aminoadipic-delta-semialdehyde (allysine) by an extract from bone. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 1968;61:708-716
- Smith-Mungo LI, Kagan HM. Lysyl oxidase: Properties, regulation and multiple functions in biology. *Matrix Biol*. 1998;16:387-398
- 301. Shoulders MD, Raines RT. Collagen structure and stability. *Annual review of biochemistry*. 2009;78:929-958
- Hedlund H, Mengarelli-Widholm S, Heinegard D, Reinholt FP, Svensson O. Fibromodulin distribution and association with collagen. *Matrix Biol.* 1994;14:227-232
- 303. Svensson L, Narlid I, Oldberg A. Fibromodulin and lumican bind to the same region on collagen type i fibrils. *FEBS letters*. 2000;470:178-182
- Hedbom E, Heinegard D. Binding of fibromodulin and decorin to separate sites on fibrillar collagens. J Biol Chem. 1993;268:27307-27312
- 305. Pringle GA, Dodd CM. Immunoelectron microscopic localization of the core protein of decorin near the d and e bands of tendon collagen fibrils by use of monoclonal antibodies. J Histochem Cytochem. 1990;38:1405-1411
- 306. Fleischmajer R, Perlish JS, Burgeson RE, Shaikh-Bahai F, Timpl R. Type i and type iii collagen interactions during fibrillogenesis. *Ann N Y Acad Sci*. 1990;580:161-175
- 307. Eyre DR, Apon S, Wu JJ, Ericsson LH, Walsh KA. Collagen type ix: Evidence for covalent linkages to type ii collagen in cartilage. *FEBS letters*. 1987;220:337-341
- 308. van der Rest M, Mayne R. Type ix collagen proteoglycan from cartilage is covalently crosslinked to type ii collagen. *J Biol Chem.* 1988;263:1615-1618
- 309. Keene DR, Lunstrum GP, Morris NP, Stoddard DW, Burgeson RE. Two type xii-like collagens localize to the surface of banded collagen fibrils. *J Cell Biol.* 1991;113:971-978

- 310. Chiquet M, Matthisson M, Koch M, Tannheimer M, Chiquet-Ehrismann R. Regulation of extracellular matrix synthesis by mechanical stress. *Biochemistry and cell biology = Biochimie et biologie cellulaire*. 1996;74:737-744
- Young BB, Gordon MK, Birk DE. Expression of type xiv collagen in developing chicken tendons: Association with assembly and growth of collagen fibrils. *Dev Dyn.* 2000;217:430-439
- 312. Brown JC, Mann K, Wiedemann H, Timpl R. Structure and binding properties of collagen type xiv isolated from human placenta. *J Cell Biol.* 1993;120:557-567
- 313. Colige A, Beschin A, Samyn B, Goebels Y, Van Beeumen J, Nusgens BV, Lapiere CM. Characterization and partial amino acid sequencing of a 107-kda procollagen i n-proteinase purified by affinity chromatography on immobilized type xiv collagen. *J Biol Chem.* 1995;270:16724-16730
- 314. Yurchenco PD, Patton BL. Developmental and pathogenic mechanisms of basement membrane assembly. *Current pharmaceutical design*. 2009;15:1277-1294
- 315. LeBleu VS, Macdonald B, Kalluri R. Structure and function of basement membranes. *Experimental biology and medicine*. 2007;232:1121-1129
- 316. Weir ML, Oppizzi ML, Henry MD, Onishi A, Campbell KP, Bissell MJ, Muschler JL. Dystroglycan loss disrupts polarity and beta-casein induction in mammary epithelial cells by perturbing laminin anchoring. *J Cell Sci*. 2006;119:4047-4058
- 317. Folkman J, Klagsbrun M, Sasse J, Wadzinski M, Ingber D, Vlodavsky I. A heparin-binding angiogenic protein--basic fibroblast growth factor--is stored within basement membrane. *Am J Pathol.* 1988;130:393-400
- 318. Lortat-Jacob H, Kleinman HK, Grimaud JA. High-affinity binding of interferon-gamma to a basement membrane complex (matrigel). *J Clin Invest*. 1991;87:878-883
- 319. Paralkar VM, Vukicevic S, Reddi AH. Transforming growth factor beta type 1 binds to collagen iv of basement membrane matrix: Implications for developmental *biology*. 1991;143:303-308
- 320. Gohring W, Sasaki T, Heldin CH, Timpl R. Mapping of the binding of platelet-derived growth factor to distinct domains of the basement membrane proteins bm-40 and perlecan and distinction from the bm-40 collagen-binding epitope. *European journal of biochemistry / FEBS*. 1998;255:60-66
- 321. Nomizu M, Otaka A, Utani A, Roller PP, Yamada Y. Assembly of synthetic laminin peptides into a triple-stranded coiled-coil structure. *J Biol Chem.* 1994;269:30386-30392
- 322. Yurchenco PD, Tsilibary EC, Charonis AS, Furthmayr H. Laminin polymerization in vitro. Evidence for a two-step assembly with domain specificity. *J Biol Chem.* 1985;260:7636-7644
- 323. McKee KK, Harrison D, Capizzi S, Yurchenco PD. Role of laminin terminal globular domains in basement membrane assembly. *J Biol Chem*. 2007;282:21437-21447
- 324. Yurchenco PD, Cheng YS. Self-assembly and calcium-binding sites in laminin. A three-arm interaction model. *J Biol Chem.* 1993;268:17286-17299
- 325. Smyth N, Vatansever HS, Murray P, Meyer M, Frie C, Paulsson M, Edgar D. Absence of basement membranes after targeting the lamc1 gene results in embryonic lethality due to failure of endoderm differentiation. *J Cell Biol*. 1999;144:151-160
- 326. Miner JH, Li C, Mudd JL, Go G, Sutherland AE. Compositional and structural requirements for laminin and basement membranes during mouse embryo implantation and gastrulation. *Development*. 2004;131:2247-2256

- 327. Timpl R, Wiedemann H, van Delden V, Furthmayr H, Kuhn K. A network model for the organization of type iv collagen molecules in basement membranes. *European journal of biochemistry / FEBS*. 1981;120:203-211
- 328. Sundaramoorthy M, Meiyappan M, Todd P, Hudson BG. Crystal structure of nc1 domains. Structural basis for type iv collagen assembly in basement membranes. *J Biol Chem*. 2002;277:31142-31153
- 329. Oberbaumer I, Wiedemann H, Timpl R, Kuhn K. Shape and assembly of type iv procollagen obtained from cell culture. *EMBO J.* 1982;1:805-810
- 330. Bachinger HP, Fessler LI, Fessler JH. Mouse procollagen iv. Characterization and supramolecular association. *J Biol Chem.* 1982;257:9796-9803
- Duncan KG, Fessler LI, Bachinger HP, Fessler JH. Procollagen iv. Association to tetramers. J Biol Chem. 1983;258:5869-5877
- Yurchenco PD, Furthmayr H. Self-assembly of basement membrane collagen. *Biochemistry*. 1984;23:1839-1850
- 333. Weber S, Engel J, Wiedemann H, Glanville RW, Timpl R. Subunit structure and assembly of the globular domain of basement-membrane collagen type iv. *European journal of biochemistry / FEBS*. 1984;139:401-410
- 334. Timpl R, Dziadek M, Fujiwara S, Nowack H, Wick G. Nidogen: A new, self-aggregating basement membrane protein. *European journal of biochemistry / FEBS*. 1983;137:455-465
- 335. Mann K, Deutzmann R, Aumailley M, Timpl R, Raimondi L, Yamada Y, Pan TC, Conway D, Chu ML. Amino acid sequence of mouse nidogen, a multidomain basement membrane protein with binding activity for laminin, collagen iv and cells. *EMBO J*. 1989;8:65-72
- Mayer U, Kohfeldt E, Timpl R. Structural and genetic analysis of laminin-nidogen interaction. Ann NY Acad Sci. 1998;857:130-142
- 337. Ries A, Gohring W, Fox JW, Timpl R, Sasaki T. Recombinant domains of mouse nidogen-1 and their binding to basement membrane proteins and monoclonal antibodies. *European journal of biochemistry / FEBS*. 2001;268:5119-5128
- 338. Paulsson M. Basement membrane proteins: Structure, assembly, and cellular interactions. *Critical reviews in biochemistry and molecular biology*. 1992;27:93-127
- 339. Noonan DM, Fulle A, Valente P, Cai S, Horigan E, Sasaki M, Yamada Y, Hassell JR. The complete sequence of perlecan, a basement membrane heparan sulfate proteoglycan, reveals extensive similarity with laminin a chain, low density lipoprotein-receptor, and the neural cell adhesion molecule. *J Biol Chem.* 1991;266:22939-22947
- 340. Clowes AW, Clowes MM. Kinetics of cellular proliferation after arterial injury. Iv. Heparin inhibits rat smooth muscle mitogenesis and migration. *Circ Res.* 1986;58:839-845
- 341. Hedin U, Bottger BA, Luthman J, Johansson S, Thyberg J. A substrate of the cell-attachment sequence of fibronectin (arg-gly-asp-ser) is sufficient to promote transition of arterial smooth muscle cells from a contractile to a synthetic phenotype. *Developmental biology*. 1989;133:489-501
- Kalamajski S, Oldberg A. The role of small leucine-rich proteoglycans in collagen fibrillogenesis. *Matrix Biol.* 2010;29:248-253
- 343. McEwan PA, Scott PG, Bishop PN, Bella J. Structural correlations in the family of small leucine-rich repeat proteins and proteoglycans. *J Struct Biol*. 2006;155:294-305
- 344. Ameye L, Young MF. Mice deficient in small leucine-rich proteoglycans: Novel in vivo models for osteoporosis, osteoarthritis, ehlers-danlos syndrome, muscular dystrophy, and corneal diseases. *Glycobiology*. 2002;12:107R-116R

- 345. Matsushima N, Ohyanagi T, Tanaka T, Kretsinger RH. Super-motifs and evolution of tandem leucine-rich repeats within the small proteoglycans--biglycan, decorin, lumican, fibromodulin, prelp, keratocan, osteoadherin, epiphycan, and osteoglycin. *Proteins*. 2000;38:210-225
- 346. Kobe B, Deisenhofer J. Crystal structure of porcine ribonuclease inhibitor, a protein with leucine-rich repeats. *Nature*. 1993;366:751-756
- 347. Weber IT, Harrison RW, Iozzo RV. Model structure of decorin and implications for collagen fibrillogenesis. *J Biol Chem.* 1996;271:31767-31770
- 348. Neame PJ, Choi HU, Rosenberg LC. The primary structure of the core protein of the small, leucine-rich proteoglycan (pg i) from bovine articular cartilage. *J Biol Chem.* 1989;264:8653-8661
- Roughley PJ. The structure and function of cartilage proteoglycans. *European cells & materials*. 2006;12:92-101
- 350. Heinegard D, Larsson T, Sommarin Y, Franzen A, Paulsson M, Hedbom E. Two novel matrix proteins isolated from articular cartilage show wide distributions among connective tissues. *J Biol Chem.* 1986;261:13866-13872
- 351. Oldberg A, Antonsson P, Lindblom K, Heinegard D. A collagen-binding 59-kd protein (fibromodulin) is structurally related to the small interstitial proteoglycans pg-s1 and pg-s2 (decorin). *EMBO J.* 1989;8:2601-2604
- 352. Goldberg M, Ono M, Septier D, Bonnefoix M, Kilts TM, Bi Y, Embree M, Ameye L, Young MF. Fibromodulin-deficient mice reveal dual functions for fibromodulin in regulating dental tissue and alveolar bone formation. *Cells, tissues, organs.* 2009;189:198-202
- 353. Antonsson P, Heinegård D, Oldberg Å. Structure and deduced amino acid sequence of the human fibromodulin gene. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) Gene Structure and Expression*. 1993;1174:204-206
- 354. Onnerfjord P, Heathfield TF, Heinegard D. Identification of tyrosine sulfation in extracellular leucine-rich repeat proteins using mass spectrometry. *J Biol Chem*. 2004;279:26-33
- 355. Antonsson P, Heinegard D, Oldberg A. Posttranslational modifications of fibromodulin. *J Biol Chem.* 1991;266:16859-16861
- 356. Tillgren V, Onnerfjord P, Haglund L, Heinegard D. The tyrosine sulfate-rich domains of the lrr proteins fibromodulin and osteoadherin bind motifs of basic clusters in a variety of heparinbinding proteins, including bioactive factors. *J Biol Chem.* 2009;284:28543-28553
- 357. Plaas AH, Neame PJ, Nivens CM, Reiss L. Identification of the keratan sulfate attachment sites on bovine fibromodulin. *J Biol Chem.* 1990;265:20634-20640
- 358. Venn G, Mason RM. Absence of keratan sulphate from skeletal tissues of mouse and rat. *The Biochemical journal*. 1985;228:443-450
- 359. Lauder RM, Huckerby TN, Nieduszynski IA. Lectin affinity chromatography of articular cartilage fibromodulin: Some molecules have keratan sulphate chains exclusively capped by alpha(2-3)-linked sialic acid. *Glycoconj J.* 2011;28:453-461
- 360. Funderburgh JL, Funderburgh ML, Mann MM, Conrad GW. Unique glycosylation of three keratan sulfate proteoglycan isoforms. *J Biol Chem.* 1991;266:14226-14231
- 361. Blochberger TC, Vergnes JP, Hempel J, Hassell JR. Cdna to chick lumican (corneal keratan sulfate proteoglycan) reveals homology to the small interstitial proteoglycan gene family and expression in muscle and intestine. *J Biol Chem.* 1992;267:347-352
- 362. Grover J, Chen XN, Korenberg JR, Roughley PJ. The human lumican gene. Organization, chromosomal location, and expression in articular cartilage. *J Biol Chem.* 1995;270:21942-21949

- 363. Cornuet PK, Blochberger TC, Hassell JR. Molecular polymorphism of lumican during corneal development. *Investigative ophthalmology & visual science*. 1994;35:870-877
- 364. Roughley PJ, White RJ, Cs-Szabo G, Mort JS. Changes with age in the structure of fibromodulin in human articular cartilage. *Osteoarthritis Cartilage*. 1996;4:153-161
- 365. Font B, Eichenberger D, Goldschmidt D, Boutillon MM, Hulmes DJ. Structural requirements for fibromodulin binding to collagen and the control of type i collagen fibrillogenesis--critical roles for disulphide bonding and the c-terminal region. *European journal of biochemistry / FEBS*. 1998;254:580-587
- 366. Svensson L, Aszodi A, Reinholt FP, Fassler R, Heinegard D, Oldberg A. Fibromodulin-null mice have abnormal collagen fibrils, tissue organization, and altered lumican deposition in tendon. *J Biol Chem.* 1999;274:9636-9647
- 367. Gill MR, Oldberg A, Reinholt FP. Fibromodulin-null murine knee joints display increased incidences of osteoarthritis and alterations in tissue biochemistry. *Osteoarthritis Cartilage*. 2002;10:751-757
- 368. Ameye L, Aria D, Jepsen K, Oldberg A, Xu T, Young MF. Abnormal collagen fibrils in tendons of biglycan/fibromodulin-deficient mice lead to gait impairment, ectopic ossification, and osteoarthritis. *FASEB J*. 2002;16:673-680
- 369. Chakravarti S, Magnuson T, Lass JH, Jepsen KJ, LaMantia C, Carroll H. Lumican regulates collagen fibril assembly: Skin fragility and corneal opacity in the absence of lumican. *J Cell Biol.* 1998;141:1277-1286
- 370. Quantock AJ, Meek KM, Chakravarti S. An x-ray diffraction investigation of corneal structure in lumican-deficient mice. *Investigative ophthalmology & visual science*. 2001;42:1750-1756
- 371. Ezura Y, Chakravarti S, Oldberg A, Chervoneva I, Birk DE. Differential expression of lumican and fibromodulin regulate collagen fibrillogenesis in developing mouse tendons. *J Cell Biol.* 2000;151:779-788
- 372. Jepsen KJ, Wu F, Peragallo JH, Paul J, Roberts L, Ezura Y, Oldberg A, Birk DE, Chakravarti S. A syndrome of joint laxity and impaired tendon integrity in lumican- and fibromodulin-deficient mice. *J Biol Chem.* 2002;277:35532-35540
- 373. Chakravarti S, Paul J, Roberts L, Chervoneva I, Oldberg A, Birk DE. Ocular and scleral alterations in gene-targeted lumican-fibromodulin double-null mice. *Investigative ophthalmology & visual science*. 2003;44:2422-2432
- 374. Fisher LW, Termine JD, Young MF. Deduced protein sequence of bone small proteoglycan i (biglycan) shows homology with proteoglycan ii (decorin) and several nonconnective tissue proteins in a variety of species. *J Biol Chem.* 1989;264:4571-4576
- 375. Vogel KG, Paulsson M, Heinegard D. Specific inhibition of type i and type ii collagen fibrillogenesis by the small proteoglycan of tendon. *The Biochemical journal*. 1984;223:587-597
- 376. Krusius T, Ruoslahti E. Primary structure of an extracellular matrix proteoglycan core protein deduced from cloned cdna. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 1986;83:7683-7687
- 377. Xu T, Bianco P, Fisher LW, Longenecker G, Smith E, Goldstein S, Bonadio J, Boskey A, Heegaard AM, Sommer B, Satomura K, Dominguez P, Zhao C, Kulkarni AB, Robey PG, Young MF. Targeted disruption of the biglycan gene leads to an osteoporosis-like phenotype in mice. *Nature genetics*. 1998;20:78-82
- 378. Corsi A, Xu T, Chen XD, Boyde A, Liang J, Mankani M, Sommer B, Iozzo RV, Eichstetter I, Robey PG, Bianco P, Young MF. Phenotypic effects of biglycan deficiency are linked to collagen fibril abnormalities, are synergized by decorin deficiency, and mimic ehlers-danloslike changes in bone and other connective tissues. *J Bone Miner Res.* 2002;17:1180-1189

- 379. Bowe MA, Mendis DB, Fallon JR. The small leucine-rich repeat proteoglycan biglycan binds to alpha-dystroglycan and is upregulated in dystrophic muscle. *J Cell Biol*. 2000;148:801-810
- 380. Rafii MS, Hagiwara H, Mercado ML, Seo NS, Xu T, Dugan T, Owens RT, Hook M, McQuillan DJ, Young MF, Fallon JR. Biglycan binds to alpha- and gamma-sarcoglycan and regulates their expression during development. *Journal of cellular physiology*. 2006;209:439-447
- 381. Mercado ML, Amenta AR, Hagiwara H, Rafii MS, Lechner BE, Owens RT, McQuillan DJ, Froehner SC, Fallon JR. Biglycan regulates the expression and sarcolemmal localization of dystrobrevin, syntrophin, and nnos. *FASEB J*. 2006;20:1724-1726
- 382. Danielson KG, Baribault H, Holmes DF, Graham H, Kadler KE, Iozzo RV. Targeted disruption of decorin leads to abnormal collagen fibril morphology and skin fragility. *J Cell Biol.* 1997;136:729-743
- Hakkinen L, Strassburger S, Kahari VM, Scott PG, Eichstetter I, Lozzo RV, Larjava H. A role for decorin in the structural organization of periodontal ligament. *Lab Invest*. 2000;80:1869-1880
- 384. Hedbom E, Heinegard D. Interaction of a 59-kda connective tissue matrix protein with collagen i and collagen ii. *J Biol Chem.* 1989;264:6898-6905
- 385. Kalamajski S, Oldberg A. Fibromodulin binds collagen type i via glu-353 and lys-355 in leucine-rich repeat 11. *J Biol Chem.* 2007;282:26740-26745
- Kalamajski S, Aspberg A, Oldberg A. The decorin sequence syiriadtnit binds collagen type i. J Biol Chem. 2007;282:16062-16067
- 387. Kalamajski S, Oldberg A. Homologous sequence in lumican and fibromodulin leucine-rich repeat 5-7 competes for collagen binding. *J Biol Chem.* 2009;284:534-539
- Tillgren V. Fibromodulin and chondroadherin in connective tissue homeostasis. *Department of Clinical Sciences, Lund University*. 2013;Doctoral dissertation: ISBN 978-991-87449-87490-87441, ISSN 81652-88220
- 389. Gori F, Schipani E, Demay MB. Fibromodulin is expressed by both chondrocytes and osteoblasts during fetal bone development. *J Cell Biochem*. 2001;82:46-57
- 390. Goldberg M, Marchadier A, Vidal C, Harichane Y, Kamoun-Goldrat A, Kellermann O, Kilts T, Young M. Differential effects of fibromodulin deficiency on mouse mandibular bones and teeth: A micro-ct time course study. *Cells, tissues, organs.* 2011;194:205-210
- Lui PP, Chan LS, Lee YW, Fu SC, Chan KM. Sustained expression of proteoglycans and collagen type iii/type i ratio in a calcified tendinopathy model. *Rheumatology*. 2010;49:231-239
- 392. Takashi M, Tsubaki S, Tsuzuki T, Duarte WR, Yamauchi M, Sato H. Differential gene expression of collagen-binding small leucine-rich proteoglycans and lysyl hydroxylases, during mineralization by mc3t3-e1 cells cultured on titanium implant material. *European journal of oral sciences.* 2005;113:225-231
- 393. Nikdin H, Olsson ML, Hultenby K, Sugars RV. Osteoadherin accumulates in the predentin towards the mineralization front in the developing tooth. *PLoS One*. 2012;7:e31525
- 394. Goldberg M, Septier D, Oldberg A, Young MF, Ameye LG. Fibromodulin-deficient mice display impaired collagen fibrillogenesis in predentin as well as altered dentin mineralization and enamel formation. *J Histochem Cytochem*. 2006;54:525-537
- 395. Markiewicz M, Asano Y, Znoyko S, Gong Y, Watson DK, Trojanowska M. Distinct effects of gonadectomy in male and female mice on collagen fibrillogenesis in the skin. *Journal of dermatological science*. 2007;47:217-226

- 396. Levens E, Luo X, Ding L, Williams RS, Chegini N. Fibromodulin is expressed in leiomyoma and myometrium and regulated by gonadotropin-releasing hormone analogue therapy and tgfbeta through smad and mapk-mediated signalling. *Molecular human reproduction*. 2005;11:489-494
- 397. Salgado RM, Favaro RR, Zorn TM. Modulation of small leucine-rich proteoglycans (slrps) expression in the mouse uterus by estradiol and progesterone. *Reproductive biology and endocrinology : RB&E.* 2011;9:22
- 398. Jian J, Zheng Z, Zhang K, Rackohn TM, Hsu C, Levin A, Enjamuri DR, Zhang X, Ting K, Soo C. Fibromodulin promoted in vitro and in vivo angiogenesis. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* 2013;436:530-535
- 399. Talusan P, Bedri S, Yang S, Kattapuram T, Silva N, Roughley PJ, Stone JR. Analysis of intimal proteoglycans in atherosclerosis-prone and atherosclerosis-resistant human arteries by mass spectrometry. *Mol Cell Proteomics*. 2005;4:1350-1357
- 400. Hildebrand A, Romaris M, Rasmussen LM, Heinegard D, Twardzik DR, Border WA, Ruoslahti E. Interaction of the small interstitial proteoglycans biglycan, decorin and fibromodulin with transforming growth factor beta. *The Biochemical journal*. 1994;302 (Pt 2):527-534
- 401. Hakkinen L, Westermarck J, Kahari VM, Larjava H. Human granulation-tissue fibroblasts show enhanced proteoglycan gene expression and altered response to tgf-beta 1. *Journal of dental research*. 1996;75:1767-1778
- 402. Baffi MO, Moran MA, Serra R. Tgfbr2 regulates the maintenance of boundaries in the axial skeleton. *Developmental biology*. 2006;296:363-374
- 403. Heathfield TF, Onnerfjord P, Dahlberg L, Heinegard D. Cleavage of fibromodulin in cartilage explants involves removal of the n-terminal tyrosine sulfate-rich region by proteolysis at a site that is sensitive to matrix metalloproteinase-13. *J Biol Chem.* 2004;279:6286-6295
- 404. Monfort J, Tardif G, Reboul P, Mineau F, Roughley P, Pelletier JP, Martel-Pelletier J. Degradation of small leucine-rich repeat proteoglycans by matrix metalloprotease-13: Identification of a new biglycan cleavage site. *Arthritis research & therapy*. 2006;8:R26
- Geng Y, McQuillan D, Roughley PJ. Slrp interaction can protect collagen fibrils from cleavage by collagenases. *Matrix Biol*. 2006;25:484-491
- 406. Zheng Z, Jian J, Zhang X, Zara JN, Yin W, Chiang M, Liu Y, Wang J, Pang S, Ting K, Soo C. Reprogramming of human fibroblasts into multipotent cells with a single ecm proteoglycan, fibromodulin. *Biomaterials*. 2012;33:5821-5831
- 407. Bi Y, Ehirchiou D, Kilts TM, Inkson CA, Embree MC, Sonoyama W, Li L, Leet AI, Seo BM, Zhang L, Shi S, Young MF. Identification of tendon stem/progenitor cells and the role of the extracellular matrix in their niche. *Nat Med.* 2007;13:1219-1227
- 408. Mormone E, Lu Y, Ge X, Fiel MI, Nieto N. Fibromodulin, an oxidative stress-sensitive proteoglycan, regulates the fibrogenic response to liver injury in mice. *Gastroenterology*. 2012;142:612-621 e615
- 409. Bevilacqua MA, Iovine B, Zambrano N, D'Ambrosio C, Scaloni A, Russo T, Cimino F. Fibromodulin gene transcription is induced by ultraviolet irradiation, and its regulation is impaired in senescent human fibroblasts. *J Biol Chem.* 2005;280:31809-31817
- 410. Iovine B, Nino M, Irace C, Bevilacqua MA, Monfrecola G. Ultraviolet b and a irradiation induces fibromodulin expression in human fibroblasts in vitro. *Biochimie*. 2009;91:364-372
- 411. Khorasani H, Zheng Z, Nguyen C, Zara J, Zhang X, Wang J, Ting K, Soo C. A quantitative approach to scar analysis. *Am J Pathol*. 2011;178:621-628

- 412. Honardoust D, Varkey M, Marcoux Y, Shankowsky HA, Tredget EE. Reduced decorin, fibromodulin, and transforming growth factor-beta3 in deep dermis leads to hypertrophic scarring. *J Burn Care Res*. 2012;33:218-227
- 413. Clark EA, Golub TR, Lander ES, Hynes RO. Genomic analysis of metastasis reveals an essential role for rhoc. *Nature*. 2000;406:532-535
- 414. Mikaelsson E, Danesh-Manesh AH, Luppert A, Jeddi-Tehrani M, Rezvany MR, Sharifian RA, Safaie R, Roohi A, Osterborg A, Shokri F, Mellstedt H, Rabbani H. Fibromodulin, an extracellular matrix protein: Characterization of its unique gene and protein expression in bcell chronic lymphocytic leukemia and mantle cell lymphoma. *Blood*. 2005;105:4828-4835
- 415. Mayr C, Bund D, Schlee M, Moosmann A, Kofler DM, Hallek M, Wendtner CM. Fibromodulin as a novel tumor-associated antigen (taa) in chronic lymphocytic leukemia (cll), which allows expansion of specific cd8+ autologous t lymphocytes. *Blood.* 2005;105:1566-1573
- 416. Choudhury A, Derkow K, Daneshmanesh AH, Mikaelsson E, Kiaii S, Kokhaei P, Osterborg A, Mellstedt H. Silencing of ror1 and fmod with sirna results in apoptosis of cll cells. *Br J Haematol*. 2010;151:327-335
- 417. Coulson-Thomas VJ, Coulson-Thomas YM, Gesteira TF, de Paula CA, Mader AM, Waisberg J, Pinhal MA, Friedl A, Toma L, Nader HB. Colorectal cancer desmoplastic reaction upregulates collagen synthesis and restricts cancer cell invasion. *Cell Tissue Res.* 2011;346:223-236
- 418. Oldberg A, Kalamajski S, Salnikov AV, Stuhr L, Morgelin M, Reed RK, Heldin NE, Rubin K. Collagen-binding proteoglycan fibromodulin can determine stroma matrix structure and fluid balance in experimental carcinoma. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2007;104:13966-13971
- 419. Cs-Szabo G, Melching LI, Roughley PJ, Glant TT. Changes in messenger rna and protein levels of proteoglycans and link protein in human osteoarthritic cartilage samples. *Arthritis Rheum.* 1997;40:1037-1045
- 420. Cs-Szabo G, Roughley PJ, Plaas AH, Glant TT. Large and small proteoglycans of osteoarthritic and rheumatoid articular cartilage. *Arthritis Rheum*. 1995;38:660-668
- 421. Venkatesan N, Ebihara T, Roughley PJ, Ludwig MS. Alterations in large and small proteoglycans in bleomycin-induced pulmonary fibrosis in rats. *American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine*. 2000;161:2066-2073
- 422. Faraonio R, Pane F, Intrieri M, Russo T, Cimino F. In vitro acquired cellular senescence and aging-specific phenotype can be distinguished on the basis of specific mrna expression. *Cell death and differentiation*. 2002;9:862-864
- 423. Ly DH, Lockhart DJ, Lerner RA, Schultz PG. Mitotic misregulation and human aging. *Science*. 2000;287:2486-2492
- 424. Sjoberg A, Onnerfjord P, Morgelin M, Heinegard D, Blom AM. The extracellular matrix and inflammation: Fibromodulin activates the classical pathway of complement by directly binding c1q. *J Biol Chem.* 2005;280:32301-32308
- 425. Sjoberg AP, Manderson GA, Morgelin M, Day AJ, Heinegard D, Blom AM. Short leucinerich glycoproteins of the extracellular matrix display diverse patterns of complement interaction and activation. *Molecular immunology*. 2009;46:830-839
- 426. Happonen KE, Sjoberg AP, Morgelin M, Heinegard D, Blom AM. Complement inhibitor c4bbinding protein interacts directly with small glycoproteins of the extracellular matrix. *Journal of immunology*. 2009;182:1518-1525
- 427. Majava M, Bishop PN, Hagg P, Scott PG, Rice A, Inglehearn C, Hammond CJ, Spector TD, Ala-Kokko L, Mannikko M. Novel mutations in the small leucine-rich repeat protein/proteoglycan (slrp) genes in high myopia. *Human mutation*. 2007;28:336-344

- 428. Chen S, Oldberg A, Chakravarti S, Birk DE. Fibromodulin regulates collagen fibrillogenesis during peripheral corneal development. *Dev Dyn.* 2010;239:844-854
- 429. Zubrzycka-Gaarn EE, Bulman DE, Karpati G, Burghes AH, Belfall B, Klamut HJ, Talbot J, Hodges RS, Ray PN, Worton RG. The duchenne muscular dystrophy gene product is localized in sarcolemma of human skeletal muscle. *Nature*. 1988;333:466-469
- 430. Arahata K, Ishiura S, Ishiguro T, Tsukahara T, Suhara Y, Eguchi C, Ishihara T, Nonaka I, Ozawa E, Sugita H. Immunostaining of skeletal and cardiac muscle surface membrane with antibody against duchenne muscular dystrophy peptide. *Nature*. 1988;333:861-863
- 431. Bonilla E, Samitt CE, Miranda AF, Hays AP, Salviati G, DiMauro S, Kunkel LM, Hoffman EP, Rowland LP. Duchenne muscular dystrophy: Deficiency of dystrophin at the muscle cell surface. *Cell*. 1988;54:447-452
- 432. Mokri B, Engel AG. Duchenne dystrophy: Electron microscopic findings pointing to a basic or early abnormality in the plasma membrane of the muscle fiber. *Neurology*. 1975;25:1111-1120
- 433. Menke A, Jockusch H. Decreased osmotic stability of dystrophin-less muscle cells from the mdx mouse. *Nature*. 1991;349:69-71
- 434. Weller B, Karpati G, Carpenter S. Dystrophin-deficient mdx muscle fibers are preferentially vulnerable to necrosis induced by experimental lengthening contractions. *Journal of the neurological sciences*. 1990;100:9-13
- 435. Carlson CG, Makiejus RV. A noninvasive procedure to detect muscle weakness in the mdx mouse. *Muscle & nerve.* 1990;13:480-484
- 436. Cox GA, Cole NM, Matsumura K, Phelps SF, Hauschka SD, Campbell KP, Faulkner JA, Chamberlain JS. Overexpression of dystrophin in transgenic mdx mice eliminates dystrophic symptoms without toxicity. *Nature*. 1993;364:725-729
- 437. Torres LF, Duchen LW. The mutant mdx: Inherited myopathy in the mouse. Morphological studies of nerves, muscles and end-plates. *Brain : a journal of neurology*. 1987;110 (Pt 2):269-299
- 438. Vilquin JT, Brussee V, Asselin I, Kinoshita I, Gingras M, Tremblay JP. Evidence of mdx mouse skeletal muscle fragility in vivo by eccentric running exercise. *Muscle & nerve*. 1998;21:567-576
- 439. Petrof BJ, Shrager JB, Stedman HH, Kelly AM, Sweeney HL. Dystrophin protects the sarcolemma from stresses developed during muscle contraction. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 1993;90:3710-3714
- 440. Mizuno Y. Prevention of myonecrosis in mdx mice: Effect of immobilization by the local tetanus method. *Brain & development*. 1992;14:319-322
- 441. Mokhtarian A, Lefaucheur JP, Even PC, Sebille A. Hindlimb immobilization applied to 21day-old mdx mice prevents the occurrence of muscle degeneration. *Journal of applied physiology*. 1999;86:924-931
- 442. Hoffman EP, Brown RH, Jr., Kunkel LM. Dystrophin: The protein product of the duchenne muscular dystrophy locus. *Cell*. 1987;51:919-928
- 443. Hoffman EP, Fischbeck KH, Brown RH, Johnson M, Medori R, Loike JD, Harris JB, Waterston R, Brooke M, Specht L, et al. Characterization of dystrophin in muscle-biopsy specimens from patients with duchenne's or becker's muscular dystrophy. N Engl J Med. 1988;318:1363-1368
- 444. Emery AE. Population frequencies of inherited neuromuscular diseases--a world survey. *Neuromuscular disorders : NMD*. 1991;1:19-29
- 445. Emery AE. The muscular dystrophies. Lancet. 2002;359:687-695

- 446. Monaco AP, Bertelson CJ, Liechti-Gallati S, Moser H, Kunkel LM. An explanation for the phenotypic differences between patients bearing partial deletions of the dmd locus. *Genomics*. 1988;2:90-95
- 447. England SB, Nicholson LV, Johnson MA, Forrest SM, Love DR, Zubrzycka-Gaarn EE, Bulman DE, Harris JB, Davies KE. Very mild muscular dystrophy associated with the deletion of 46% of dystrophin. *Nature*. 1990;343:180-182
- 448. Koenig M, Kunkel LM. Detailed analysis of the repeat domain of dystrophin reveals four potential hinge segments that may confer flexibility. *J Biol Chem.* 1990;265:4560-4566
- 449. Koenig M, Monaco AP, Kunkel LM. The complete sequence of dystrophin predicts a rodshaped cytoskeletal protein. *Cell*. 1988;53:219-228
- 450. Bork P, Sudol M. The ww domain: A signalling site in dystrophin? *Trends in biochemical sciences*. 1994;19:531-533
- 451. Ponting CP, Blake DJ, Davies KE, Kendrick-Jones J, Winder SJ. Zz and taz: New putative zinc fingers in dystrophin and other proteins. *Trends in biochemical sciences*. 1996;21:11-13
- 452. Ishikawa-Sakurai M, Yoshida M, Imamura M, Davies KE, Ozawa E. Zz domain is essentially required for the physiological binding of dystrophin and utrophin to beta-dystroglycan. *Human molecular genetics*. 2004;13:693-702
- 453. Rentschler S, Linn H, Deininger K, Bedford MT, Espanel X, Sudol M. The ww domain of dystrophin requires ef-hands region to interact with beta-dystroglycan. *Biological chemistry*. 1999;380:431-442
- 454. Ervasti JM, Campbell KP. Membrane organization of the dystrophin-glycoprotein complex. *Cell*. 1991;66:1121-1131
- 455. Koenig M, Hoffman EP, Bertelson CJ, Monaco AP, Feener C, Kunkel LM. Complete cloning of the duchenne muscular dystrophy (dmd) cdna and preliminary genomic organization of the dmd gene in normal and affected individuals. *Cell*. 1987;50:509-517
- Love DR, Bloomfield JF, Kenwrick SJ, Yates JR, Davies KE. Physical mapping distal to the dmd locus. *Genomics*. 1990;8:106-112
- 457. Howard PL, Dally GY, Wong MH, Ho A, Weleber RG, Pillers DA, Ray PN. Localization of dystrophin isoform dp71 to the inner limiting membrane of the retina suggests a unique functional contribution of dp71 in the retina. *Human molecular genetics*. 1998;7:1385-1391
- 458. D'Souza VN, Nguyen TM, Morris GE, Karges W, Pillers DA, Ray PN. A novel dystrophin isoform is required for normal retinal electrophysiology. *Human molecular genetics*. 1995;4:837-842
- 459. Byers TJ, Lidov HG, Kunkel LM. An alternative dystrophin transcript specific to peripheral nerve. *Nature genetics*. 1993;4:77-81
- 460. Lidov HG, Kunkel LM. Dp140: Alternatively spliced isoforms in brain and kidney. *Genomics*. 1997;45:132-139
- 461. Lederfein D, Levy Z, Augier N, Mornet D, Morris G, Fuchs O, Yaffe D, Nudel U. A 71kilodalton protein is a major product of the duchenne muscular dystrophy gene in brain and other nonmuscle tissues. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 1992;89:5346-5350
- 462. Lumeng CN, Phelps SF, Rafael JA, Cox GA, Hutchinson TL, Begy CR, Adkins E, Wiltshire R, Chamberlain JS. Characterization of dystrophin and utrophin diversity in the mouse. *Human molecular genetics*. 1999;8:593-599
- 463. Fabbrizio E, Nudel U, Hugon G, Robert A, Pons F, Mornet D. Characterization and localization of a 77 kda protein related to the dystrophin gene family. *The Biochemical journal*. 1994;299 (Pt 2):359-365

- 464. Bar S, Barnea E, Levy Z, Neuman S, Yaffe D, Nudel U. A novel product of the duchenne muscular dystrophy gene which greatly differs from the known isoforms in its structure and tissue distribution. *The Biochemical journal*. 1990;272:557-560
- 465. Love DR, Hill DF, Dickson G, Spurr NK, Byth BC, Marsden RF, Walsh FS, Edwards YH, Davies KE. An autosomal transcript in skeletal muscle with homology to dystrophin. *Nature*. 1989;339:55-58
- 466. Pearce M, Blake DJ, Tinsley JM, Byth BC, Campbell L, Monaco AP, Davies KE. The utrophin and dystrophin genes share similarities in genomic structure. *Human molecular genetics*. 1993;2:1765-1772
- 467. Tinsley JM, Blake DJ, Roche A, Fairbrother U, Riss J, Byth BC, Knight AE, Kendrick-Jones J, Suthers GK, Love DR, et al. Primary structure of dystrophin-related protein. *Nature*. 1992;360:591-593
- 468. Blake DJ, Weir A, Newey SE, Davies KE. Function and genetics of dystrophin and dystrophin-related proteins in muscle. *Physiological reviews*. 2002;82:291-329
- 469. Rivier F, Robert A, Hugon G, Mornet D. Different utrophin and dystrophin properties related to their vascular smooth muscle distributions. *FEBS letters*. 1997;408:94-98
- 470. Matsumura K, Shasby DM, Campbell KP. Purification of dystrophin-related protein (utrophin) from lung and its identification in pulmonary artery endothelial cells. *FEBS letters*. 1993;326:289-293
- 471. Kamakura K, Tadano Y, Kawai M, Ishiura S, Nakamura R, Miyamoto K, Nagata N, Sugita H. Dystrophin-related protein is found in the central nervous system of mice at various developmental stages, especially at the postsynaptic membrane. *Journal of neuroscience research*. 1994;37:728-734
- 472. Earnest JP, Santos GF, Zuerbig S, Fox JE. Dystrophin-related protein in the platelet membrane skeleton. Integrin-induced change in detergent-insolubility and cleavage by calpain in aggregating platelets. *J Biol Chem.* 1995;270:27259-27265
- 473. Amann KJ, Guo AW, Ervasti JM. Utrophin lacks the rod domain actin binding activity of dystrophin. *J Biol Chem.* 1999;274:35375-35380
- 474. Rybakova IN, Humston JL, Sonnemann KJ, Ervasti JM. Dystrophin and utrophin bind actin through distinct modes of contact. *J Biol Chem.* 2006;281:9996-10001
- 475. Rybakova IN, Patel JR, Davies KE, Yurchenco PD, Ervasti JM. Utrophin binds laterally along actin filaments and can couple costameric actin with sarcolemma when overexpressed in dystrophin-deficient muscle. *Molecular biology of the cell*. 2002;13:1512-1521
- 476. Ervasti JM, Ohlendieck K, Kahl SD, Gaver MG, Campbell KP. Deficiency of a glycoprotein component of the dystrophin complex in dystrophic muscle. *Nature*. 1990;345:315-319
- 477. Campbell KP, Kahl SD. Association of dystrophin and an integral membrane glycoprotein. *Nature*. 1989;338:259-262
- Yoshida M, Ozawa E. Glycoprotein complex anchoring dystrophin to sarcolemma. *Journal of biochemistry*. 1990;108:748-752
- 479. Wagner KR, Cohen JB, Huganir RL. The 87k postsynaptic membrane protein from torpedo is a protein-tyrosine kinase substrate homologous to dystrophin. *Neuron*. 1993;10:511-522
- 480. Ervasti JM, Campbell KP. A role for the dystrophin-glycoprotein complex as a transmembrane linker between laminin and actin. *J Cell Biol*. 1993;122:809-823
- 481. Ibraghimov-Beskrovnaya O, Ervasti JM, Leveille CJ, Slaughter CA, Sernett SW, Campbell KP. Primary structure of dystrophin-associated glycoproteins linking dystrophin to the extracellular matrix. *Nature*. 1992;355:696-702

- 482. Song KS, Scherer PE, Tang Z, Okamoto T, Li S, Chafel M, Chu C, Kohtz DS, Lisanti MP. Expression of caveolin-3 in skeletal, cardiac, and smooth muscle cells. Caveolin-3 is a component of the sarcolemma and co-fractionates with dystrophin and dystrophin-associated glycoproteins. *J Biol Chem.* 1996;271:15160-15165
- 483. Suzuki A, Yoshida M, Yamamoto H, Ozawa E. Glycoprotein-binding site of dystrophin is confined to the cysteine-rich domain and the first half of the carboxy-terminal domain. *FEBS letters*. 1992;308:154-160
- 484. Durbeej M, Henry MD, Campbell KP. Dystroglycan in development and disease. *Current opinion in cell biology*. 1998;10:594-601
- 485. Williamson RA, Henry MD, Daniels KJ, Hrstka RF, Lee JC, Sunada Y, Ibraghimov-Beskrovnaya O, Campbell KP. Dystroglycan is essential for early embryonic development: Disruption of reichert's membrane in dag1-null mice. *Human molecular genetics*. 1997;6:831-841
- 486. Durbeej M, Henry MD, Ferletta M, Campbell KP, Ekblom P. Distribution of dystroglycan in normal adult mouse tissues. *J Histochem Cytochem*. 1998;46:449-457
- 487. Roberds SL, Anderson RD, Ibraghimov-Beskrovnaya O, Campbell KP. Primary structure and muscle-specific expression of the 50-kda dystrophin-associated glycoprotein (adhalin). *J Biol Chem.* 1993;268:23739-23742
- 488. Lim LE, Duclos F, Broux O, Bourg N, Sunada Y, Allamand V, Meyer J, Richard I, Moomaw C, Slaughter C, et al. Beta-sarcoglycan: Characterization and role in limb-girdle muscular dystrophy linked to 4q12. *Nature genetics*. 1995;11:257-265
- 489. McNally EM, Duggan D, Gorospe JR, Bonnemann CG, Fanin M, Pegoraro E, Lidov HG, Noguchi S, Ozawa E, Finkel RS, Cruse RP, Angelini C, Kunkel LM, Hoffman EP. Mutations that disrupt the carboxyl-terminus of gamma-sarcoglycan cause muscular dystrophy. *Human* molecular genetics. 1996;5:1841-1847
- 490. Nigro V, Piluso G, Belsito A, Politano L, Puca AA, Papparella S, Rossi E, Viglietto G, Esposito MG, Abbondanza C, Medici N, Molinari AM, Nigro G, Puca GA. Identification of a novel sarcoglycan gene at 5q33 encoding a sarcolemmal 35 kda glycoprotein. *Human molecular genetics*. 1996;5:1179-1186
- 491. Crosbie RH, Heighway J, Venzke DP, Lee JC, Campbell KP. Sarcospan, the 25-kda transmembrane component of the dystrophin-glycoprotein complex. *J Biol Chem*. 1997;272:31221-31224
- 492. Adams ME, Butler MH, Dwyer TM, Peters MF, Murnane AA, Froehner SC. Two forms of mouse syntrophin, a 58 kd dystrophin-associated protein, differ in primary structure and tissue distribution. *Neuron*. 1993;11:531-540
- Albrecht DE, Froehner SC. Syntrophins and dystrobrevins: Defining the dystrophin scaffold at synapses. *Neuro-Signals*. 2002;11:123-129
- 494. Yoshida M, Hama H, Ishikawa-Sakurai M, Imamura M, Mizuno Y, Araishi K, Wakabayashi-Takai E, Noguchi S, Sasaoka T, Ozawa E. Biochemical evidence for association of dystrobrevin with the sarcoglycan-sarcospan complex as a basis for understanding sarcoglycanopathy. *Human molecular genetics*. 2000;9:1033-1040
- 495. Michele DE, Campbell KP. Dystrophin-glycoprotein complex: Post-translational processing and dystroglycan function. *J Biol Chem.* 2003;278:15457-15460
- 496. Barresi R, Campbell KP. Dystroglycan: From biosynthesis to pathogenesis of human disease. J Cell Sci. 2006;119:199-207
- 497. Mizuno Y, Thompson TG, Guyon JR, Lidov HG, Brosius M, Imamura M, Ozawa E, Watkins SC, Kunkel LM. Desmuslin, an intermediate filament protein that interacts with alpha dystrobrevin and desmin. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2001;98:6156-6161

- 498. Newey SE, Howman EV, Ponting CP, Benson MA, Nawrotzki R, Loh NY, Davies KE, Blake DJ. Syncoilin, a novel member of the intermediate filament superfamily that interacts with alpha-dystrobrevin in skeletal muscle. *J Biol Chem.* 2001;276:6645-6655
- 499. Poon E, Howman EV, Newey SE, Davies KE. Association of syncoilin and desmin: Linking intermediate filament proteins to the dystrophin-associated protein complex. *J Biol Chem.* 2002;277:3433-3439
- Benson MA, Tinsley CL, Blake DJ. Myospryn is a novel binding partner for dysbindin in muscle. J Biol Chem. 2004;279:10450-10458
- 501. Thompson TG, Chan YM, Hack AA, Brosius M, Rajala M, Lidov HG, McNally EM, Watkins S, Kunkel LM. Filamin 2 (fln2): A muscle-specific sarcoglycan interacting protein. *J Cell Biol*. 2000;148:115-126
- 502. Ursitti JA, Lee PC, Resneck WG, McNally MM, Bowman AL, O'Neill A, Stone MR, Bloch RJ. Cloning and characterization of cytokeratins 8 and 19 in adult rat striated muscle. Interaction with the dystrophin glycoprotein complex. *J Biol Chem.* 2004;279:41830-41838
- Matsumura K, Ervasti JM, Ohlendieck K, Kahl SD, Campbell KP. Association of dystrophinrelated protein with dystrophin-associated proteins in mdx mouse muscle. *Nature*. 1992;360:588-591
- 504. Ramirez-Sanchez I, Ceballos-Reyes G, Rosas-Vargas H, Cerecedo-Mercado D, Zentella-Dehesa A, Salamanca F, Coral-Vazquez RM. Expression and function of utrophin associated protein complex in stretched endothelial cells: Dissociation and activation of enos. *Front Biosci.* 2007;12:1956-1962
- 505. Palma-Flores C, Ramirez-Sanchez I, Rosas-Vargas H, Canto P, Coral-Vazquez RM. Description of a utrophin associated protein complex in lipid raft domains of human artery smooth muscle cells. *Biochimica et biophysica acta*. 2013
- 506. Sharma P, Ghavami S, Stelmack GL, McNeill KD, Mutawe MM, Klonisch T, Unruh H, Halayko AJ. Beta-dystroglycan binds caveolin-1 in smooth muscle: A functional role in caveolae distribution and ca2+ release. *J Cell Sci.* 2010;123:3061-3070
- Cote PD, Moukhles H, Lindenbaum M, Carbonetto S. Chimaeric mice deficient in dystroglycans develop muscular dystrophy and have disrupted myoneural synapses. *Nature* genetics. 1999;23:338-342
- 508. Cohn RD, Henry MD, Michele DE, Barresi R, Saito F, Moore SA, Flanagan JD, Skwarchuk MW, Robbins ME, Mendell JR, Williamson RA, Campbell KP. Disruption of dag1 in differentiated skeletal muscle reveals a role for dystroglycan in muscle regeneration. *Cell*. 2002;110:639-648
- 509. Ozawa E, Mizuno Y, Hagiwara Y, Sasaoka T, Yoshida M. Molecular and cell biology of the sarcoglycan complex. *Muscle & nerve*. 2005;32:563-576
- 510. Grady RM, Grange RW, Lau KS, Maimone MM, Nichol MC, Stull JT, Sanes JR. Role for alpha-dystrobrevin in the pathogenesis of dystrophin-dependent muscular dystrophies. *Nature cell biology*. 1999;1:215-220
- 511. Kameya S, Miyagoe Y, Nonaka I, Ikemoto T, Endo M, Hanaoka K, Nabeshima Y, Takeda S. Alpha1-syntrophin gene disruption results in the absence of neuronal-type nitric-oxide synthase at the sarcolemma but does not induce muscle degeneration. *J Biol Chem*. 1999;274:2193-2200
- 512. Adams ME, Kramarcy N, Fukuda T, Engel AG, Sealock R, Froehner SC. Structural abnormalities at neuromuscular synapses lacking multiple syntrophin isoforms. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience*. 2004;24:10302-10309

- 513. Lebakken CS, Venzke DP, Hrstka RF, Consolino CM, Faulkner JA, Williamson RA, Campbell KP. Sarcospan-deficient mice maintain normal muscle function. *Molecular and cellular biology*. 2000;20:1669-1677
- 514. Bulfield G, Siller WG, Wight PA, Moore KJ. X chromosome-linked muscular dystrophy (mdx) in the mouse. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 1984;81:1189-1192
- 515. Ryder-Cook AS, Sicinski P, Thomas K, Davies KE, Worton RG, Barnard EA, Darlison MG, Barnard PJ. Localization of the mdx mutation within the mouse dystrophin gene. *EMBO J*. 1988;7:3017-3021
- 516. Sicinski P, Geng Y, Ryder-Cook AS, Barnard EA, Darlison MG, Barnard PJ. The molecular basis of muscular dystrophy in the mdx mouse: A point mutation. *Science*. 1989;244:1578-1580
- 517. Cox GA, Phelps SF, Chapman VM, Chamberlain JS. New mdx mutation disrupts expression of muscle and nonmuscle isoforms of dystrophin. *Nature genetics*. 1993;4:87-93
- 518. Stedman HH, Sweeney HL, Shrager JB, Maguire HC, Panettieri RA, Petrof B, Narusawa M, Leferovich JM, Sladky JT, Kelly AM. The mdx mouse diaphragm reproduces the degenerative changes of duchenne muscular dystrophy. *Nature*. 1991;352:536-539
- 519. Dangain J, Vrbova G. Muscle development in mdx mutant mice. *Muscle & nerve*. 1984;7:700-704
- 520. Deconinck AE, Rafael JA, Skinner JA, Brown SC, Potter AC, Metzinger L, Watt DJ, Dickson JG, Tinsley JM, Davies KE. Utrophin-dystrophin-deficient mice as a model for duchenne muscular dystrophy. *Cell*. 1997;90:717-727
- 521. Grady RM, Teng H, Nichol MC, Cunningham JC, Wilkinson RS, Sanes JR. Skeletal and cardiac myopathies in mice lacking utrophin and dystrophin: A model for duchenne muscular dystrophy. *Cell*. 1997;90:729-738
- 522. Ohlendieck K, Campbell KP. Dystrophin-associated proteins are greatly reduced in skeletal muscle from mdx mice. *J Cell Biol*. 1991;115:1685-1694
- 523. Hanft LM, Rybakova IN, Patel JR, Rafael-Fortney JA, Ervasti JM. Cytoplasmic gamma-actin contributes to a compensatory remodeling response in dystrophin-deficient muscle. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2006;103:5385-5390
- 524. Vachon PH, Xu H, Liu L, Loechel F, Hayashi Y, Arahata K, Reed JC, Wewer UM, Engvall E. Integrins (alpha7beta1) in muscle function and survival. Disrupted expression in merosindeficient congenital muscular dystrophy. *J Clin Invest*. 1997;100:1870-1881
- 525. Hodges BL, Hayashi YK, Nonaka I, Wang W, Arahata K, Kaufman SJ. Altered expression of the alpha7beta1 integrin in human and murine muscular dystrophies. *J Cell Sci*. 1997;110 (Pt 22):2873-2881
- 526. Rybakova IN, Patel JR, Ervasti JM. The dystrophin complex forms a mechanically strong link between the sarcolemma and costameric actin. *J Cell Biol*. 2000;150:1209-1214
- 527. Harricane MC, Fabbrizio E, Lees D, Prades C, Travo P, Mornet D. Dystrophin does not influence regular cytoskeletal architecture but is required for contractile performance in smooth muscle aortic cells. *Cell biology international*. 1994;18:947-958
- 528. Tinsley J, Deconinck N, Fisher R, Kahn D, Phelps S, Gillis JM, Davies K. Expression of fulllength utrophin prevents muscular dystrophy in mdx mice. *Nat Med.* 1998;4:1441-1444
- 529. Burkin DJ, Wallace GQ, Nicol KJ, Kaufman DJ, Kaufman SJ. Enhanced expression of the alpha 7 beta 1 integrin reduces muscular dystrophy and restores viability in dystrophic mice. *J Cell Biol.* 2001;152:1207-1218

- 530. Miyatake M, Miike T, Zhao J, Yoshioka K, Uchino M, Usuku G. Possible systemic smooth muscle layer dysfunction due to a deficiency of dystrophin in duchenne muscular dystrophy. *Journal of the neurological sciences*. 1989;93:11-17
- 531. Hoffman EP, Hudecki MS, Rosenberg PA, Pollina CM, Kunkel LM. Cell and fiber-type distribution of dystrophin. *Neuron*. 1988;1:411-420
- 532. Ito K, Kimura S, Ozasa S, Matsukura M, Ikezawa M, Yoshioka K, Ueno H, Suzuki M, Araki K, Yamamura K, Miwa T, Dickson G, Thomas GD, Miike T. Smooth muscle-specific dystrophin expression improves aberrant vasoregulation in mdx mice. *Human molecular genetics*. 2006;15:2266-2275
- 533. Loufrani L, Matrougui K, Gorny D, Duriez M, Blanc I, Levy BI, Henrion D. Flow (shear stress)-induced endothelium-dependent dilation is altered in mice lacking the gene encoding for dystrophin. *Circulation*. 2001;103:864-870
- 534. Barresi R, Moore SA, Stolle CA, Mendell JR, Campbell KP. Expression of gamma sarcoglycan in smooth muscle and its interaction with the smooth muscle sarcoglycansarcospan complex. *J Biol Chem.* 2000;275:38554-38560
- 535. Straub V, Ettinger AJ, Durbeej M, Venzke DP, Cutshall S, Sanes JR, Campbell KP. Epsilonsarcoglycan replaces alpha-sarcoglycan in smooth muscle to form a unique dystrophinglycoprotein complex. *J Biol Chem.* 1999;274:27989-27996
- 536. Dye WW, Gleason RL, Wilson E, Humphrey JD. Altered biomechanical properties of carotid arteries in two mouse models of muscular dystrophy. *Journal of applied physiology*. 2007;103:664-672
- 537. Tronc F, Wassef M, Esposito B, Henrion D, Glagov S, Tedgui A. Role of no in flow-induced remodeling of the rabbit common carotid artery. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 1996;16:1256-1262
- 538. Loufrani L, Levy BI, Henrion D. Defect in microvascular adaptation to chronic changes in blood flow in mice lacking the gene encoding for dystrophin. *Circ Res.* 2002;91:1183-1189
- 539. Hultgardh-Nilsson A, Lovdahl C, Blomgren K, Kallin B, Thyberg J. Expression of phenotypeand proliferation-related genes in rat aortic smooth muscle cells in primary culture. *Cardiovasc Res.* 1997;34:418-430
- 540. Pinnell SR. Regulation of collagen biosynthesis by ascorbic acid: A review. *The Yale journal* of biology and medicine. 1985;58:553-559
- 541. Peterkofsky B. Ascorbate requirement for hydroxylation and secretion of procollagen: Relationship to inhibition of collagen synthesis in scurvy. *The American journal of clinical nutrition*. 1991;54:1135S-1140S
- 542. Strom A, Fredrikson GN, Schiopu A, Ljungcrantz I, Soderberg I, Jansson B, Carlsson R, Hultgardh-Nilsson A, Nilsson J. Inhibition of injury-induced arterial remodelling and carotid atherosclerosis by recombinant human antibodies against aldehyde-modified apob-100. *Atherosclerosis*. 2007;190:298-305
- 543. Chyu KY, Dimayuga P, Zhu J, Nilsson J, Kaul S, Shah PK, Cercek B. Decreased neointimal thickening after arterial wall injury in inducible nitric oxide synthase knockout mice. *Circ Res.* 1999;85:1192-1198
- 544. Saxena A, Bjorkbacka H, Strom A, Rattik S, Berg KE, Gomez MF, Fredrikson GN, Nilsson J, Hultgardh-Nilsson A. Mobilization of regulatory t cells in response to carotid injury does not influence subsequent neointima formation. *PLoS One*. 2012;7:e51556
- 545. Dimayuga P, Cercek B, Oguchi S, Fredrikson GN, Yano J, Shah PK, Jovinge S, Nilsson J. Inhibitory effect on arterial injury-induced neointimal formation by adoptive b-cell transfer in rag-1 knockout mice. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2002;22:644-649

- 546. Strom A, Wigren M, Hultgardh-Nilsson A, Saxena A, Gomez MF, Cardell S, Fredrikson GN, Nilsson J. Involvement of the cd1d-natural killer t cell pathway in neointima formation after vascular injury. *Circ Res.* 2007;101:e83-89
- 547. Cheng C, Tempel D, van Haperen R, van der Baan A, Grosveld F, Daemen MJ, Krams R, de Crom R. Atherosclerotic lesion size and vulnerability are determined by patterns of fluid shear stress. *Circulation*. 2006;113:2744-2753
- 548. Cunningham KS, Gotlieb AI. The role of shear stress in the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis. *Lab Invest.* 2005;85:9-23
- 549. Pedersen EM, Oyre S, Agerbaek M, Kristensen IB, Ringgaard S, Boesiger P, Paaske WP. Distribution of early atherosclerotic lesions in the human abdominal aorta correlates with wall shear stresses measured in vivo. *European journal of vascular and endovascular surgery : the official journal of the European Society for Vascular Surgery*. 1999;18:328-333
- 550. Hansen F, Bergqvist D, Lindblad B, Lindh M, Matzsch T, Lanne T. Accuracy of duplex sonography before carotid endarterectomy--a comparison with angiography. *European journal of vascular and endovascular surgery : the official journal of the European Society for Vascular Surgery*. 1996;12:331-336
- 551. Randomised trial of endarterectomy for recently symptomatic carotid stenosis: Final results of the mrc european carotid surgery trial (ecst). *Lancet*. 1998;351:1379-1387
- 552. Ludvigsson JF, Andersson E, Ekbom A, Feychting M, Kim JL, Reuterwall C, Heurgren M, Olausson PO. External review and validation of the swedish national inpatient register. *BMC public health*. 2011;11:450
- 553. Goncalves I, Moses J, Dias N, Pedro LM, Fernandes e Fernandes J, Nilsson J, Ares MP. Changes related to age and cerebrovascular symptoms in the extracellular matrix of human carotid plaques. *Stroke*. 2003;34:616-622
- 554. Lucero HA, Kagan HM. Lysyl oxidase: An oxidative enzyme and effector of cell function. *Cell Mol Life Sci.* 2006;63:2304-2316
- 555. Engelholm LH, Ingvarsen S, Jurgensen HJ, Hillig T, Madsen DH, Nielsen BS, Behrendt N. The collagen receptor uparap/endo180. *Front Biosci.* 2009;14:2103-2114
- 556. Tong M, Tuk B, Shang P, Hekking IM, Fijneman EM, Guijt M, Hovius SE, van Neck JW. Diabetes-impaired wound healing is improved by matrix therapy with heparan sulfate glycosaminoglycan mimetic otr4120 in rats. *Diabetes*. 2012;61:2633-2641
- 557. Eguchi M, Xu G, Li RK, Sweeney G. Diabetes influences cardiac extracellular matrix remodelling after myocardial infarction and subsequent development of cardiac dysfunction. *J Cell Mol Med.* 2012;16:2925-2934
- 558. McDonald TO, Gerrity RG, Jen C, Chen HJ, Wark K, Wight TN, Chait A, O'Brien KD. Diabetes and arterial extracellular matrix changes in a porcine model of atherosclerosis. *J Histochem Cytochem.* 2007;55:1149-1157
- 559. Hassan GS, Jasmin JF, Schubert W, Frank PG, Lisanti MP. Caveolin-1 deficiency stimulates neointima formation during vascular injury. *Biochemistry*. 2004;43:8312-8321
- 560. Engel D, Beckers L, Wijnands E, Seijkens T, Lievens D, Drechsler M, Gerdes N, Soehnlein O, Daemen MJ, Stan RV, Biessen EA, Lutgens E. Caveolin-1 deficiency decreases atherosclerosis by hampering leukocyte influx into the arterial wall and generating a regulatory t-cell response. *FASEB J*. 2011;25:3838-3848
- 561. Frank PG, Lee H, Park DS, Tandon NN, Scherer PE, Lisanti MP. Genetic ablation of caveolin-1 confers protection against atherosclerosis. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol*. 2004;24:98-105
- 562. Okamoto T, Schlegel A, Scherer PE, Lisanti MP. Caveolins, a family of scaffolding proteins for organizing "preassembled signaling complexes" at the plasma membrane. *J Biol Chem*. 1998;273:5419-5422

- 563. Razani B, Woodman SE, Lisanti MP. Caveolae: From cell biology to animal physiology. *Pharmacological reviews*. 2002;54:431-467
- 564. Sun SW, Zu XY, Tuo QH, Chen LX, Lei XY, Li K, Tang CK, Liao DF. Caveolae and caveolin-1 mediate endocytosis and transcytosis of oxidized low density lipoprotein in endothelial cells. *Acta pharmacologica Sinica*. 2010;31:1336-1342
- 565. North AJ, Galazkiewicz B, Byers TJ, Glenney JR, Jr., Small JV. Complementary distributions of vinculin and dystrophin define two distinct sarcolemma domains in smooth muscle. J Cell Biol. 1993;120:1159-1167